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PART I
This Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements. These statements relate to our expectations for future events and future financial
performance. Generally, the words “anticipates,” “expects,” “intends,” “may,” “should,” “plans,” “believes,” “predicts,” “potential,”
“continue” and similar expressions identify forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements involve risks and uncertainties, and
future events and circumstances could differ significantly from those anticipated in the forward-looking statements. These statements are only
predictions. Actual events or results may differ materially. Factors which could affect our financial results are described in Item 1A below
and in Item 7 of Part II of this Form 10-K. Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements, which
speak only as of the date hereof. Although we believe that the expectations reflected in the forward-looking statements are reasonable, we
cannot guarantee future results, levels of activity, performance or achievements. Moreover, neither we nor any other person assume
responsibility for the accuracy and completeness of the forward-looking statements. We undertake no duty to update any of the forwardlooking statements after the date of this report to conform such statements to actual results or to changes in our expectations.
ITEM 1. BUSINESS.
Overview
Fusion Telecommunications International, Inc., either directly or through its various subsidiaries (collectively, “Fusion”, “we”, “us”, “our”, or
the “Company”), offers a comprehensive suite of cloud communications, cloud connectivity, cloud infrastructure, cloud computing, and
managed cloud-based applications solutions to small, medium and large businesses, and offers domestic and international voice services
to carriers worldwide. Our advanced, proprietary cloud services platforms, as well as our state-of-the art switching systems, enable the
integration of leading edge solutions in the cloud, increasing customer collaboration and productivity by seamlessly connecting employees,
partners, customers and vendors. We currently operate our business in two distinct business segments: Business Services and Carrier
Services.
In the Business Services segment, Fusion is focused on becoming our business customers’ single source for leveraging the increasing power
of the cloud, providing a robust package of what we believe to be the essential services that form the foundation for their successful migration
to, and efficient use of, the cloud. Our core Business Services products and services include cloud voice and unified communications as a
service (UCaaS), improving communications and collaboration on virtually any device, virtually anywhere, and cloud connectivity services,
securely and reliably connecting customers to the cloud with managed network solutions that are designed to increase quality and optimize
network efficiency. Our cloud computing and infrastructure as a service (“IaaS”) solutions are designed to provide our business customers
with a platform on which additional cloud services can be layered. Complemented by software as a service (“SaaS”) solutions such as security
and business continuity, our advanced cloud offerings including private and hybrid cloud, storage, backup and recovery, and secure file
sharing allow our customers to experience the increased efficiencies and agility delivered by the cloud. Fusion’s cloud-based services are
flexible, scalable and rapidly deployed, reducing our customers’ cost of ownership while increasing their productivity.
Through our Carrier Services segment, Fusion has agreements with 369 carrier customers and vendors, and sells its voice services to other
communications service providers throughout the world. Customers include U.S.-based carriers sending voice traffic to international
destinations, and foreign carriers sending voice traffic to the U.S. and internationally. We also purchase domestic and international voice
services from many of our Carrier Services customers. Our carrier-grade network, advanced switching platform and interconnections with
global carriers on six continents also reduce the cost of global voice traffic, thereby increasing profitability and expanding service delivery
capabilities for our Business Services segment.
As a result of the acquisition of five cloud services business during the past three years, Fusion has gone through a significant transformation
and has expanded its business customer base to over 12,000, increased its distribution network to over 500 active distribution partners and
added a significant number of network facilities and points of presence expanding its geographic reach.
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Through these acquisitions, we acquired advanced systems and infrastructure and augmented our management team and employee base with
talented, experienced, well-trained professionals, while continuing to provide a strong platform for further acquisitions.
Fusion is seeking to capitalize on the rapid growth of the worldwide cloud services market, which Gartner in January 2016 projected to grow
16.6% in 2016 to $204 billion, up from $175 billion in 2015. We are pursuing a three-tiered growth strategy: developing specialized solutions
for key vertical markets (such as legal and healthcare), targeting cloud services companies for acquisition, and accelerating organic growth.
Our continuing effort to deliver advanced cloud solutions to larger companies with more complex requirements is supported by our
proprietary cloud solutions platform that allows us to rapidly respond to large enterprise needs for customized or enhanced solutions. We also
intend to continue to develop vertically oriented solutions to expand our revenue opportunities and further differentiate our service suite, with
current efforts directed primarily to healthcare, legal, hospitality and real estate. We intend to acquire additional cloud services companies
that can further expand our customer base, allow us to introduce additional cloud products and services, and gain scale. Our strategy to
organically grow our Business Services revenue includes securing large strategic distribution partners, increasing our direct as well as
indirect channel sales efforts, upselling solutions to our existing customer base and leveraging our management, Board of Directors and
shareholder relationship network.
Fusion’s management team has long term experience in the technology, services and communications industry, with demonstrated leadership
in middle market, entrepreneurial, small company, distressed and M&A environments. We believe that our executive team has the experience
and expertise to drive high value opportunities to the Company and execute on our acquisition and organic growth strategies.
Fusion Telecommunications International, Inc. was incorporated in Delaware, commenced operations in 1997 and completed its initial public
offering in February 2005. We currently have offices in New York, NY, Wayne, NJ, Fort Lauderdale, FL, Atlanta, GA, Herndon, VA, and
Beachwood, OH.
Acquisitions
The cloud services marketplace is highly fragmented, with most providers challenged by a limited product portfolio, a lack of financial and
operational resources, and a regional focus. Fusion believes this market segment offers strong opportunities for consolidation. We believe that
the cross-marketing opportunities and economies of scale made possible by consolidation make such acquisitions an attractive vehicle to
enhance our growth profile.
Fusion integrates the businesses we acquire and organizes the employees under one management team. Products and services and processes
and procedures are rapidly integrated as well, while sales and support staff and distribution partners are trained and ready to cross and up-sell
our solutions to the existing customer base. We believe that our integration strategy, in combination with our increasing expertise and our
scalable, robust systems and infrastructure, will enable us to efficiently integrate additional acquisitions in the future.
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Since 2012, we have made the following acquisitions:
NBS
In October 2012, we completed our acquisition of Network Billing Systems, LLC, headquartered in Wayne, N.J., and certain assets and
liabilities of its affiliate, Interconnect Services Group II LLC (collectively, “NBS”), a cloud services provider delivering cloud voice and
unified communications, cloud connectivity and managed network services to small, medium and large businesses nationwide.
Broadvox Cloud Services Business
In December 2013, Fusion completed its acquisition of certain assets of Broadvox LLC’s cloud services business, which delivers cloud-based
voice, unified communications and cloud connectivity services to small, medium and large businesses.
PingTone
In October 2014, we completed our acquisition of PingTone Communications, Inc. (“PingTone”), a provider of integrated cloud-based
communications services headquartered in Herndon, VA. This acquisition added a loyal and growing enterprise customer base and positioned
Fusion to stimulate organic growth by augmenting the Company’s management team, adding a direct sales force, and providing significant
cross-sale and up-sale opportunities.
RootAxcess
In September 2015, the Company acquired the customer base, technology platform, infrastructure and other assets of Chicago-based
RootAxcess. RootAxcess delivers a broad range of cloud solutions, including IaaS, cloud computing, cloud storage, cloud hosting, virtual data
center, backup and recovery, and virtual servers, using both private and hybrid cloud infrastructure.
Fidelity
In December 2015, we acquired Fidelity Access Networks, Inc. and its various subsidiaries and in February 2016 we completed the acquisition
of Fidelity Telecom, LLC, an affiliate of Fidelity Access Networks, Inc. (collectively, "Fidelity"). Fidelity provides cloud voice, cloud
connectivity, security, data center and cloud storage services to small, medium, and large business customers primarily in the Midwest.
Business Services
Our cloud-based services are designed to meet the communications, network and computing requirements of growing businesses, while
maximizing the price-performance ratio. We believe that giving our customers access to the cloud provides a more cost-effective, reliable and
secure communications and IT experience, and relieves them of the capital and support burdens associated with more traditional
services. Additionally, customers can reduce costs while adding features and functionality and improving productivity across the
enterprise. Fusion is increasingly focused on providing specialized, market-based solutions to targeted verticals and larger enterprises,
matching our advanced solutions to key industry-specific customer requirements.
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Fusion currently has over 12,000 business customer accounts. We offer a suite of advanced cloud-based services, including cloud
communications, which encompasses cloud voice and unified communications, and cloud connectivity that provides diverse and redundant
access to the cloud. The Company’s managed network services converge voice and data applications, which include Internet access, Ethernet
over Copper transmission facilities, and Multi-Protocol Level Switching (“MPLS”) services at speeds ranging from 1.5 Mbps to 100 Gbps.
Our cloud computing solutions include private and hybrid cloud, storage, backup and recovery, and secure file sharing. Security and business
continuity are offered in every solution.
Fusion’s services are designed to provide significant benefits to businesses of all sizes, with single or multiple locations. The integration of
cloud solutions on our advanced services platforms allow customers to seamlessly connect people with the information they need to
collaborate effectively, regardless of the device they use.
Our cloud solutions are also designed to minimize upfront capital costs, increase the scalability and flexibility of the customer’s
communications network and service environment, provide robust features and functionality to increase productivity, and reduce the overall
cost of communications.
Our proprietary cloud communications service platform allows us to rapidly respond to market requirements for new or enhanced products and
services, as well as customize customer solutions as required for maximum flexibility, avoiding costly licensing fees and increasing our
control over the service environment. Fusion’s growing suite of business services includes:
Cloud Voice
Fusion’s cloud voice service allows a customer to replace its premise-based office telephone system that it owns or leases with a state-of-theart digital telephone system that is provided by Fusion in the cloud. This feature-rich solution eliminates the need to own and operate a costly,
complex telephone system, reduces upfront capital costs, and eliminates the cost of calls between customer locations. The service provides
efficiencies for companies with multiple offices or a highly mobile workforce, and for companies that are opening a new office or need to
expand or replace existing legacy telephone systems. All business service options can be configured by the user in real time, using a powerful
administrative portal, virtually eliminating the costs associated with the labor-intensive reconfiguration of telephone systems on-site. Our
contact center solutions provide advanced call center features and functionality that can be seamlessly integrated with our cloud voice
solutions, reducing operational costs and increasing cost savings and efficiency. CRM integration, call recording and real-time monitoring are
built into the contact center solution, increasing productivity without increasing costs.
Unified Communications
Our Unified Communications as a Service (“UCaaS”) complements our cloud voice solutions with integrated service features that seamlessly
combine audio, video, messaging and web services, immediately connecting people with the information they need to communicate
effectively. Our integrated cloud-based UCaaS collaboration suite is device and location agnostic, allowing businesses of all sizes to increase
productivity by simplifying communication over the most preferred or available device. By connecting employees with other employees and
customers via conference call or online meeting, and sharing documents real-time with a simple click, our UCaaS solution drives efficiencies
while at the same time reducing costs.
SIP Trunking
Fusion’s SIP trunking solution allows a customer to retain and use its existing telephone system, while connecting to the Fusion network for
access to the cloud, as well as its local services and inbound/outbound domestic and international long distance services. SIP trunks efficiently
and economically provide businesses with voice channels in any configuration (analog, T-1, PRI, or SIP). Customers save on their local, long
distance, and international call charges, eliminate traditional line charges, and gain many of the advantages of cloud voice features and
functionality, such as advanced call handling and out of area number portability. Burstable voice lines accommodate seasonal traffic
fluctuations, marketing campaigns and business continuity requirements. SIP trunks also eliminate
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the cost of interoffice calling, and allow customers to combine their voice and data traffic onto a single broadband access facility for further
cost savings, without having to abandon their existing technology investment. Fusion’s SIP Trunking solution can be shared across customer
locations and is enhanced by a proprietary administrative portal, which allows customers to alter call routing in real time and provides
increased efficiency and control.
Cloud Connectivity
Fusion’s reliable and secure connections to the cloud ensure high levels of service quality and control. Leveraging our own expanding on-net
network, as well as our relationships with U.S.-based and international carriers, we offer business customers a full complement of redundant,
flexible and scalable network solutions, offering true diversity for built-in business continuity. Services range from dedicated circuits to highspeed broadband, and are available in a variety of bandwidth levels. Fusion offers reliable, secure and cost-effective Internet access to all
users, as well as Ethernet and MPLS services. Fusion’s quality of service routers seek to provide the highest quality voice traffic while
reducing customer access costs. We believe that in addition to providing secure migration and connection to the cloud, providing a full
complement of network services allows us to address a broader set of customer needs, delivering increased value and securing customer
loyalty in the process.
Cloud Computing
Fusion’s Cloud Computing service centralizes information management, hardware, network and infrastructure in an off-premise location that
is hosted and managed by Fusion. Offered as private or hybrid solutions, Fusion’s secure offerings drive efficiencies in both costs and
resources allowing for rapid scalability and deployment of applications. These offerings provide a predictable, utility-based OpEx model,
which eliminates significant capital expenditures, removes obsolescence concerns and future-proofs customer investments.
Managed Applications in the Cloud
Fusion offers several advanced, industry-specific SaaS solutions to meet the needs of large enterprises in key vertical markets, especially those
facing the rigorous demands of regulatory requirements and/or the need to store, secure and move large amounts of customer or patient
data. We believe that these applications represent significant future revenue potential, as we continue to introduce them to our existing
enterprise customers and prospects.
Cloud Security
Securing customer networks and data in motion as well as at rest, Fusion’s NSA-certified Stealth cybersecurity solution was developed for the
Department of Defense by its partner Unisys and enables secure migration to the cloud. The Stealth security solution renders end points
invisible on a network, removing them as a target. Stealth facilitates HIPAA compliance rules for data encryption, protecting sensitive data as
it moves across and between locations. The solution is identity-based, creating communities of interest based on user credentials, not location
or physical topology. Deployment requires no changes to the user environment or existing applications and can operate over existing
customer equipment, providing the same level of data segmentation and security on wireless as well as wired networks, driving cost-saving
network efficiencies at the same time.
Cloud-Based Storage
Fusion offers a solution that addresses the explosive growth of data across all industries with a cost-effective and secure storage solution
hosted in the cloud. This scalable, fully redundant solution is hosted off-premise, reduces customer data center footprints and resource
requirements, and facilitates additional SaaS solutions that can be accommodated on the same cloud platform. Fusion delivers a storage and
data back-up assessment service as part of its storage offering, measuring growth and duplication benchmarked against best practices. The
solution consolidates requirements across the enterprise, increases efficiency and achieves economies of scale designed to reduce overall
customer costs.
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Backup and Recovery
Fusion Backup and Recovery is an enterprise-grade backup software solution that provides a single, integrated approach to data protection. Its
comprehensive suite of tools and capabilities allow businesses to securely protect more data while using less network capacity and fewer
storage resources without having to deploy multiple point solutions.
Secure File Sharing
Fusion offers a file sharing solution that allows businesses to share, sync and transfer important data across multiple platforms, while keeping
security a main priority with military grade encryption. The solution delivers file access from any location, on any device to enable flexible
and scalable file sharing, restoration and collaboration.
Service Plans
Fusion offers several different service packages designed to meet specific customer needs and requirements. Base level plans offer a basic
service package for a low monthly recurring charge (“MRC”). Additional charges, such as local, long distance, or international calling, are
charged at per minute rates. Other packages may include a specific number of local or long distance minutes or even unlimited local or long
distance minutes. Optional value-added features for basic services are available for an incremental monthly charge appropriate for the
service.
Cloud connectivity services such as Internet access services and/or private line services are charged on a fixed monthly basis, and are
generally based on the bandwidth utilized and the endpoints involved. Cloud computing services are generally composed of an upfront charge
and a monthly recurring charge. Fusion’s contracts with its Business Services customers range from one to five years.
Carrier Services
Fusion’s Carrier Services segment provides voice traffic termination employing primarily VoIP technology. Such traffic typically consists of
minutes of domestic and international long distance usage that are terminated to telephone numbers in the intended destination countries. The
majority of this traffic is international in nature, and such carrier voice traffic terminates to virtually all countries worldwide. Substantially all
of our carrier cost of sales is variable, meaning that variations in revenue, either increases or decreases, are met with corresponding increases
or decreases in the underlying cost of terminating the traffic.
We employ least cost routing technology and systems in connection with all of our voice termination services to ensure high quality
termination at the lowest possible cost, thus maximizing profit on that traffic. Using least cost routing technology, Fusion often “blends”
routes to provide our customers with the optimal mix of price and quality, or to meet unique customer requirements for the termination of
voice traffic to specific countries.
We also leverage the termination capacity obtained through interconnection agreements and other methods of termination to carry
international traffic generated by our Business Services segment. As we continue to further grow our Business Services segment, we
anticipate using an increasingly larger percentage of our termination capacity in support of the higher margin traffic generated from the
Businesses Services segment. Where needed to meet a specific business customer’s requirements, we also procure Internet access and private
line circuits from our network of domestic and international carriers.
All carrier voice services are priced on a per minute basis, based upon the destination called, the time of day, and the customer’s overall traffic
volume. We have reciprocal service agreements with the majority of our carrier customers, and the pricing in those agreements may also
reflect the pricing provided to us for terminating our traffic. Prices for Internet access or private line service provided to carriers, as well as
pricing for co-location services, are based on a fixed MRC for the services provided.
We have contracts with most of our carrier customers, which typically have a one-year renewable term, no minimum commitments, and allow
either party to terminate the arrangement without penalty.
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Network
Fusion operates a robust and reliable carrier-grade network and infrastructure that delivers high quality, diverse and secure connections to our
cloud services. Our Managed Network Services, Internet Access, Ethernet, MPLS and cloud communications solutions can be provided either
on-net leveraging our own extensive network, or off-net using the networks of our carrier partners, for truly diverse and redundant
connections.
Both of our Carrier Services and Business Services network operations centers are manned 24 hours per day, 7 days per week and employ
state-of-the-art monitoring and alert systems that are designed to ensure quality of service and a proactive response to potential customer
service issues.
Our carrier-class network employs digitized, packet-switched service platforms capable of interfacing with most Internet protocols, as well as
with TDM (time division multiplexing) or circuit-switched systems, and provides the flexibility necessary to seamlessly transport our
customers’ voice and data traffic throughout the United States and the world. Internet access is delivered through dedicated and redundant
high-speed interconnections to all major Internet backbones.
The Fusion network is characterized by its low cost of deployment and low recurring costs. It has been constructed to meet actual, rather than
anticipated, customer demand with on-net and off-net connections to provide ubiquitous access, delivering maximum cost efficiency without
sacrificing quality. This robust network allows us to provide
diverse and redundant network connections with seamless automatic failover. Our major points of presence include New York City, Newark,
Philadelphia, Boston, Atlanta, Miami, Cleveland, Chicago, Dallas, Los Angeles, Washington, D.C., San Jose, Charlotte, Jacksonville,
Columbus, and Little Ferry, N.J.
Key elements of our network include a proprietary cloud communications platform, a BroadSoft cloud communications services platform;
Cisco routers and switches, and Acme Packet and Sonus communications services platforms. These redundant network elements are
interconnected via a dedicated fiber-based gigabit Ethernet backbone. Most network elements are based on software applications that execute
entirely on off-the-shelf servers and are built for easy and rapid deployment and scalability, as well as security and reliability. Fusion has
deployed a Global Convergence Solutions routing and rating management solution that is expected to improve routing, rating and invoicing
capabilities, facilitate cost savings through overhead reduction and drive efficiencies in route management.
Fusion’s centralized network elements are housed in carrier-grade switching facilities located in secure carrier buildings that house many
other carriers and are interconnected to other major carrier buildings. These locations allow for cost-effective and rapid interconnection and
capacity expansion to carrier customers, as well as major enterprise customers. Fusion believes its selected locations and equipment choices
provide the platform required to support its envisioned growth and will allow it to quickly embrace emerging technologies as they become
commercially available and viable.
Proprietary Cloud Services Platform
Our proprietary cloud services platform was designed and developed over many years by our own team of experienced programmers using
advanced, yet proven technology. This proprietary platform is scalable, flexible and secure, delivering an integrated portfolio of cloud-based
communications services that enable businesses of every size to increase productivity and efficiency while controlling costs. Information
management, hardware, network and infrastructure are centralized off-premise, hosted and managed by Fusion, allowing customers to rapidly
adjust to fluctuating and unpredictable service demands, drive efficiencies in staff and space, and eliminate the need for costly technology
upgrades. The architecture of our proprietary platform has been designed to allow for the seamless integration of additional cloud-based
applications, whether or not developed by Fusion. Not subject to third party end user licensing fees or technology release constraints, Fusion’s
proprietary platform allows faster, easier, more cost-effective introduction of new, business-critical applications, delivering a unique feature
set engineered to quickly respond to customer demands and market requirements. We differentiate ourselves from our competitors by
combining our robust carrier-grade network services to enable secure connections to the cloud, delivering true diversity and a fully integrated
solution for maximum efficiency and cost savings.
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Our proprietary platform has been designed using advanced technologies and best of breed equipment and provides for geographical diversity
and redundancy. The platform has been designed for scalability as well as resiliency, and can be easily expanded to accommodate any
required number of connections and customers. Platform solutions are location and device neutral, serving multiple as well as single locations
nationwide, connecting users to customers and other employees on desktops, laptops, handsets, tablets and mobile phones, wherever they may
be. The platform is currently deployed in two diverse Tier 1 carrier data centers, and such platform has a fully functional, redundant system
whose databases are constantly in sync. Thus, should one of the data centers be hit with a catastrophic event, customers should experience no
interruption of service. The result is to ensure a proven, reliable and consistent uptime, which is crucial for delivering mission critical
solutions.
Developed with experienced in-house programmers, the platform requires no ongoing licensing fees for individual seats or SIP sessions, which
we believe gives Fusion a competitive advantage against many other service providers. Written in current programming languages and
utilizing proven technologies, the system enjoys efficiencies and capabilities not found in older legacy type platforms.
Sales and Marketing
We market and sell our business services to small, medium and large customers through distribution partners, direct sales personnel and inside
sales representatives. Our independent distribution partners are typically paid commissions based on their sales and, thereafter, the continued
use of our services by the customers sold by them. Our sales employees, including direct sales and inside sales, are typically compensated
through a combination of base salary and commissions based on their actual sales performance.
Our distribution partners generally target smaller- to medium- size businesses, while our direct sales force focuses on the larger enterprise
customers in our targeted verticals. We believe that our cloud platform, infrastructure, systems and connectivity provide a strong competitive
advantage in serving these larger enterprise customers, creating real value with specialized solutions that meet their more complex and
rigorous requirements. Referrals, strategic relationships and the strength of our corporate relationships are also a key part of our overall sales
and marketing plan. We believe that the substantial experience and relationships of our management, Board of Directors and shareholders will
continue to assist us in organically growing our business through the addition of new customers. Our carrier services are sold entirely through
our direct sales force.
Strategy
Our five acquisitions and improved financial performance are important milestones in our strategic roadmap as we work to become one of the
industry’s leading and most successful cloud services providers. Our plans for growth are supported by an experienced and tested
management team and dedicated staff, as well as our advanced cloud strategy to organically grow our revenue from the Business Services
segment and to continue to develop vertically oriented solutions and acquire additional cloud services companies.
Fusion intends to grow organically through direct as well as indirect channel sales efforts; by securing large strategic distribution partners to
extend our geographic and vertical market reach; through the up-sale and cross-sale of services to our existing customer base; and by
leveraging management, Board and shareholder relationships to help penetrate larger enterprises.
We intend to increasingly focus our sales and marketing efforts on developing vertically oriented solutions for targeted markets that require
the kind of specialized solutions made possible by our state-of-the-art network and advanced services platforms. Our vertically oriented
solutions, which are currently focused on healthcare, legal services, hospitality and real estate, offer a substantial opportunity to gain market
share. We intend to accelerate the growth of our Business Services segment with the goal of increasing the portion of our total revenue
derived from this higher margin and more stable segment. For the year ended December 31, 2015, the Business Services segment accounted
for 65.1% of our revenues, as compared to 68.3% for the year ended December 31, 2014.
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Fusion intends to build on the success of its past acquisitions through additional acquisitions of cloud services companies. We believe that the
experience gained in integrating people, products, systems, platforms and customers positions us well to advance our growth. We will
continue to look to acquire companies that can expand our customer base and distribution capability, add additional cloud-based products and
services and help us increase the scale of our operations.
In addition to lowering the underlying costs of termination, we believe that our Carrier Services business supports the growth of the Business
Services segment by providing enhanced service offerings for business customers and by strengthening its relationships with major service
providers throughout the world.
We intend to manage our Carrier Services business segment through leveraging technology and systems improvements, enhancing product
stability through stronger bi-lateral vendor relationships, and increasing sales to non-traditional carriers such as cable television providers,
Internet search engine companies, and large IP telephone companies. We believe the revenue streams from such entities will be more
predictable and will offer better margins than the revenues from traditional domestic and international carriers.
Intellectual Property and Trademarks
We have several trademarks and service marks, which are supported by a combination of common law and statutory protection. We also own
numerous domain names, which have been registered with the Corporation for Assigned Names and Numbers. The following trademarks are
registered with the United States Patent and Trademark Office; however, they are not registered at the international level:
● Fusion®
● V.o.I.C.E. the one that works!®
● Fusion (Logo®
● Clear Connections in the Cloud®
● PingTone Communications®
The telecommunications and VoIP markets have been characterized by substantial litigation regarding patent and other intellectual property
rights. Litigation, which could result in substantial cost and diversion of our efforts, may be necessary to enforce trademarks and/or service
marks issued to us or to determine the enforceability, scope and validity of the proprietary rights of others. Legal proceedings to enforce our
intellectual property or defend ourselves against third-party claims of infringement can be time consuming and costly. Adverse determinations
in any
litigation or interference proceeding could subject us to costs related to changing names, a loss of established brand recognition, or the need to
change the technologies utilized in our services.
Competition
Each of Fusion’s business segments are highly competitive, rapidly evolving, and subject to constant technological change. In each of our
business segments, we compete with companies that are significantly larger and have substantially greater market presence, financial,
technical, operational and marketing resources than we do. In the event that such a competitor expends significant sales and marketing
resources in one or several markets where we compete with them, we may not be able to compete successfully in those markets. Specialized
cloud services providers, who focus on one or more cloud service or application, could adopt aggressive pricing and promotion practices that
could impact our ability to compete. We also believe that competition will continue to increase, placing downward pressure on prices. Such
pressure could adversely affect our gross margins if we are not able to reduce our costs commensurate with the price reductions of our
competitors. Further, the pace of technological change makes it impossible for us to predict whether we will face new competitors using
different technologies to provide the same or similar services offered or proposed to be offered by us. If our competitors were to provide better
and more cost effective services than ours, we may not be able to increase our revenues or capture any significant market share.
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Government Regulation
In the United States, our services are generally subject to varying degrees of federal, state and local regulation, including regulation by the
Federal Communications Commission (the “FCC”) and various state public utility commissions or public service commissions. We may also
be subject to similar regulation by foreign governments and their telecommunications/regulatory agencies. While these regulatory agencies
grant us the authority to operate our business, they typically exercise minimal control over our services and pricing. However, they do require
the filing of various reports, compliance with public safety and consumer protection standards and the payment of certain regulatory fees and
assessments.
We cannot provide assurance that the U.S. and foreign regulatory agencies exercising jurisdiction over us will grant us the required authority
to operate, will allow us to maintain existing authority so we can continue to operate or will refrain from taking action against us if we are
found to have provided services without obtaining the necessary authority. Similarly, if our pricing and/or terms or conditions of service are
not properly filed or updated with the applicable agencies, or if we are otherwise not fully compliant with the rules of the various regulatory
agencies, regulators or other third parties could challenge our actions and we could be subject to forfeiture of our authority to provide service,
or to penalties, fines, fees or other costs. From time to time in the past, we have been delinquent in certain filing, reporting and payment
obligations including, to the FCC and the Universal Service Administrative Company (“USAC”). However, we are now current in our filings,
reports and payments to these and other agencies having regulatory oversight over us.
As a carrier, we are subject to FCC regulation under the Communications Act of 1934, as amended. We have applied for and received the
necessary authority under Section 214 of the Communications Act to operate as a domestic and international carrier. Generally, our
international carrier traffic is subject to minimal regulation by state and local jurisdictions. We also hold various state licenses authorizing us
to provide intrastate services to our carrier and end-user customers, and we comply with state reporting, fee payment, tariffing, and other
obligations with respect to these services. There may be some states where we provide minimal amounts of intrastate services where we have
not fully complied with the licensing requirements. Should we fail at any time to be hold the licenses required to provide our intrastate
services, we could be subject to fines or other penalties.
Our VoIP services are lightly regulated, although certain traditional telecommunications regulations have been applied to VoIP services. The
FCC requires interconnected VoIP services to comply with: 911 emergency service requirements; registration requirements; Communications
Assistance for Law Enforcement Act (“CALEA”) requirements; obligations to support Universal Service including the Universal Service
Fund (“USF”) and Telecommunications Relay Services (“TRS”), the North American Numbering Plan administration (“NANPA”), and Local
Number Portability administration (“LNPA”); Customer Proprietary Network Information (“CPNI”) requirements; disability access
obligations; Local Number Portability (“LNP”) requirements; service discontinuance notification obligations; outage reporting requirements;
and rural call completion reporting and rules related to ring signal integrity. The FCC defines interconnected VoIP service as service that (1)
enables real-time, two-way voice communications, (2) requires a broadband connection from the user’s location, (3) requires Internet protocol
compatible customer premises equipment, and (4) permits users generally to receive calls that originate on the public switched telephone
network (“PSTN”) and to terminate calls to the PSTN. Under this definition, Fusion is a provider of interconnected VoIP service. We believe
that our services are currently compliant with all applicable FCC requirements, and we have made and are making the required contributions
to USF and other funds (although, as noted, we have not always been in compliance in the past). Should we fail to meet any of the FCC
requirements discussed above or fail to make required contributions in the future, we could be subject to revocation of our authority to operate
or to fines and/or penalties.
As a result of the FCC’s preemption of states’ ability to regulate certain aspects of VoIP service, and a trend in state legislatures to
affirmatively deregulate VoIP services for most purposes, our VoIP services are subject to relatively few state regulatory requirements aside
from collection of state and local E911 fees and state Universal Service support obligations. We believe that our services are currently
compliant with all applicable state requirements, and we have made
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and are making the required contributions to E911, state USF, and other funds. The state regulatory framework for our VoIP services
continues to evolve, so we, in conjunction with our professional advisors, monitor the actions of the various state regulatory agencies and
endeavor to ensure that we are in compliance with applicable state law, including any new statutes or regulations that may be passed. However,
there can be no assurance that we will become aware of all applicable requirements on a timely basis, or that we will always be fully
compliant with applicable rules and regulations. Should we fail to be compliant with applicable state regulations, or to file required reports to
state regulatory agencies, we could be subject to fines and/or penalties.
While we believe VoIP services may be subject to additional federal, state, local, or international regulation in the future, it is uncertain when
or how the effects of such regulation could affect us and our business. If additional regulation does occur, it is possible that such regulatory
agencies may impose surcharges, taxes or regulatory fees on VoIP service providers. The imposition of any such surcharges, taxes, or
regulatory fees could increase the Company’s costs and thus reduce or eliminate any competitive advantage that we might enjoy today.
Employees
As of December 31, 2015, we had 260 full time employees. None of our employees are represented by a labor union or collective bargaining
agreement. We consider our employee relations to be good, and, to date, we have not experienced a work stoppage.
Customer Concentrations and Revenues and Assets by Geographic Area
For the year ended December 31, 2015, no single customer accounted for more than 10% of the Company’s consolidated revenues or the
Company’s consolidated accounts receivable. For the year ended December 31, 2014, no single customer accounted for more than 10% of
the Company’s consolidated revenues; however, one customer accounted for approximately 16% of the Company’s consolidated accounts
receivable.
During the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, 87.1% and 88.3%, respectively, of the Company’s revenue was derived from customers
in the United States and 12.9 % and 11.7%, respectively, was derived from international customers. As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, the
Company did not have any assets located outside of the United States.
Available Information
Our principal executive offices are located at 420 Lexington Avenue, Suite 1718, New York, New York 10170. The telephone number at our
executive offices is 212-201-2400 and our main corporate website is www.fusionconnect.com. The information on the Company’s website
is neither a part of, nor incorporated by reference into, this report.
We make available our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K and amendments to
those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or Section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, free of charge
on our website, www.fusionconnect.com as soon as reasonably practicable after they are electronically filed with or furnished to the Securities
and Exchange Commission or SEC. Additionally, copies of materials filed by us with the SEC may be accessed at the SEC’s Public
Reference Room at 100 F Street, N.E., Washington, DC 20549, between the hours of 10:00 am to 3:00 pm, or at the SEC’s website
www.sec.gov. For information about the SEC’s Public Reference Room, please call 1-800-SEC-0339.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS
An investment in our securities involves a high degree of risk. You should carefully consider the risk factors described below in evaluating our
future prospects. In particular, keep these risk factors in mind when you read “forward-looking” statements elsewhere in this report.
Forward-looking statements relate to our expectations for future events and time periods. Generally, the words “anticipates,” “expects,”
“intends,” “may,” “should,” “plans,” “believes,” “predicts,” “potential,” “continue” and similar expressions identify forward-looking
statements. Forward-looking statements involve risks and uncertainties, and future events and circumstances could differ significantly from
those anticipated in the forward-looking statements. Any of the following risks could harm our business, operating results or financial
condition and could result in a complete loss of your investment. Additional risks and uncertainties that are not yet identified or that we
currently think are immaterial may also harm our business and financial condition in the future.
Risks Relating to Our Business
Failure to comply with the financial and other covenants contained in our senior debt facilities is an event of default under these
agreements.
Our acquisitions of Fidelity, NBS and PingTone and of the assets of RootAxcess and Broadvox were financed primarily through the issuance
of debt in the aggregate principal amount of $96.0 million. All assets of Fusion and its subsidiaries are pledged as collateral under its senior
debt facilities. The terms of these senior debt facilities contain a number of affirmative and negative covenants, including but not limited to,
restrictions on paying off any subordinate indebtedness, incurring additional indebtedness, making capital expenditures, paying dividends and
cash distributions by subsidiaries. Under these senior facilities, we are also required to comply with various financial covenants, including
leverage ratio, fixed charge coverage ratio and minimum levels of earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization, or
EBITDA. Failure to comply with any of the restrictive or financial covenants set forth in these facilities could result in an event of default and
accelerated demand for repayment of our outstanding debt. We do not have the financial resources to repay that debt if it is accelerated.
If the Company had not obtained an amendment to its then existing facility, as of December 31, 2014, it would have exceeded the specified
limit on capital expenditures. However, as a result of that amendment, the Company was in compliance with the capital expenditure limit for
the year ended December 31, 2014. For the year ended December 31, 2015, we were in compliance with all of the financial covenants
contained in our debt facilities
We have a history of operating losses, and net losses. There can be no assurance that we will ever achieve profitability or have sufficient
funds to execute our business strategy.
At December 31, 2015 and 2014, we had working capital of $1.7 million and $2.1 million, respectively, and stockholders’ equity of $14.5
million and $13.3 million, respectively. In addition, at December 31, 2015 and 2014, we incurred net losses applicable to common
stockholders of $9.8 million and $4.3 million, respectively. Our cash flows from operations for the year ended December 31, 2015 were not
sufficient to support our capital expenditure requirements and other obligations in 2015. We may not be able to generate profits in the future
and may not be able to support our operations or otherwise establish a return on invested capital. In addition, we may not have sufficient
funds to execute our business strategy, requiring us to raise additional funds from the equity markets or other sources, resulting in further
dilution to our equity holders. These losses, among other things, have had and may continue to have an adverse effect on our working
capital, total assets and stockholders’ equity.
Our recent acquisitions do not provide assurance that the acquired operations will be accretive to our earnings or otherwise improve our
results of operations.
Acquisitions, such as our recent acquisition of Fidelity and our acquisition of assets and customers from RootAxcess in September 2015, as
well as our previously completed acquisitions, involve the integration of previously separate businesses into a common enterprise in which it
is envisioned that synergistic operations and economies of scale will result in improved financial performance.
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However, realization of these desired results are subject to numerous risks and uncertainties, including but not limited to:
● diversion of management time and attention from daily operations;
● difficulties integrating the acquired business, technologies and personnel into our business;
● potential loss of key employees, key contractual relationships or key customers of the acquired businesses; and
● in the case of a stock acquisition, exposure to unforeseen liabilities.
Notwithstanding consummation of our acquisitions of NBS, PingTone and Fidelity and the assets of RootAxcess and Broadvox, there is no
assurance that these acquisitions will be or will continue to be accretive to our earnings or otherwise improve our results of operations.
If we are unable to successfully manage the integration of our acquisitions, we may not benefit from our acquisition strategy.
As part of our growth strategy, we seek to supplement internal growth with targeted acquisitions. We may not be successful in integrating
newly acquired companies into our day-to-day operations for a number of reasons, including if we are unable to (a) retain the skilled
managerial, technical, and sales personnel of acquired companies; (b) retain the customers of acquired companies; (c) integrate the services
offered by acquired companies with our existing services to achieve a single package of service offerings; (d) establish and maintain uniform
standards, controls, policies and procedures throughout our acquired companies; or (e) devote the management time required to successfully
integrate acquired businesses.
The cloud services industry is highly competitive and we may be unable to compete effectively.
The cloud services industry is highly competitive, rapidly evolving and subject to constant technological change. In addition, many of our
current cloud services competitors are significantly larger and have substantially greater market presence; greater financial, technical,
operational and marketing resources; and more experience. In the event that such a competitor expends significant sales and marketing
resources in one or several markets where we
compete with them, we may not be able to compete successfully in those markets. We also believe that competition will continue to increase,
placing downward pressure on prices. Such pressure could adversely affect our gross margins if we are not able to reduce our costs
commensurate with the price reductions of our competitors. In addition, the pace of technological change makes it impossible for us to
predict whether we will face new competitors using different technologies to provide the same or similar services offered or proposed to be
offered by us. If our competitors were to provide better and more cost effective services than ours, we may not be able to increase our
revenues or capture any significant market share.
Our business is capital intensive, and we do not currently generate sufficient revenues to offset our operating expenses. If we are unable
to obtain additional funding if and when required, we may have to significantly curtail or possibly terminate some of our operations.
We may require future capital in order to continue to fund our operating expenses and to otherwise execute our business plan and growth
strategy. If we are unable to obtain the required funding or generate revenue sufficient to sustain our operations, we could be forced to
significantly curtail or suspend our operations, including laying-off employees, selling assets and other measures. Additional capital may not
be available to us when needed or on terms that are acceptable to us, or at all.
We have historically funded our working capital requirements through the sale of common stock or preferred stock of Fusion. The sale of
equity securities to fund operations is dilutive to our existing stockholders. The terms of our debt facilities may limit our ability to utilize cash
flows generated from our Business Services segment to fund the Company’s other operations, including corporate overhead expenses. In the
event we are unable to substantially increase our revenues to fund our operating expenses, we may be required to continue to fund operations
through additional sales of Fusion equity securities. In the past, limited cash resources restricted our Carrier Services segment’s ability to
purchase termination capacity on shorter payment terms
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than the terms under which it is able to sell to our customers. Should this trend continue, it could limit our ability to grow our revenues and/or
margins, or limit our ability to achieve our revenue and/or margin targets in this services segment.
If we are unable to manage our growth or implement our expansion strategy, we may increase our costs without increasing our revenues.
We may not be able to expand our product offerings, customer base and markets, or implement the other features of our business strategy at
the rate, or to the extent, presently planned. Our projected growth will place a significant strain on our administrative, operational, and
financial resources and may increase our costs. If we are unable to successfully manage our future growth, continue to upgrade our operating
and financial control systems, recruit and
hire necessary personnel or effectively manage unexpected expansion difficulties, we may not be able to maximize revenues or achieve
profitability.
Our Carrier Services revenue performance is subject to both internal and external influences, which have negatively impacted our
revenues and may continue to do so in the future.
During 2014 and 2013, revenue derived from our Carrier Services segment was negatively impacted by seasonal and economic market
fluctuations, and a general decline in the overall market for international communications as a result of current economic conditions. Our
Carrier Services segment was also adversely affected in 2014 by network capacity limitations and issues encountered with the deployment of a
new switch. We anticipate that these revenue growth constraints will be eased as the hardware and software upgrades to our network are fully
implemented, however there is no assurance that we will be successful in our efforts to increase revenues and margin contribution in this
business segment.
Our ability to grow our business is dependent upon market developments and traffic patterns, which may lead us to make expenditures
that do not result in increased revenues.
Our purchase of network equipment and software will be based in part upon our expectations concerning future revenue growth and market
developments. As we expand our network, we will be required to make significant capital expenditures, including the purchase of additional
network equipment and software. To a lesser extent, our fixed costs will also increase from the ownership and maintenance of a greater
amount of network equipment including our switching systems, gateways, routers and other related systems. If our traffic volume were to
decrease, or fail to increase to the extent expected or necessary to make efficient use of our network, our costs as a percentage of revenues
would increase significantly.
Changes in technology and service offerings could affect the ability of our Business Services segment to compete in the marketplace for
cloud communications services.
Our Business Services segment is subject to rapid and significant changes in technology, particularly in the emerging areas of cloud voice,
cloud connectivity, cloud storage and cloud computing. Our industry has evolved significantly in these areas over the past few years, and is
expected to continue to evolve. Emerging technologies could lead to the development of newer, more convenient, more cost-effective or
otherwise more attractive services. In addition, the preferences and requirements of business customers are changing rapidly. Our ability to
retain current customers and attract new customers may be highly dependent on whether we choose the technologies that will ultimately have
the greatest customer acceptance, are able to adopt these new technologies and offer competitive new services when appropriate, or can
compete successfully against other service providers that use these new technologies, many of whom are larger or possess greater financial or
technical resources than we do. The development, introduction and marketing of such new services in response to new technologies or new
customer demands may require us to increase our capital expenditures significantly. In addition, new technologies may be protected by
patents or other intellectual property laws and therefore may only be available to our competitors and not to us.
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Some of our services are dependent upon multiple service platforms, network elements, and back-office systems that are reliant on third
party providers.
We have deployed back-office systems and services platforms that enable us to offer our customers a wide-array of services and features.
Sophisticated back office information and processing systems are vital to our growth and our ability to monitor costs, invoice customers,
provision client orders, and achieve operating efficiencies. Some of these systems are dependent upon license agreements with third party
vendors. These third party vendors may cancel or refuse to renew some of these agreements, and the cancellation or non-renewal of these
agreements may harm our ability to invoice customers and provide services efficiently.
Our business could be materially and adversely affected in the event of accusations of infringement of third-party intellectual rights.
There has been substantial litigation in the areas in which we operate regarding intellectual property rights. Regardless of the merits,
accusations and lawsuits concerning claims of infringement or misuse of another party’s proprietary rights may negatively affect customer
relationships, may divert management’s attention away from other aspects of our operations and, upon resolution may have a material adverse
effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.
If we were found to be infringing on the intellectual property rights of any third party, we could be subject to liability for such infringement,
which could be material. We could also be prohibited from selling certain services or required to redesign certain services, each of which
could have a material adverse effect on our business and results of operations. These and other outcomes may result in the loss of a
substantial number of existing customers or prevent our acquisition of new customers; cause us to pay license fees for intellectual property we
are found to have infringed; cause our costs to increase; materially and adversely affect our brand in the marketplace and cause a substantial
loss of good will; and cause us to cease certain services or offering certain features.
We rely upon certain proprietary rights in our technology, systems and business processes. If our protection of these rights were to be
compromised, it could negatively affect our ability to compete or to achieve our projected business and financial results.
Our ability to compete depends in part upon our proprietary rights in our technology, systems and business processes. In general, our
technology is based on the integration and use of publicly available hardware components, and is therefore afforded little protection under
existing patent law. Some of our software and systems, while developed by us, are generally not unique in such a manner as to allow
protection under existing patent law. As a result, we generally rely on a combination of contractual restrictions and the general protection
afforded by copyright, trademark and trade secret laws to establish and protect our proprietary rights. Such limited protection could prove
insufficient to protect our proprietary rights and thereby subject us to increased competition or impact the business or financial results of our
operations.
It is the Company’s policy to require employees, consultants and, when warranted, certain customers and vendors to execute confidentiality
agreements with us. These agreements provide that confidential information developed or made known during the course of a relationship
with us must be kept confidential and not disclosed to third parties except under certain specific circumstances. If such arrangements were to
prove ineffective in protecting our confidential information, our business or financial performance could be negatively impacted.
The U.S. Patent and Trademark Office has granted Fusion federal registration for six trademarks, and Federal registration of those trademarks
will be effective for as long as we continue to use them and renew their registrations. We are also planning to register additional trademarks
and other intellectual property rights, although there can be no assurance that our effort to register these trademarks will be successful. Fusion
generally does not register any of its copyrights with the U.S. Copyright Office, but relies on the protection afforded to such copyrights by the
U.S. Copyright Act, which provides protection to authors of original works whether published or unpublished and whether registered or
unregistered.
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Breaches in our network security systems may hurt our ability to deliver services and our reputation and result in liability.
We could lose clients or expose ourselves to liability if there are any breaches to our network security systems that jeopardize or result in the
loss of confidential information stored in our computer systems. Since our inception, we have experienced two known breaches of network
security, which resulted in a temporary failure of certain network operations, but did not result in the loss of any confidential customer
information or material financial losses. However, a future network security breach could harm our ability to deliver certain services, damage
our reputation or subject us to liability.
Our revenue growth is dependent upon our ability to build new distribution relationships and to bring on new customers.
Our ability to grow through efficient and cost effective deployment of our cloud services is, in part, dependent upon our ability to identify and
contract with local, regional and national entities that will assist in the distribution of our products and services. If we are unable to identify,
contract or maintain such distribution relationships, or if the efforts of these agents are not successful, we may not grow the customer base or
achieve the revenues currently envisioned and our results of operations will be adversely impacted.
We are dependent upon our ability to obtain the necessary regulatory approvals and licenses to enter new domestic and international
markets in which such approvals are required. Such approvals may or may not occur as planned and could be delayed.
Our entry into new domestic and international markets may, in certain cases, rely upon our ability to obtain licenses or other approvals to
operate in those markets, our ability to establish good working relationships with the relevant regulatory authorities in those jurisdictions or
our ability to interconnect to the local telephone networks in those markets. If we are not able to obtain the necessary licenses, approvals or
interconnections, our ability to enter into new markets may be delayed or prevented.
Industry consolidation could make it more difficult for us to compete.
Companies offering cloud voice, UCaaS, cloud connectivity, SaaS, IaaS and other cloud services are, in some circumstances,
consolidating. We may not be able to compete successfully with businesses that have combined, or will combine, to produce companies with
substantially greater financial, technical, sales and marketing resources, or with larger client bases, more extended networks or more
established relationships with vendors and distributors. If we were to experience such heightened competitive pressures, there is a risk that our
revenues may not grow as expected and the value of our equity securities could decline.
Our ability to provide services is often dependent on our suppliers and other service providers who may not prove to be effective.
A majority of the voice calls made by our customers are connected through other communication carriers, which provide us with transmission
capacity through a variety of arrangements. Our ability to terminate voice traffic in our targeted markets is an essential component of our
ongoing operations. If we do not secure or maintain operating and termination arrangements our ability to increase services to our existing
markets, and gain entry into new markets, will be limited. Therefore, our ability to maintain and expand our business is dependent, in part,
upon our ability to maintain satisfactory relationships with other domestic carriers, Internet service providers, international carriers, fiber optic
cable providers and other service providers, many of which are our competitors, and upon our ability to obtain their services on a cost effective
basis. In addition, if a carrier with whom we interconnect does not carry the traffic routed to it, or does not provide the required capacity, we
may be forced to route our traffic to, or buy capacity from, a different carrier on less advantageous terms, which could reduce our profit
margins or degrade our network service quality. In the event network service quality is degraded, it may result in a loss of customers. To the
extent that any of these carriers with whom we interconnect raise their rates, change their pricing structure or reduce the amount of capacity
they will make available to us, our revenues and profitability may be adversely affected.
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We rely on third party equipment suppliers who may not be able to provide us the equipment necessary to deliver the services that we seek
to provide.
We are dependent on third party equipment suppliers for equipment, software and hardware components, including Cisco, BroadSoft, Acme
Packet and Sonus. If these suppliers fail to continue product development and research and development or fail to deliver quality products or
support services on a timely basis, or if we are unable to develop alternative sources of supply if and as required, it could result in an inability
to deliver the services that we currently provide or intend to provide, and our financial condition and results of operations may be adversely
affected.
Our Carrier Services business relies on the cooperation of other international carriers and incumbent service providers, who may not
always cooperate with us in our attempts to serve a specific country or market.
In some cases, the growth of our Carrier Services business requires the cooperation of other international carriers and/or the incumbent
service provider in order to provide services to or from specific countries or markets. In the event the incumbent, or another in-country
international carrier, does not cooperate with us or support us in our efforts to serve that country, our ability to provide service to or from that
country may be delayed, or the costs to provide service might increase due to our being forced to use another more expensive carrier. If we are
unable to develop and maintain successful relationships with other international carriers and incumbent operators, our ability to costeffectively service an important market could be adversely affected.
Because we do business on an international level, we are subject to an increased risk of tariffs, sanctions and other uncertainties that may
hurt our revenues.
There are certain risks inherent in doing business internationally, especially in emerging markets, such as unexpected changes in regulatory
requirements, the imposition of tariffs or sanctions, licenses, customs, duties, other trade barriers, political risks, currency devaluations, high
inflation, corporate law requirements and civil unrest. Many of the economies of these emerging markets we seek to enter are weak and
volatile. We may not be able to mitigate the effect of inflation on our operations in these countries by price increases, even over the longterm. Also, deregulation of the communications markets in developing countries may or may not continue. Incumbent service providers,
trade unions and others may resist legislation directed toward deregulation and may resist allowing us to interconnect to their networks. The
legal systems in emerging markets also frequently have insufficient experience with commercial transactions between private parties, therefore
we may not be able to protect or enforce our rights in some emerging market countries. Governments and regulations may change, thus
impacting the availability of new licenses or the cancellation or suspension of existing operating licenses. The instability of the laws and
regulations applicable to our businesses, as well as their interpretation and enforcement, could materially impact our business in those
countries and adversely affect our financial condition or results of operations.
The regulatory treatment of VoIP outside the United States varies from country to country. Some countries are considering subjecting VoIP
services to the regulations applied to traditional telephone companies and they may assert that we are required to register as a
telecommunications carrier in that country or impose other more onerous regulations. In such cases, our failure to register could subject us to
fines, penalties or forfeiture of our right to do business in that country. Regulatory developments such as these could have a material adverse
effect on our ability to grow our international operations.
Additional taxation and government regulation of the cloud communications industry may slow our growth, resulting in decreased
demand for our products and services and increased costs of doing business.
As a result of changes in regulatory policy, we could be forced to pay additional taxes on the products and services we provide. We structure
our operations and our pricing based on assumptions about various domestic and international tax laws, tax treaties and other relevant
laws. Taxation authorities or other regulatory authorities might not reach the same conclusions about taxation that we have reached in
formulating our assumptions. We could suffer adverse tax and
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other financial consequences if our assumptions about these matters are incorrect or the relevant laws are changed or modified. In the U.S.,
our products and services are subject to varying degrees of federal, state and local regulation, including regulation by the FCC and various
state public utility commissions. We may also be subject to similar regulation by foreign governments and their telecommunications and/or
regulatory agencies. While these regulatory agencies grant us the authority to operate our business, they typically exercise minimal control
over our services and pricing. However, they do require the filing of various reports, compliance with public safety and consumer protection
standards, and the payment of certain regulatory fees and assessments.
We cannot assure you that applicable U.S. and foreign regulatory agencies will grant us the required authority to operate, will allow us to
maintain existing authority so we can continue to operate or that such agencies will refrain from taking action against us if we are found to
have provided services without obtaining the necessary authority. Similarly, if our pricing and/or terms and conditions of service are not
properly filed or updated with the applicable agencies, or if we are otherwise not fully compliant with the rules of the various regulatory
agencies, regulators or other third parties could challenge our actions and we could be subject to forfeiture of our authority to provide service,
or to penalties, fines, fees or other costs From time to time in the past, we have been delinquent in certain filing, reporting and payment
obligations including, to the FCC and the USAC. However, we are now current in our filings, reports and payments to these and other
agencies having regulatory oversight over us.
We also hold various state licenses authorizing us to provide intrastate services to our carrier and end-user customers, and we comply with
state reporting, fee payment, tariffing, and other obligations with respect to these services. However, in several states where we provide de
minimus intrastate services we may not have fully complied with applicable licensing requirements. Should we fail at any time to be hold the
licenses required to provide our intrastate services, we could be subject to fines or other penalties.
In addition to new regulations being adopted, existing laws may be applied to the Internet, which could hinder our growth.
New and existing laws may cover issues that include: sales and other taxes; user privacy; pricing controls; characteristics and quality of
products and services; consumer protection; cross-border commerce; copyright, trademark and patent infringement; and other claims based on
the nature and content of Internet materials. Changes to existing regulations or the adoption of new regulations could delay growth in demand
for our products and services and limit the growth of our revenue.
The effects of natural disasters such as Hurricane Sandy or other events over which we have no control could significantly disrupt our
operations and could have a material adverse impact on our business.
Our Carrier Services operations were impacted by Hurricane Sandy in the Northeast region of the United States in late October of 2012. The
severe weather conditions directly affected the ability of many of our carrier customers and vendors to connect to us. As a result, we did not
generate the same levels of revenues and gross profit that we believe we would have generated absent these abnormal conditions. Any future
disruptions to the operation of our network, including acts of war, terrorism or other force majeure, could have a material adverse impact on
our liquidity, financial condition and results of operations. Although we do carry business interruption insurance, we cannot assure you that
our losses in the event of a natural disaster or other force majeure event would be completely covered by insurance.
If we do not retain our executive officers and senior management, or if we do not continue to attract and retain qualified personnel and
independent sales agents, our ability to execute our business plan could be adversely affected.
Our existing executive officers and senior management have extensive experience in the communications industry, as well as many years of
working together as an integrated management team directing our day-to-day operations. As a result, we are dependent on those individuals
and the loss of the services of one or more of these individuals could impair our ability to execute our strategy or achieve our business and
financial objectives.
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We have a written employment agreement with Matthew Rosen, our Chief Executive Officer. We do not have written employment
agreements with any of our other executive officers or members of senior management.
We face competition for qualified personnel, including management, technical, financial and sales personnel. We also rely on independent
sales agents to market and sell our services. If we are unable to attract and retain experienced and motivated personnel, including independent
sales agents, the growth of our business or the effectiveness of our day-to-day operations may be impacted and we may not be able to grow
our customer base or to achieve our business or financial objectives.
Risks Related to Ownership of our Common Stock
We are unlikely to pay cash dividends on our common stock in the foreseeable future.
We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on our common stock. We intend to retain any future earnings to finance our operations
and expand our business and therefore do not expect to pay any cash dividends in the foreseeable future. Holders of our outstanding preferred
stock are entitled to receive dividends prior to the payment of any dividends on our common stock. The payment of dividends is also subject to
provisions of Delaware law prohibiting the payment of dividends except out of surplus and certain other limitations, as well as the provisions
contained in our debt facilities.
Our common stock is subject to price volatility unrelated to our operations.
The market price of our common stock has fluctuated substantially and will likely continue to fluctuate due to a variety of factors, including
market perception of our ability to achieve our planned growth, quarterly operating results of other companies in our industry, trading volume
in our common stock, changes in general conditions in the economy and the financial markets or other developments affecting our competitors
or us. In addition, the stock market is subject to extreme price and volume fluctuations. This volatility has had a significant effect on the
market price of our common stock and securities issued by many other companies for reasons unrelated to operating performance.
In addition, the market price of our common stock may continue to fluctuate significantly in response to a number of other factors, many of
which are beyond our control, including but not limited to the following:
●
●
●
●
●

ability to obtain securities analyst coverage;
changes in securities analysts’ recommendations or estimates of our financial performance;
changes in the market valuations of companies similar to us;
announcements by us or our competitors of significant contracts, new offerings, acquisitions, commercial relationships, joint
ventures, or capital commitments; and
failure to meet analysts’ expectations regarding financial performance.

Furthermore, companies that have experienced volatility in the market price of their stock have been subject to securities class action
litigation. A securities class action lawsuit against us, regardless of its merit, could result in substantial costs and divert the attention of our
management from other business concerns, which in turn could harm our business.
Our common stock may become subject to the “penny stock” rules of the SEC, which will make transactions in our shares cumbersome
and may reduce the value of an investment in our shares.
For so long as the trading price of our common stock is less than $5.00 per share, our common stock may be considered a "penny stock," and
in such event trading in our common stock would be subject to the requirements of Rule 15g-9 under the Securities Exchange Act of
1934. Under this rule, broker/dealers who recommend low-priced securities to persons other than established customers and accredited
investors must satisfy special sales practice requirements. The broker/dealer must make an individualized written suitability determination for
the purchaser and receive the purchaser's written consent prior to the transaction.
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SEC regulations also require additional disclosure in connection with any trades involving a "penny stock," including the delivery, prior to any
penny stock transaction, of a disclosure schedule explaining the penny stock market and its associated risks. These requirements severely limit
the liquidity of securities in the secondary market because few brokers or dealers are likely to undertake these compliance activities. In
addition to the applicability of
the penny stock rules, other risks associated with trading in penny stocks could also be price fluctuations and the lack of a liquid market.
To date, we have not been considered a “penny stock” due to an exemption from Rule 15g-9 for companies with average annual audited
revenues for the prior three years of in excess of $6,000,000 per year. However, should the exclusions from the definition of a “penny stock”
change, or should our annual revenues fall dramatically, we may become subject to rules applicable to “penny stocks” and the market for our
shares may be adversely affected.
The elimination of monetary liability against our directors, officers and employees under our certificate of incorporation and the existence
of indemnification rights in favor of our directors, officers and employees may result in substantial expenditures by us and may discourage
lawsuits against our directors, officers and employees.
Our certificate of incorporation contains provisions which eliminate the liability of our directors for monetary damages to the Company and its
stockholders to the maximum extent permitted under Delaware corporate law. Our by-laws also require us to indemnify our directors to the
maximum extent permitted by Delaware corporate law. We may also have contractual indemnification obligations under our agreements with
our directors, officers and employees. These indemnification obligations could result in us incurring substantial expenditures to cover the cost
of settlement or damage awards against directors, officers and employees, which we may be unable to recoup. These provisions and resultant
costs may also discourage the Company from bringing a lawsuit against directors, officers and employees for breaches of their fiduciary
duties, and may similarly discourage the filing of derivative litigation by our stockholders against our directors, officers and employees even
though such actions, if successful, might otherwise benefit the Company and its stockholders.
Our use of equity to fund operations is dilutive to existing stockholders and, depending upon the market price for our shares at the time of
issuance, we may be required to issue shares at depressed prices.
Historically, we have funded our vast majority of our working capital requirements through the sale of our equity securities. The use of our
equity to fund operations is dilutive to our existing r securities holders. Unless we are able to generate substantial revenues to fund our
operating expenses, we may be required to continue to fund operations through the sale of additional equity. Moreover, the dilutive effect on
our stockholders caused by the issuance of new equity shares is directly impacted by the market price for our shares at the time of issuance. If
we are required to issue shares at a time when the market price for our equity securities is depressed, we will need to issue more shares than if
the market price was higher, and the dilutive effect on our stockholders will be greater.
The issuance of our common stock upon the exercise of options or warrants or the conversion of outstanding convertible securities may
cause significant dilution to our stockholders and may have an adverse impact on the market price of our common stock.
As of December 31, 2015, we had 12,788,971 common shares outstanding and approximately 3,825,942 shares reserved for issuance upon
conversion of outstanding preferred stock, 3,011,760 shares reserved for the exercise of outstanding warrants, and 1,158,251 shares reserved
for the exercise of outstanding stock options. The issuance of our common shares upon the exercise of stock options or warrants, or
conversion of preferred stock, will increase the number of our publicly traded shares, which could depress the market price of our common
stock.
The perceived risk of dilution may cause our common stockholders to sell their shares, which would contribute to a downward movement in
the stock price of our common stock. Moreover, the perceived risk of dilution and the resulting downward pressure on our common stock
price could encourage investors to engage in short sales of our common stock. By increasing the number of shares offered for sale, material
amounts of short selling could further contribute to progressive price declines in our common stock.
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We could use preferred stock to fund operations or resist takeovers, and the issuance of preferred stock may cause additional dilution.
Our certificate of incorporation authorizes the issuance of up to 10,000,000 shares of preferred stock, of which 5,045 shares of Series A-1, A-2
and A-4 Preferred Stock (the “Series A Preferred”) are currently issued and outstanding, and 18,279 shares of our Series B-2 Preferred Stock
(the Series B-2 Preferred”) are currently issued and outstanding. Our certificate of incorporation gives our board of directors the authority to
issue preferred stock without any further approval of our stockholders. We may issue additional shares of preferred stock to raise money to
finance our operations. We may authorize the issuance of the preferred stock in one or more series. In addition, we may set the terms of
preferred stock, including:
●
●
●
●
●

dividend and liquidation preferences;
voting rights;
conversion privileges;
redemption terms; and
other privileges and rights of the shares of each authorized series.

The issuance of large blocks of our preferred stock could possibly have a dilutive effect on our existing stockholders. It can also negatively
impact our existing stockholders’ liquidation preferences. In addition, while we include preferred stock in our capitalization to improve our
financial flexibility, we could possibly issue our preferred stock to friendly third parties to preserve control by present management. This
could occur if we become subject to a hostile takeover that could ultimately benefit our stockholders and us.
ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS.
Not applicable to a smaller reporting company.
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ITEM 2. PROPERTIES.
We are headquartered in New York, New York and lease offices and facilities in a number of other locations. Below is a list of our primary
leased offices and other facilities of December 31, 2015.
Location

Lease Expiration Date

Annual Rent

Business Use

Approx. Sq. Ft.

420 Lexington Avenue, Suite 1718, New York, NY
10170

October 2020

$666,000 Lease of principal executive
offices

9,656

3565 Piedmont Road N.E., Suite 300, Atlanta, GA
30005

August 2022

$265,000

Lease of network facilities
and office space

10,509

155 Willowbrook Boulevard, Wayne, NJ 07470

October 2017

$140,000

Lease of network facilities
and office space

10,757

13921 Park Center Road, Herndon, VA 20171

November 2017

$345,000

Lease of network facilities
and office space

13,364

1475 W. Cypress Creek Road, Suite 204, Fort
Lauderdale, FL 33309

August 2016

$82,000

Lease of network facilities
and office space

5,183

23250 Chagrin Blvd., Suite 250, Beachwood, OH
44122

May 2019

$93,000

Lease of sales and
admistrative office space

5,638

1621 Euclid Avenue, Suite 730, Cleveland, OH 44122

April 2019

$83,000

Lease of network facilities
and office space

10,000

We believe that our leased facilities are adequate to meet our current and future needs.
ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS.
From time to time, we may be involved in a variety of claims, lawsuits, investigations and proceedings relating to contractual disputes,
employment matters, regulatory and compliance matters, intellectual property rights and other litigation arising in the ordinary course of
business. Defending such proceedings can be costly and can impose a significant burden on management and employees. We do not expect
that the outcome of any such claims or actions will have a material effect on our liquidity, results of operations or financial condition. As of
December 31, 2015 and 2014, we did not have any significant ongoing legal matters.
ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES.
Not applicable.
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PART II
ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS, AND ISSUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES.
Market Information
Our common stock is listed on The Nasdaq Capital Market under the symbol “FSNN.” The following tables list the high and low sales prices
for our common stock for each fiscal quarter during the two preceding fiscal years.
Year Ended December 31, 2015

High

First Quarter
Second Quarter
Third Quarter
Fourth Quarter

$
$
$
$

Year Ended December 31, 2014

Low

4.64
4.75
3.16
3.44

$
$
$
$

High

First Quarter
Second Quarter
Third Quarter
Fourth Quarter

$
$
$
$

3.52
2.07
1.88
1.99

Low

7.75
7.47
5.41
4.24

$
$
$
$

4.78
2.50
3.33
3.10

On May 13, 2014, we completed a 50 to 1 reverse split of our common stock. The market price for our common stock is highly volatile and
fluctuates in response to a wide variety of factors.
Holders of Record
As of December 31, 2015, there were approximately 609 stockholders of record of our common stock.
Dividend Policy
We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on our common stock nor do we anticipate paying any cash dividends on our common
stock in the foreseeable future. Subject to the rights of holders of our outstanding Series A Preferred and Series B Preferred, any future
determination to pay dividends will be at the discretion of our board of directors, subject to applicable law, and will be dependent upon our
financial condition, operating results, capital requirements, general business conditions, the terms of our outstanding debt and other factors
that our Board considers appropriate.
The holders of our Series A Preferred Stock are entitled to receive cumulative dividends of 8% per annum payable in arrears, as and when
declared by our Board from January 1, 2008. To date, our Board has not declared any dividends on any of the Series A Preferred Stock. Since
the quarter ended March 31, 2014, the holders of our Series B-2 Preferred have been entitled to receive quarterly dividends at an annual rate
of 6%. These dividends can be paid, at our option, either in cash or in shares of our common stock.
Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities
None.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA.
Not applicable to smaller reporting companies
ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS.
The following discussion of our financial condition and results of operations should be read together with our consolidated financial
statements and the notes related thereto included elsewhere in this report. This discussion contains certain forward-looking statements within
the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1996. Such statements consist of any statement other than a recitation of
historical fact and can be identified by the use of forward-looking terminology such as “may”, “expect”, “anticipate”, “intend”, “estimate”
or “continue” or the negative thereof or other variations thereof or comparable terminology. The reader is cautioned that all forwardlooking statements are speculative, and there are certain risks and uncertainties that could cause actual events or results to differ from those
referred to in such forward-looking statements (see Item 1A, “Risk Factors”).
OVERVIEW
Our Business
We offer a comprehensive suite of cloud communications, cloud connectivity, cloud computing, and managed cloud-based applications
solutions to small, medium and large businesses, and offer domestic and international VoIP services to carriers worldwide. Our advanced,
proprietary cloud services platforms, as well as our state-of-the art switching systems, enable the integration of leading edge solutions in the
cloud, increasing customer collaboration and productivity by seamlessly connecting employees, partners, customers and vendors. We
currently operate our business in two distinct business segments: Business Services and Carrier Services.
In the Business Services segment, we are focused on becoming our business customers’ single source for leveraging the increasing power of
the cloud, providing a robust package of what we believe to be the essential services that form the foundation for their successful migration to,
and efficient use of, the cloud. Our core Business Services products and services include cloud voice and UCaaS, improving communication
and collaboration on virtually any device, virtually anywhere, and cloud connectivity services, securely and reliably connecting customers to
the cloud with managed network solutions that are designed to increase quality and optimize network efficiency. Our cloud computing and
IaaS solutions, are designed to provide our larger enterprise customers with a platform on which additional cloud services can be
layered. Complemented by storage solutions, as well as SaaS solutions, such security and business continuity, our advanced cloud offerings
allow our larger enterprise customers to experience the increased efficiencies and agility delivered by the cloud. The Company’s cloud-based
services are flexible, scalable and rapidly deployed, reducing our customers’ cost of ownership while increasing their productivity.
Through our Carrier Services segment, we have agreements with 369 carrier customers and vendors, through which we sell domestic and
international voice services to other carriers throughout the world. Customers include U.S.-based carriers sending voice traffic to international
destinations, and foreign carriers sending traffic to the U.S. and internationally. We also purchase domestic and international voice services
from many of our Carrier Services customers. Our carrier-grade network, advanced switching platform and interconnections with global
carriers on six continents also reduce the cost of global voice traffic and expand service delivery capabilities for our Business Services
segment.
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We manage our business segments based on gross profit and gross margin, which represents net revenue less the cost of revenue, and on net
profitability after excluding certain non-cash and non-recurring items. The majority of our operations, engineering, information systems and
support personnel are assigned to either the Business Services or Carrier Services business segment for segment reporting purposes.
We continue to increasingly focus our sales and marketing efforts on developing vertically oriented solutions for targeted markets that require
the kind of specialized solutions made possible by our state-of-the-art network and advanced services platforms. Our vertically oriented
solutions, which are currently focused on healthcare, legal, hospitality and real estate, offer a substantial opportunity to gain additional market
share. We intend to accelerate the growth of our Business Services segment with the goal of increasing the portion of our total revenue
derived from this higher margin and more stable segment. In addition to lowering the underlying costs of termination, we believe that our
Carrier Services segment supports the growth of the Business Services segment by providing enhanced service offerings for business
customers and by strengthening its relationships with major service providers throughout the world.
Recent Acquisitions
In December 2015, we acquired four of the five Fidelity companies and, in February 2016, completed the acquisition of the remaining
Fidelity company. The purchase price, net of working capital adjustments was $29.9 million, of which $28.4 million was paid in cash and
$1.5 million through the issuance of 696,508 shares of Fusion common stock. Fidelity provides cloud voice, cloud connectivity, security,
data center and cloud storage services to approximately 2,000 small, medium, and large business customers primarily in the Midwest.
In September 2015, we acquired the customer base, technology platform, infrastructure and other assets of Chicago-based RootAxcess for $1.2
million. RootAxcess delivers a broad range of cloud solutions, including IaaS, cloud computing, cloud storage, cloud hosting, virtual data
center, backup and recovery, and virtual servers, using both private and hybrid cloud infrastructure.
In October 2014, we acquired PingTone, a provider of integrated cloud-based communications services for a purchase price of $10.6 million,
of which $8.1 million was paid in cash and $2.5 million was paid through the issuance of 712,250 shares of Fusion common stock. This
acquisition added a loyal and growing enterprise customer base and positioned the Company to stimulate organic growth by augmenting the
Company’s management team, adding a direct sales force, and providing significant cross-sale and up-sale opportunities.
Our Performance
Revenues for the year ended December 31, 2015 were $101.7 million, an increase of $9.6 million, or 10.5%, compared to the year ended
December 31, 2014, as a result of a net increase in revenues from our Business Services segment of approximately $3.3 million driven
primarily by revenues generated from our acquisitions , and an increase in revenues of $6.4 million from our Carrier Services segment
mainly due to a 25.6% increase in overall traffic volume. Our operating loss for 2015 increased to $9.0 million from $1.8 million in 2014
driven primarily by higher salaries and payroll benefits of approximately $4.4 million, acquisition integration costs of $2.2 million, and
depreciation and amortization expense of approximately $2.0 million.
Our Outlook
Our ability to achieve positive cash flows from operations and net profitability is substantially dependent upon our ability to increase revenue
in both of our business segments and, to a lesser extent, on our ability to identify further synergistic cost savings and operational efficiencies
from our more recent acquisitions.
Revenues from our Carrier Services segment have increased over the last few years due, in large part, to an increase in overall traffic
volume. We believe the increase resulted largely from increased niched competition, deregulation in many of the markets we serve and our
lower cost, Internet-based technologies. While the market demand for international voice termination has seen a corresponding increase over
the last few years, we have been able to increase our
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revenues accordingly due to increase capacity on our network switching platform and return on invested network capital. During 2015 and
late 2014, we implemented new systems and equipment which increased our network capacity to levels necessary to compete in the current
market environment and allow us to increase our traffic volume and, therefore, gross profit for this business segment.
CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES
Our discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations are based upon our consolidated financial statements, which have
been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) in the U.S. The preparation of these financial
statements requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and the
related disclosure of contingent liabilities. We base these estimates on our historical experience and on various other assumptions that we
believe to be reasonable under the circumstances, and these estimates form the basis for our judgments concerning the carrying values of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. We periodically evaluate these estimates and judgments based on
available information and experience. Actual results could differ from our estimates under different assumptions and conditions. If actual
results significantly differ from our estimates, our financial condition and results of operations could be materially impacted.
We have identified the policies and significant estimation processes discussed below as critical to our operations and to an understanding of
our results of operations. For a detailed discussion on the application of these and other accounting policies, see Note 2 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements included elsewhere in this report.
Revenue Recognition
We recognize revenue when persuasive evidence of a sale arrangement exists, delivery has occurred or services have been rendered, the sales
price is fixed and determinable and collectability is reasonably assured. We record provisions against revenue for billing adjustments, which
are based upon estimates derived from factors that include, but are not limited to, historical results, analysis of credits issued and current
economic trends. The provisions for revenue adjustments are recorded as a reduction of revenue when the revenue is recognized.
Our Business Services revenue includes MRC’s charged to customers, for whom charges are contracted over a specified period of time, and
variable usage fees charged to customers that purchase our business products and services. Revenue recognition commences after the
provisioning, testing and acceptance of the service by the customer. MRCs continue until the expiration of the contract, or until cancellation
of the service by the customer. To the extent that payments received from a customer are related to a future period, the payment is recorded as
deferred revenue until the service is provided or the usage occurs.
Our Carrier Services revenue is primarily derived from usage fees charged to other carriers that terminate voice traffic over our
network. Variable revenue is earned based on the length of a call, as measured by the number of minutes of duration. It is recognized upon
completion of the call, and is adjusted to reflect the allowance for billing adjustments. Revenue for each customer is calculated from
information received through our network switches. Our customized software tracks the information from the switches and analyzes the call
detail records against stored detailed information about revenue rates. This software provides us with the ability to complete a timely and
accurate analysis of revenue earned in a period. We believe that the nature of this process is such that recorded revenues are unlikely to be
revised in future periods.
Cost of Revenues
For our Business Services segment, cost of revenues include the MRCs associated with certain platform services purchased from other service
providers, the MRCs associated with private line services and the cost of broadband Internet access used to provide service to business
customers.
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Cost of revenues for our Carrier Services segment is comprised primarily of costs incurred from other carriers to originate, transport, and
terminate voice calls for our carrier customers. Thus, the majority of our cost of revenues for this segment is variable, based upon the number
of minutes actually used by our customers and the destinations they are calling. Call activity is tracked and analyzed with customized
software that analyzes the traffic flowing through our network switch. During each period, the call activity is analyzed and an accrual is
recorded for the costs associated with minutes not yet invoiced. This cost accrual is calculated using minutes from the system and the variable
cost of revenue based upon predetermined contractual rates. Fixed expenses reflect the costs associated with connectivity between our
network infrastructure, including our New Jersey switching facility, and certain large carrier customers and vendors.
Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The carrying value of certain financial instruments such as accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued expenses approximates their
fair values due to the short term nature of their underlying terms. Some of the warrants issued in conjunction with the issuance of our debt
and equity securities are accounted for in accordance with the guidance contained in Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 815,
Derivatives and Hedging (“ASC 815”). For these warrant instruments that are not deemed to be indexed to Fusion’s stock, we classify the
warrant instrument as a liability at its fair value and adjust the instrument to fair value at each reporting period. This liability is subject to remeasurement at each balance sheet date until exercised, and any change in fair value is recognized in our statement of operations. The fair
values of the warrants have been estimated using option pricing and other valuation models, and the quoted market price of Fusion’s
common stock (see notes 17 and 18 to the accompanying consolidated financial statements).
Accounts Receivable
Accounts receivable is recorded net of an allowance for doubtful accounts. On a periodic basis, we evaluate our accounts receivable and
adjust the allowance for doubtful accounts based on our history of past write-offs and collections and current credit conditions. Specific
customer accounts are written off as uncollectible if the probability of a future loss has been established, collection efforts have been
exhausted and payment is not expected to be received.
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets
We periodically review long-lived assets, including intangible assets, for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount of an asset may not be fully recoverable. If an impairment indicator is present, we evaluate recoverability by a
comparison of the carrying amount of the asset to future undiscounted net cash flows expected to be generated by the asset. If the carrying
value of the asset exceeds the projected undiscounted cash flows, we are required to estimate the fair value of the asset and recognize an
impairment charge to the extent that the carrying value of the asset exceeds its estimated fair value. We did not record any impairment
charges for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014.
Impairment testing for goodwill is performed annually in our fourth fiscal quarter. The impairment test for goodwill uses a two-step approach,
which is performed at the reporting unit level. We have determined that our reporting units are our operating segments since that is the lowest
level at which discrete, reliable financial and cash flow information is available. The authoritative guidance provides entities with an option to
perform a qualitative assessment to determine whether a quantitative analysis is necessary. We performed qualitative impairment evaluations
on our goodwill as of December 31, 2015 and 2014 and determined that there were no indications that goodwill was impaired.
Income Taxes
We account for income taxes in accordance with U.S. GAAP, which requires the recognition of deferred tax liabilities and assets for the
expected future income tax consequences of events that have been recognized in our financial statements. Deferred income tax assets and
liabilities are computed for temporary differences between the financial statement and tax bases of assets and liabilities that will result in
future taxable or deductible amounts, based on enacted tax laws
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and rates applicable to the periods in which the differences are expected to affect taxable income. Valuation allowances are established to
reduce deferred income tax assets when we determine that it is more likely than not that we will fail to generate sufficient taxable income to be
able to utilize the deferred tax assets.
Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements
In February 2016, the Financial Accounting Standard Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2016-2, Leases,
which is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those years, beginning after December 15, 2018 with early adoption permitted.
Under ASU 2016-02, lessees will be required to recognize for all leases at the commencement date a lease liability, which is a lessee’s
obligation to make lease payments arising from a lease measured on a discounted basis, and a right –to-use assets, which is an asset that
represents the lessee’s right to use or control the use of a specified asset for the lease term. The Company is currently evaluating the effect
that the new guidance will have on its financial statements and related disclosures.
In November 2015, FASB issued ASU No. 2015-17, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Balance Sheet Classification of Deferred Taxes (ASU 201517), which simplifies the presentation of deferred income taxes by requiring deferred tax assets and liabilities be classified as noncurrent on
the balance sheet. The updated standard is effective beginning on January 1, 2017 with early application permitted as of the beginning of any
interim or annual reporting period. The Company does not expect this guidance to have a material impact on its consolidated financial
statements.
In September 2015, FASB issued guidance that eliminates the requirement for an acquirer in a business combination to account for
measurement-period adjustments retrospectively. Instead, acquirers must recognize measurement-period adjustments during the period in
which they determine the amounts, including the effect on earnings of any amounts they would have recorded in previous periods if the
accounting had been completed at the acquisition date. This guidance is effective for interim and annual reporting periods beginning after
December 15, 2015. The Company does not expect this guidance to have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements.
In April 2015, FASB issued guidance requiring an entity to present debt issuance costs related to a recognized debt liability as a direct
deduction from the carrying amount of that debt liability, consistent with debt discounts. This guidance is effective for interim and annual
reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2015. The Company does not expect this guidance to have a material impact on its
consolidated financial statements.
In May 2014, FASB issued guidance that outlines a single comprehensive model for entities to use in accounting for revenue arising from
contracts with customers and supersedes most recent current revenue recognition guidance, including industry-specific guidance. The core
principle of the revenue model is that an entity recognizes revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an
amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. The guidance also
specifies the accounting for certain incremental costs of obtaining a contract and costs to fulfill a contract with a customer. Entities have the
option of applying either a full retrospective approach to all periods presented or a modified approach that reflects differences prior to the
date of adoption as an adjustment to equity. In April 2015, FASB deferred the effective date of this guidance until January 1, 2018 and the
Company is currently assessing the impact of this guidance on its consolidated financial statements.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
The following table summarizes our results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014:
Year Ended December 31,
2015

Revenues
Cost of revenues*
Gross profit
Depreciation and amortization
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Total operating expenses
Operating loss
Other (expenses) income:
Interest expense
Gain on change in fair value of derivative liability
Loss on extinguishment of debt
Other income, net
Total other expenses
Loss before income taxes
Benefit (provision) for income taxes
Net loss

% Sales

2014

% Sales

$101,694,516
56,724,121
44,970,395
12,975,981
41,009,107
53,985,088
(9,014,693)

100.0% $ 92,052,600
55.8%
49,598,373
44.2%
42,454,227
12.8%
11,004,884
40.3%
33,224,374
53.1%
44,229,258
(8.9%)
(1,775,031)

100.0%
53.9%
46.1%
12.0%
36.1%
48.0%
(1.9%)

(6,062,923)
1,843,997
(2,720,355)
63,613
(6,875,668)
(15,890,361)
7,660,536
$ (8,229,825)

-6.0%
(5,988,411)
1.8%
5,161,901
-2.7%
0.1%
60,450
(6.8%)
(766,060)
(15.6%)
(2,541,091)
8%
(26,051)
(8.1%) $ (2,567,142)

(6.5%)
5.6%
0.0%
0.1%
(0.8%)
(2.8%)
0.0%
(2.8%)

* Exclusive of depreciation and amortization, shown separately below.
Year Ended December 31, 2015 Compared with Year Ended December 31, 2014
Revenues
Consolidated revenues were $101.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 as compared to $92.1 million for the year ended December
31, 2014, an increase of $9.6 million, or 10.5%. Revenues for the Business Services segment increased by approximately $3.3 million to
$66.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 as compared to $62.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2014. This increase is
primarily due to the inclusion of revenues from PingTone of approximately $4.5 million, Fidelity of approximately $1.1 million and
RootAxcess of approximately $0.3 million, offset in part, by a decrease in revenues from existing customers of approximately $2.6 million.
Carrier Services revenue was $35.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 compared to $29.2 million for the year ended December
31, 2014, an increase of $6.3 million, or 22%. This increase was mainly attributable to a 25.6% increase in the number of minutes transmitted
over our network, offset, in part, by a 3.0% decrease in the blended rate per minute of traffic terminated.
Cost of Revenues and Gross Margin
Consolidated cost of revenues was $56.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 as compared to $49.6 million for the year ended
December 31, 2014. This increase is mainly due to additional costs arising from our acquisitions of PingTone and Fidelity of approximately
$1.8 million, offset, in part, by a $1.3 million decrease in cost of revenues associated with our existing customer base, and an increase in cost
by our Carrier Services segment of $6.6 million resulting from higher costs in the blended rate per minute of traffic terminated and the 25.6%
increase in the volume of minutes of traffic terminated.
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Consolidated gross margin was 44.2% for the year ended December 31, 2015 as compared to 46.1% in the year ended December 31,
2014. This decrease is primarily the result of an overall increase in cost of revenues of 14.4% driven primarily by an increase in cost of
revenues in our Carrier Services segment of 25.5% resulting from the 25.6% increase in the volume of traffic terminated that outpaced the
increase in revenues of 21.8%, offset by an increase in margins of 7.1% as a result of the higher mix of Business Services revenue resulting
from our acquisition of PingTone, Fidelity and RootAxcess.
Gross margin for our Business Services segment was 63.5% in 2015 as compared to 62.4% in 2014 as a result of an increase in revenues of
5.2% driven primarily by revenues acquired through the acquisition of PingTone of approximately $4.5 million, Fidelity of approximately
$1.1 million and RootAxcess of approximately $0.3 million, offset by a marginal increase in the cost of revenues of approximately $0.5
million, or 2.1%.
Gross margin for our Carrier Services segment was 8.2% in 2015 as compared to 10.9%in 2014. This decrease is the result of an increase in
cost of revenues of 25.5% and a decrease of 3.0% in the blended rate per minute of traffic terminated that outpaced the increased in revenues
of 21.8%.
Depreciation and Amortization
Depreciation and amortization expense increased by $2.0 million to $13.0 million in 2015 as compared to $11.0 million in 2014. This increase
is primarily attributable to our acquisition of PingTone and Fidelity that contributed to approximately $0.2 million and $0.7 million,
respectively, in depreciation and amortization expense, and an increase in depreciation of $1.0 million resulting from capital expenditures of
$3.4 million and capital lease financing of $1.4 million in 2015.
Selling, General and Administrative Expense
Selling, general and administrative expenses (“SG&A”) was $41.0 million in the year ended December 31, 2015 as compared to $33.2
million in the year ended December 31, 2014. This increase is the result of higher salaries and employee related benefit costs of
approximately $4.4 million driven primarily by an increase in headcount attributable to our acquisition of PingTone and Fidelity, as well as
the expansion of our sales force to accelerate organic growth; marketing and advertising expense of $0.3 million; other miscellaneous
expenses of $0.9 million;and integration costs of approximately $2.2 million associated with our PingTone and Fidelity acquisitions.
Operating Loss
Our operating loss was $9.0 million for the year ending December 31, 2015 as compared to $1.8 million for 2014. This increase in operating
loss is driven primarily by an increase in SG&A of approximately $7.8 million and depreciation and amortization expense of $2.0 million.
Interest Expense
Interest expense was approximately $6.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 and 2014. For the year ended December 31, 2015,
we recognized interest expense of approximately $4.9 million related to senior secured borrowings, $0.01 million of interest expense on a
related party note, $0.2 million in interest expense from our capital lease financing program, and approximately $0.9 million in interest
expense associated with debt discount and debt issuance costs amortization.
Loss on Extinguishment of Debt
During the year ended December 31, 2015, we recognized a loss on extinguishment of debt of $2.7 million as a result of debt discount and a
debt issuance costs write-off of $1.7 million and a prepayment penalty of approximately $1.0 million associated with the early retirement of
approximately $20.0 million of borrowings under one of our senior facilities.
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Change in Fair Value of Derivative Liabilities
During the year ended December 31, 2015, we recognized a gain on the change in fair value of our derivative liabilities in the amount of
$1.8 million as compared to a gain of $5.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2014. These gains are related to the warrants that we
issued to our senior lenders in 2012 and 2013 and to purchasers of our Series B-2 Preferred Stock, the terms of which require them to be
treated as liabilities and not as equity instruments. The changes in their fair value are required to be recorded through the statement of
operations at each accounting period. These warrants are valued using an option pricing model and other valuation models, such that
increases in Fusion’s stock price result in a higher valuation of the derivative and a charge to our income statement, and decreases in Fusion’s
stock price result in a lower valuation and a gain being recorded in our income statement.
As part of a debt refinancing undertaken by us in August 2015, the lenders under our then existing senior facility exercised warrants to
purchase 728,333 shares of Fusion common stock. As a result of this exercise, the Company recognized a reduction in the derivative
liability of $364,167 with a reclassification to equity.
During the year ended December 31, 2015, warrants to purchase 320,000 shares of Fusion common stock that contained a downward
adjustment of the exercise price were modified to remove this provision and thus qualified for equity treatment. As a result. The Company
reclassified $0.7 million (the fair value of the derivative liability relative to the modified warrant at the date of the amendment) from the
derivative liability into equity.
We expect that we will be subject to additional fluctuations in our income statement in 2016 and beyond based on changes in Fusion’s stock
price and the corresponding changes in fair value of our derivative liabilities associated with the warrants issued in connection with our
Series B-2 Preferred Stock.
Net Loss
We had a net loss of $8.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 as compared to $2.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2014
mainly due to the increase in SG&A of approximately $7.8 million, loss on extinguishment of debt of $2.7 million, and depreciation and
amortization expense of $2.0 million, offset, in part, by $3.3 million gain on the change in the fair value of the derivative.
LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
Since our inception, we have incurred significant net losses. At December 31, 2015, we had working capital of approximately $1.7 million
and stockholders’ equity of approximately $14.5 million. At December 31, 2014, we had working capital of $2.1 million and stockholders’
equity of approximately $13.3 million. Our consolidated cash balance at December 31, 2015 was $7.5 million as compared to $6.4 million at
December 31, 2014. While we believe we have sufficient cash to fund our operations and meet our operating and debt obligations for the next
twelve months, we may be required to raise additional capital to support our business plan. There can be no assurances that such funds will be
available to the Company as and when needed or on terms deemed by us to be acceptable.
During 2015 and for most of 2014, we relied primarily on the sale of Fusion’s equity securities and the cash generated from our Business
Services segment to fund operations. On December 8, 2015, we sold approximately 2.6 million shares of Fusion common stock for $5.6
million. We intend to use the net proceeds from this offering for working capital and other general corporate purposes.
We have never paid cash dividends on our common stock, and we do not anticipate paying cash dividends on our common stock in the
foreseeable future. We intend to retain all of our earnings, if any, for general corporate purposes, and, if appropriate, to finance the expansion
of our business. Subject to the rights of holders of our outstanding preferred stock, any future determination to pay dividends is at the
discretion of Fusion’s Board of Directors, and will be dependent upon our financial condition, operating results, capital requirements, general
business conditions, the terms of our senior debt and other factors that Fusion’s Board of Directors and senior management consider
appropriate.
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The holders of our Series A-1 Preferred Stock, Series A-2 Preferred Stock and Series A-4 Preferred Stock (collectively, the “Series A
Preferred Stock”) are entitled to receive cumulative dividends of 8% per annum payable in arrears, as and if declared by Fusion’s Board of
Directors. The holders of the Series B-2 Preferred Stock are entitled to receive quarterly dividends at an annual rate of 6%. These dividends
can be paid, at the Company’s option, either in cash or, under certain circumstances, in shares of Fusion common stock.
As of December 31, 2015, Fusion’s Board of Directors had not declared any cash dividends on the Series A Preferred Stock, and the Company
had accumulated approximately $4.3 million of undeclared preferred stock dividends. The Fusion Board of Directors declared a dividend of
$1.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 on the Series B-2 Preferred Stock, which, as permitted by the terms of the Series B-2
Preferred Stock, was paid in the form of 434,201 shares of Fusion’s common stock.
In December 2015, the Company entered into an Amended and Restated Credit Facility with Opus Bank (the “Amended Credit Facility”),
which facility amended and restated, in its entirety, the $40.0 million credit facility originally entered into by us with Opus Bank in August
2015. As was the case with the original Opus facility, the Amended Credit Facility consists of a $15.0 million credit facility and a $25.0
million term loan. All borrowings under the Amended Credit Facility bear interest at a rate equal to the higher of (a) the rate of interest in
effect for such day as publicly announced from time to time by the Wall Street Journal as its “prime rate” (or the average prime rate if a high
and a low prime rate are therein reported) plus the Applicable Margin then in effect at such time, or (b) 3.25% plus the Applicable Margin and
are secured by a first priority security interest in all of the assets of Fusion and its subsidiaries, including the capital stock of each such
subsidiary. Under the Amended Credit Facility, “Applicable Margin” is calculated based on the ratio of Senior Indebtedness to Adjusted
EBITDA (each as defined in the Credit Agreement) and ranges from 1.25% to 2.00% based on the ratio level. In addition, subject to certain
limitations, Fusion and certain of its subsidiaries have guaranteed the obligations of the borrower under the Amended Credit Facility,
including its obligations to repay all borrowings. The maturity date of amounts borrowed under the credit facility is four years or August 28,
2019, and the maturity date of any amounts borrowed under the term loan is five years or August 28, 2020. The Amended Credit Facility
contains a number of affirmative and negative covenants, including but not limited to, restrictions on paying indebtedness subordinate to
borrowings under the Credit Agreement, incurring additional indebtedness, making capital expenditures, dividend payments and cash
distributions by subsidiaries. The Credit Agreement also requires on-going compliance with various financial covenants, including a maximum
senior leverage ratio, fixed charge coverage ratio and minimum levels of earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization. In
addition, effective December 31, 2015, the Company was no longer required to maintain a minimum unencumbered cash bank balance of no
less than $1.0 million at all times.
As of December 31, 2015, the Company has borrowed $15.0 million under the credit facility and $25.0 million under the term loan. We used
the proceeds to fund our acquisition of Fidelity and RootAxcess, and to retire approximately $11.0 million of notes issued under the Praesidian
Facility (as defined below). The Company pays interest monthly at an initial rate of 4.5%, and paid interest expense of approximately
$148,000 during the year just ended. As of December 31, 2015, we were in compliance with all the financial covenants in the Amended
Credit Agreement.
Simultaneous with the execution of the Amended Credit Agreement, the Company executed the Fourth Amended Share Purchase Agreement
with Praesidian Capital Opportunity Fund III, L.P., Praesidian Capital Opportunity Fund IIIA, LP and United Insurance Company of America
(the “Fourth Amended SPA”). The Fourth Amended SPA amended and restated the terms of the Third Amended and Restated Securities
Purchase Agreement and Security Agreement (the “Third Amendment”). The Third Amendment amended and restated the terms of second
amended and restated agreement, which itself amended and restated earlier versions of this securities purchase agreement. The Third
Amendment, together with each earlier version of this facility are hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Praesidian Facility”).
Specifically, the Fourth Amended SPA amended the Third Amendment to (i) provide the consent of the continuing lenders to the acquisition
of Fidelity (ii) joined Fidelity as a guarantor and credit party under the Fourth Amended SPA, and (iii) modify or eliminate certain of the
financial covenants contained in the Third Amendment, in specific, the requirement to maintain a minimum unencumbered cash bank balance
of $1.0 million at all times effective as of December 31, 2015. As of December 31, 2015, we were in compliance with all the financial
covenants in the Fourth Amended SPA.
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Under the Third Amendment, approximately $11.0 million of notes held by Plexus Fund II, L.P., Plexus Funds III, L.P. and Plexus Fund QP
III, L.P. (collectively, “Plexus”) were paid in full with borrowings under the Opus credit facility (see Note 13), and $9.0 million of the original
notes held by Plexus were paid using the proceeds from the sale of newly authorized Series F Notes in the aggregate principal amount of $9.0
million, bearing interest at 10.8% annually and having a maturity date of February 28, 2021. In addition, under the terms of the Third
Amendment, the maturity date of all previously issued notes were extended to February 28, 2021 and the continuing lenders agreed to
subordinate their notes to borrowings extended under the Opus facility. The following notes have been issued by us under the Fourth
Amended SPA:
● Series A and B Notes. The Company sold $6.5 million aggregate principal amount of Series A notes, bearing interest at the
original rate of 10.0% annually, and $10.0 million aggregate principal amount of Series B notes bearing interest at the rate of 11.5%
annually in October 2012, the proceeds of which were used to finance the acquisition of NBS.
● Series C and D Notes. The Company sold $0.5 million aggregate principal amount of Series C notes and $25.0 million aggregate
principal amount of Series D notes in December 2013, to finance the acquisition of certain assets of Broadvox.
● Series E Notes. The Company sold $5.0 million aggregate principal amount of Series E notes in October 2014 to fund its
acquisition of PingTone.
● Series F Notes. The Company sold $9.0 million aggregate principal amount of Series F notes in August 2015 to retire a portion of
the approximately $20.0 million of notes held by Plexus.
At December 31, 2015, we have approximately $34.0 million principal amount of notes outstanding under the Fourth Amended SPA.
For the year ended December 31, 2014, we exceeded the limit on capital expenditures set forth in the Praesidian Agreement, which constituted
an event of default thereunder. On March 27, 2015, the holders of the holders of the notes waived the event of default for 2014. As a result of
the amendment, we were in compliance with the capital expenditure limit for the year ended December 31, 2014.
At various times during the first six months of 2015, the Company was not in compliance with certain covenants contained in the Praesidian
Facility. Specifically, we were not in compliance with our minimum EBITDA and Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio covenants and we failed to
raise additional equity within the time frame committed in the facility. These events of default were waived by the note holders. As a result,
we were in compliance with our obligations under the original credit agreement as of June 30, 2015. The Company is in compliance with the
new covenants (see Note 14) at December 31, 2015.
For the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, we paid interest of approximately $4.6 million under the Praesidian facility.
We have a note payable outstanding of approximately $1.2 million from Marvin Rosen, the Chairman of Fusion’s Board of Directors. This
note is subordinated to all amounts borrowed under the Amended Credit Facility and the Fourth Amended SPA. This note is unsecured, pays
interest monthly at an annual rate of 7%, and matures 120 days after all borrowings under the Amended Credit Facility are paid in full. For
the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, we paid interest of approximately $97,000 on this note.
We have entered into various capital lease agreements to finance the purchase of property and equipment, at interest rates generally ranging
from 5.3% to 6.6%. Scheduled principal payments under these leases for the year ended December 31, 2016 is approximately $1.0 million.
On September 12, 2011, we entered into a purchase and sale agreement with Prestige, whereby we may sell certain of our Carrier Services
accounts receivable to Prestige at a discount in order to improve our liquidity and cash flow. Under the terms of that agreement, Prestige pays
a percentage of the face amount of the receivables at the time of sale, and the remainder, net of the discount, is paid to us within two business
days after Prestige receives payment on
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those receivables, which generally have 15 to 30 day payment terms. For the year ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, proceeds from the
accounts receivable factoring arrangement was $1.8 million and $3.8 million, respectively. We may continue to utilize this agreement with
Prestige to supplement our working capital needs until such time as we can consummate a traditional working capital line of credit.
The following table sets forth a summary of our cash flows for the periods indicated:
Year Ended December 31,
2015

Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities
Net cash used in investing activities
Net cash provided by financing activities
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period

2014

$

(152,603) $ 2,160,915
(30,863,462)
(9,327,900)
32,111,925
7,435,093
1,095,860
268,108
6,444,683
6,176,575
$ 7,540,543 $ 6,444,683

Cash (used in) provided by operating activities was $(0.2) million and $2.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 and 2014,
respectively. The following table illustrates the primary components of our cash flows from operations:
Year Ended December 31,
2015
2014

Net loss
Non-cash expenses, gains and losses
Accounts receivable
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Other
Cash (used in) provided by operating activities

$ (8,229,825) $ (2,567,142)
7,421,855
8,135,273
(883,253)
(1,406,348)
2,005,632
(1,534,841)
(467,012)
(466,027)
$
(152,603) $ 2,160,915

Cash used in investing activities was approximately $30.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 as compared to $9.3 million for the
year ended December 31, 2014. For the year ended December 31, 2015, we paid approximately $28.5 million in cash, net of cash aquired,
for our aquisitions, and had capital expenditures of $3.4 million. For the year ended December 31, 2014, we paid $7.3 million in cash, net of
cash acquired, for PingTone, and had capital expenditures of $3.8 million in 2014. In addition, $1.0 million of unrestricted cash was returned
to us in 2015.
Cash provided by financing activities was $32.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 as compared to $7.4 million for the year
ended December 31, 2014. During 2015, we raised approximately $5.6 million from the sale of equity securities, issued $9.0 million of
Series F notes, borrowed $40.0 million under the Amended Credit Facility to fund our acquisitions of Fidelity and RootAxcess and to retire
outstanding notes of approximately $20.0 million, and made debt service and equipment financing payments of approximately $1.5
million. For the year ended December 31, 2014, we raised approximately $4.0 million from the sale of equity securities, issued $5.0 million
of Series E notes to fund our acquisition of PingTone and made debt service and equipment financing payments of approximately $1.4
million.
OTHER MATTERS
Inflation
We do not believe inflation has a significant effect on our operations at this time.
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Off Balance Sheet Arrangements
Through December 31, 2015, we did not have any relationships with unconsolidated organizations or financial partnerships, such as structured
finance or special purpose entities that would have been established for the purpose of facilitating off-balance sheet arrangements or other
commercially narrow or limited purposes.
ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK.
Not applicable for smaller reporting companies.
ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA.
The Company’s consolidated financial statements required by this Item are included after Item 15 of this report.
ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE.
None
ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES.
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
We maintain disclosure controls and procedures, as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"), that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in Exchange Act reports is
recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in the rules and forms of the SEC and that such information is
accumulated and communicated to our management, including our principal executive officer and our president, who also serves as our
principal financial officer, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Any controls and procedures, no matter how well
designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives.
Our management, with the participation of our principal executive officer and our principal financial officer, has evaluated the effectiveness
of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2015. Based upon that evaluation and subject to the
foregoing, our principal executive officer and principal financial officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective
to accomplish their objectives. In designing and evaluating our disclosure controls and procedures, management recognizes that any
disclosure controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurances of achieving the
desired control objectives. In addition, the design of disclosure controls and procedures must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints
and that management is required to apply its judgment in evaluating the benefits of possible controls and procedures relative to their costs.
Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a15(f) of the Exchange Act). Management conducted an assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting based
on criteria set forth in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission. Based on the assessment, management concluded that the internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December
31, 2015 to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements in
accordance with U.S. GAAP.
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Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer,
we conducted an evaluation of any changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and
15D-15(f) under the Exchange Act) that occurred during the year ended December 31, 2015. Based on that evaluation, our principal executive
officer and principal accounting officer concluded that there has not been any material change in our internal control over financial reporting
during the year ended December 31, 2015 that materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over
financial reporting.
ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION.
Not applicable.
PART III
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE.
As permitted by Instruction G(3) to Form 10-K, the information required by this Item has been omitted but will be filed by us on or prior to
April 30, 2016.
ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION.
As permitted by Instruction G(3) to Form 10-K, the information required by this Item has been omitted but will be filed by us on or prior to
April 30, 2016.
ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS.
As permitted by Instruction G(3) to Form 10-K, the information required by this Item has been omitted but will be filed by us on or prior to
April 30, 2016.
ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS, RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE.
As permitted by Instruction G(3) to Form 10-K, the information required by this Item has been omitted but will be filed by us on or prior to
April 30, 2016.
ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES.
As permitted by Instruction G(3) to Form 10-K, the information required by this Item has been omitted but will be filed by us on or prior to
April 30, 2016.
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PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES.
(a) (1) Financial Statements.
The consolidated financial statements filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K are identified in the Index to Consolidated Financial
Statements.
(a) (2) Exhibits.
The following exhibits are filed herewith or are incorporated by reference to exhibits previously filed with the SEC.
Exhibit
No.
3.1
3.2
10.1
10.1.1
10.2
10.3
10.4
10.4.1
10.5
10.5.1
10.6
10.7
10.8
10.9
10.10
10.11
10.12
10.13

Description
Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (*)
Bylaws (*)
1998 Stock Option Plan (*)
2009 Stock Option Plan(1)
Employment Agreement, dated as of November 5, 2015, between registrant and Matthew D. Rosen (16)
Form of Warrant to Purchase Common Stock (*)
Lease Agreement between registrant and SLG Graybar Sublease, LLC for Suite 1718 at 420 Lexington Avenue, New York, NY
office (*)
Lease Modification Agreement dated November 19, 2014, between registrant and SLG Graybar Sublease, LLC for the 420
Lexington Avenue, New York, NY office (13)
Lease Agreement between registrant and Fort Lauderdale Crown Center, Inc. for the Fort Lauderdale, Florida office, as amended
(*)
Sixth Amendment dated July 23, 2014, to Lease Agreement between registrant and Fort Lauderdale Crown Center, Inc., for the
Fort Lauderdale, Florida office (13)
Warrant to Purchase Common Stock issued by registrant to Marvin Rosen, dated July 31, 2002 (*)
Form of Promissory Note and Security Agreement (2)
Non-Competition Agreement between registrant and Marvin Rosen (*)
Form of Warrant (3)
Purchase and Sale Agreement dated September 12, 2011 between registrant and Prestige Capital Corporation (4)
Membership Interest Purchase and Sale Agreement dated January 30th, 2012 between the registrant, Network Billing Systems,
LLC, Jonathan Kaufman, and Christiana Trust as trustee of the LK Trust (5)
Asset Purchase and Sale Agreement dated January 30th, 2012 between the registrant, Interconnect Systems Group II LLC,
Jonathan Kaufman, Lisa Kaufman as trustee of the JK Trust and Jonathan Kaufman as trustee of the LKII Trust (5)
Amendment No. 1 dated June 6, 2013 to the Asset Purchase and Sale Agreement dated January 30th, 2012 between the registrant,
Interconnect Systems Group II LLC, Jonathan Kaufman, Lisa Kaufman as trustee of the JK Trust and Jonathan Kaufman as
trustee of the LKII Trust (12)
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10.14
10.15
10.16
10.17
10.18
10.19
10.20
10.21
10.21.1
10.22
10.23
10.24
10.25
10.26
10.27
10.28
10.29
10.30
10.31

Amendment No. 1 dated June 6, 2013 to the Membership Interest Purchase and Sale Agreement dated January 30th, 2012
between the registrant, Network Billing Systems, LLC, Jonathan Kaufman, and Christiana Trust as trustee of the LK Trust (12)
Amendment No. 2 dated August 20, 2012 to the Asset Purchase and Sale Agreement dated January 30, 2012 between the
registrant, Fusion NBS Acquisition Corp., Interconnect Services Group II LLC, Jonathan Kaufman, Lisa Kaufman as trustee of
the JK Trust and Jonathan Kaufman as trustee of the LKII Trust (6)
Amendment No. 2 dated August 20, 2012 to the Membership Interest Purchase and Sale Agreement dated January 30, 2012
between the registrant, Fusion NBS Acquisition Corp., Network Billing Systems, LLC, Jonathan Kaufman and Christiana Trust
as trustee of the LK Trust (6)
Amendment No. 3 dated September 21, 2012 to the Asset Purchase and Sale Agreement dated January 30, 2012 between the
registrant, Fusion NBS Acquisition Corp., Interconnect Services Group II LLC, Jonathan Kaufman, Lisa Kaufman as trustee of
the JK Trust and Jonathan Kaufman as trustee of the LKII Trust (6)
Amendment No. 3 dated September 21, 2012 to the Membership Interest Purchase and Sale Agreement dated January 30, 2012
between the registrant, Fusion NBS Acquisition Corp., Network Billing Systems, LLC, Jonathan Kaufman and Christiana Trust
as trustee of the LK Trust (6)
Amendment No. 4 dated October 24, 2012 to the Asset Purchase and Sale Agreement dated January 30, 2012 between the
registrant, Fusion NBS Acquisition Corp., Interconnect Services Group II LLC, Jonathan Kaufman, Lisa Kaufman as trustee of
the JK Trust and Jonathan Kaufman as trustee of the LKII Trust (6)
Amendment No. 4 dated October 24, 2012 to the Membership Interest Purchase and Sale Agreement dated January 30, 2012
between the registrant, Fusion NBS Acquisition Corp., Network Billing Systems, LLC, Jonathan Kaufman and Christiana Trust
as trustee of the LK Trust (6)
Lease Agreement dated October 1, 2012 by and between Manchester Realty, LLC and Fusion NBS Acquisition Corp (8)
Lease Modification Agreement, dated October 1, 2014 by and between 280 Holdings, LLC (successor in interest to Manchester
Realty, LLC) and Fusion NBS Acquisition Corp (13)
Series A Promissory Note dated October 29, 2012 payable to Praesidian Fund III (6)
Series B Promissory Note dated October 29, 2012 payable to Praesidian Fund III Praesidian Fund III Series B Note (6)
Series A Promissory Note dated October 29, 2012 payable to Praesidian Fund III-A (6)
Series B Promissory Note dated October 29, 2012 payable to Praesidian Fund III-A (6)
Praesidian Fund III Common Stock Purchase Warrant dated October 29, 2012 (6)
Praesidian Fund III-A Common Stock Purchase Warrant dated October 29, 2012 (6)
Plexus Fund II Common Stock Purchase Warrant dated October 29, 2012 (6)
Intellectual Property Security Agreement dated as of October 29, 2012 by Fusion Telecommunications International, Inc. and
Network Billing systems, LLC, in favor of Praesidian Capital Opportunity Fund III, LP, Praesidian Capital Opportunity Fund
III-A, LP, and Plexus Fund II, LP (6)
Intercreditor and Subordination Agreement, dated as of August 28, 2015, by and among Marvin Rosen, Fusion
Telecommunications International, Inc., and Opus Bank, as agent (1)
Intercreditor Agreement dated as of October 29, 2012, by and among Prestige Capital Corporation, Praesidian Capital
Opportunity Fund III, LP, Praesidian Capital Opportunity Fund III-A, LP, and Plexus Fund II, LP (6)
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Pledge Agreement dated as of October 29, 2012 by and among Fusion Telecommunications International, Inc., Fusion NBS
Acquisition Corp., Praesidian Capital Opportunity Fund III, LP, Praesidian Capital Opportunity Fund III-A, LP, Plexus Fund
II, LP and Praesidian Capital Opportunity Fund III as agent (6)
Right of First Refusal Agreement dated as of October 29, 2012 by and among Fusion Telecommunications International, Inc.,
Praesidian Capital Opportunity Fund III, LP, Praesidian Capital Opportunity Fund III-A, LP, Plexus Fund II, LP and
Praesidian Capital Opportunity Fund III as agent (6)
Management Rights Agreement dated as of October 29, 2012 by and among Fusion Telecommunications International, Inc.,
Fusion NBS Acquisition Corp. and Praesidian Capital Opportunity Fund III (6)
Management Rights Agreement dated as of October 29, 2012 by and among Fusion Telecommunications International, Inc.,
Fusion NBS Acquisition Corp. and Praesidian Capital Opportunity Fund III-A (6)
Management Rights Agreement dated as of October 29, 2012 by and among Fusion Telecommunications International, Inc.,
Fusion NBS Acquisition Corp., and Plexus Fund II, LP (6)
Asset Purchase and Sale Agreement effective as of August 30, 2013 by and among Fusion Telecommunications International,
Inc., Fusion Broadvox Acquisition Corp.; BroadvoxGo!, LLC; and Cypress Communications, LLC (7)
First Amendment to the Asset Purchase and Sale Agreement effective as of November 15, 2013 by and among Fusion
Telecommunications International, Inc., Fusion Broadvox Acquisition Corp.; BroadvoxGo!, LLC,; and Cypress
Communications, LLC (8)
Second Amendment to the Asset Purchase and Sale Agreement effective as of December 16, 2013 by and among Fusion
Telecommunications International, Inc., Fusion Broadvox Acquisition Corp.; BroadvoxGo!, LLC,; and Cypress
Communications, LLC (9)
Third Amendment to Securities Purchase Agreement is entered into as of December 16, 2013, by and among Fusion NBS
Acquisition Corp, Fusion Telecommunications International, Inc., Network Billing Systems, LLC, Praesidian Capital
Opportunity Fund III, LP, Praesidian Capital Opportunity Fund III-A, LP, and Plexus Fund II, LP, and Praesidian Capital
Opportunity Fund III, LP as agent (9)
Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant (10)
Form of Registration Rights Agreement (10)
Form of Series C Note (10)
First Amendment To Intercreditor Agreement dated as of December 31, 2013 by and among Prestige Capital Corporation,
Praesidian Capital Opportunity Fund III, LP, Praesidian Capital Opportunity Fund III-A, LP, Plexus Fund II, L.P., Plexus
Fund III QP, L.P., United Insurance Company of America, Fusion NBS Acquisition Corp., Fusion Telecommunications
International, Inc., Network Billing Systems, LLC and Fusion BVX LLC (10)
Form of Series D Note dated December 31, 2013 (10)
Form of Management Rights Letter dated December 31, 2013 (10)
Form of Lenders’ Warrant dated December 31, 2013 (10)
Joinder Agreement dated as of December 31, 2013 by and among Fusion Telecommunications International, Inc., Fusion NBS
Acquisition Corp., Fusion BVX LLC in favor of Praesidian Capital Opportunity Fund III, LP, Praesidian Capital Opportunity
Fund III-A, LP, Plexus Fund II, L.P., Plexus Fund III, L.P., Plexus Fund QP III, L.P., and United Insurance Company Of
America (10)
Assignment and Assumption Agreement dated as of December 31, 2013 by and among BroadvoxGo!, LLC, Cypress
Communications, LLC, Fusion Telecommunications International, Inc., and Fusion BVX, LLC (10)
Bill of Sale dated as of December 31, 2013 delivered by BroadvoxGo!, LLC and Cypress Communications, LLC (10)
Limited Trademark License Agreement dated as of December 31, 2013 by and among Broadvox, LLC; Fusion
Telecommunications International, Inc. and Fusion BVX LLC (10)
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Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of October 15, 2014, by and among Fusion Telecommunications International,
Inc., Fusion PTC Acquisition Inc., PingTone Communications, Inc., the Majority Stockholders of PingTone
Communications, Inc. and J Shelby Bryan, as Stockholders Representative (13)
Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of December 8, 2015, by and between Fusion NBS Acquisition Corp., as
borrower, Opus Bank, as administrative agent and a lender, and each other lender from time to time a party thereto (16)
Fourth Amended and Restated Securities Purchase Agreement and Security Agreement, dated as of December 8, 2015, by
and among Fusion NBS Acquisition Corp., as borrower, Fusion Telecommunications International, Inc., Network Billing
Systems, L.L.C., Fusion BVX, LLC, PingTone Communications, Inc., Fidelity Access Networks, LLC, Fidelity Connect
LLC, Fidelity Voice Services, LLC, Fidelity Access Networks, Inc., Praesidian Capital Opportunity Fund III, L.P.,
Praesidian Capital Opportunity Fund III-A, LP and United Insurance Company of America (16)
Stock Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated as of December 8, 2015, by and among Fusion NBS Acquisition Corp., Mitch
Marks, Ron Kohn and Robert Marks (16)
Code of Ethics of Registrant (13)
List of Subsidiaries (1)
Consent of EisnerAmper LLP(1)
Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (1)
Certification of President Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (1)
Section 1350 Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (1)
Section 1350 Certification of President Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (1)
XBRL Instance Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

Originally filed with the Company’s Registration Statement no. 33-120412 and incorporated herein by reference.

** Originally filed with the Company’s Registration Statement no. 33-120206 and incorporated herein by reference.
*** Pursuant to Rule 406T of Regulation S-T, these interactive data files are deemed not filed or part of a registration statement or
prospectus for purposes of Sections 11 or 12 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, except as expressly set forth by specific
reference in such filing, are deemed not filed for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and
otherwise are not subject to liability under those sections.
(1) Filed herewith.
(2) Filed as an Exhibit to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed April 13, 2011, and incorporated herein by reference.
(3) Filed as an Exhibit to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on December 15, 2006, and incorporated herein by
reference.
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2011 and incorporated herein by reference.
(5) Filed as an Exhibit to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed March 30, 2012 and incorporated herein by reference.
(6) Filed as an Exhibit to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on November 2, 2012 and incorporated herein by reference.
(7) Filed as an Exhibit to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on September 4, 2013 and incorporated herein by reference.
(8) Filed as an Exhibit to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on November 21, 2013 and incorporated herein by reference.
(9) Filed as an Exhibit to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on December 19, 2013 and incorporated herein by reference.
(10)Filed as an Exhibit to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K/A filed on January 7, 2014 and incorporated herein by reference.
(11)Filed as an Exhibit to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 31, 2006, and incorporated herein by reference.
(12)Filed as an Exhibit to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on August 14, 2013 and incorporated herein by reference.
(13)Filed as an Exhibit to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated November 3, 2014 and incorporated herein by reference.
(14)Filed as an Exhibit to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 30, 2015 and incorporated herein by reference.
(15)Filed as an Exhibit to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 8-K filed on November 10, 2015 and incorporated herein by reference.
(16)Filed as an Exhibit to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 8-K filed on December 14, 2015, and incorporated herein by reference.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this Annual Report on Form 10-K to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized on the date indicated.
FUSION TELECOMMUNICATIONS
INTERNATIONAL, INC.
Date: March 28, 2016

By: /s/ MATTHEW D. ROSEN
Matthew D. Rosen
Chief Executive Officer and Principal Executive
Officer

Date: March 28, 2016

By: /s/ GORDON HUTCHINS, JR.
Gordon Hutchins, Jr.
President, Chief Operating Officer,
Principal Accounting Officer and Acting Chief
Financial Officer
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POWER OF ATTORNEY
KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENT, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints Matthew D. Rosen
and Gordon Hutchins, Jr., jointly and severally, his attorneys-in-fact, each with the power of substitution, for him in any and all capacities, to
sign any amendments to this Report on Form 10-K, and to file the same, with exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith,
with the Securities and Exchange Commission, hereby ratifying and confirming all that each of said attorney-in-fact, or his substitute or
substitutes, may do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, this Report on Form 10-K has been signed by the following persons
in the capacities and on the date indicated:
Signature

Title

/s/ MARVIN S. ROSEN
Marvin S. Rosen

Chairman of the Board

/s/ PHILIP D. TURITS
Philip D. Turits

Director

/s/ MATTHEW D. ROSEN
Matthew D. Rosen

Chief Executive Officer and Director

/s/ E. ALAN BRUMBERGER
E. Alan Brumberger

Director

Date

March 28, 2016
March 28, 2016
March 28, 2016
March 28, 2016
Director

Jack Rosen
/s/ WILLIAM RUBIN
William Rubin

March 28, 2016
Director
March 28, 2016
Director

Larry Blum

March 28, 2016
Director

Paul C. O’Brien
/s/ MICHAEL J. DEL GIUDICE
Michael J. Del Giudice

March 28, 2016
Director
March 28, 2016
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registrant, Fusion NBS Acquisition Corp., Interconnect Services Group II LLC, Jonathan Kaufman, Lisa Kaufman as trustee
of the JK Trust and Jonathan Kaufman as trustee of the LKII Trust (6)
Amendment No. 2 dated August 20, 2012 to the Membership Interest Purchase and Sale Agreement dated January 30, 2012
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Trust as trustee of the LK Trust (6)
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Trust as trustee of the LK Trust (6)
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III-A, LP, and Plexus Fund II, LP (6)
Intercreditor and Subordination Agreement, dated as of August 28, 2015, by and among Marvin Rosen, Fusion
Telecommunications International, Inc., and Opus Bank, as agent (1)
Intercreditor Agreement dated as of October 29, 2012, by and among Prestige Capital Corporation, Praesidian Capital
Opportunity Fund III, LP, Praesidian Capital Opportunity Fund III-A, LP, and Plexus Fund II, LP (6)
45

FUSION TELECOMMUNICATIONS INTERNATIONAL, INC.
2015 ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K
10.32
10.33
10.34
10.35
10.36
10.37
10.38
10.39
10.40

10.41
10.42
10.43
10.44

10.45
10.46
10.47
10.48

10.49
10.50
10.51

Pledge Agreement dated as of October 29, 2012 by and among Fusion Telecommunications International, Inc., Fusion NBS
Acquisition Corp., Praesidian Capital Opportunity Fund III, LP, Praesidian Capital Opportunity Fund III-A, LP, Plexus Fund
II, LP and Praesidian Capital Opportunity Fund III as agent (6)
Right of First Refusal Agreement dated as of October 29, 2012 by and among Fusion Telecommunications International,
Inc., Praesidian Capital Opportunity Fund III, LP, Praesidian Capital Opportunity Fund III-A, LP, Plexus Fund II, LP and
Praesidian Capital Opportunity Fund III as agent (6)
Management Rights Agreement dated as of October 29, 2012 by and among Fusion Telecommunications International, Inc.,
Fusion NBS Acquisition Corp. and Praesidian Capital Opportunity Fund III (6)
Management Rights Agreement dated as of October 29, 2012 by and among Fusion Telecommunications International, Inc.,
Fusion NBS Acquisition Corp. and Praesidian Capital Opportunity Fund III-A (6)
Management Rights Agreement dated as of October 29, 2012 by and among Fusion Telecommunications International, Inc.,
Fusion NBS Acquisition Corp., and Plexus Fund II, LP (6)
Asset Purchase and Sale Agreement effective as of August 30, 2013 by and among Fusion Telecommunications
International, Inc., Fusion Broadvox Acquisition Corp.; BroadvoxGo!, LLC; and Cypress Communications, LLC (7)
First Amendment to the Asset Purchase and Sale Agreement effective as of November 15, 2013 by and among Fusion
Telecommunications International, Inc., Fusion Broadvox Acquisition Corp.; BroadvoxGo!, LLC,; and Cypress
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Second Amendment to the Asset Purchase and Sale Agreement effective as of December 16, 2013 by and among Fusion
Telecommunications International, Inc., Fusion Broadvox Acquisition Corp.; BroadvoxGo!, LLC,; and Cypress
Communications, LLC (9)
Third Amendment to Securities Purchase Agreement is entered into as of December 16, 2013, by and among Fusion NBS
Acquisition Corp, Fusion Telecommunications International, Inc., Network Billing Systems, LLC, Praesidian Capital
Opportunity Fund III, LP, Praesidian Capital Opportunity Fund III-A, LP, and Plexus Fund II, LP, and Praesidian Capital
Opportunity Fund III, LP as agent (9)
Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant (10)
Form of Registration Rights Agreement (10)
Form of Series C Note (10)
First Amendment To Intercreditor Agreement dated as of December 31, 2013 by and among Prestige Capital Corporation,
Praesidian Capital Opportunity Fund III, LP, Praesidian Capital Opportunity Fund III-A, LP, Plexus Fund II, L.P., Plexus
Fund III QP, L.P., United Insurance Company of America, Fusion NBS Acquisition Corp., Fusion Telecommunications
International, Inc., Network Billing Systems, LLC and Fusion BVX LLC (10)
Form of Series D Note dated December 31, 2013 (10)
Form of Management Rights Letter dated December 31, 2013 (10)
Form of Lenders’ Warrant dated December 31, 2013 (10)
Joinder Agreement dated as of December 31, 2013 by and among Fusion Telecommunications International, Inc., Fusion
NBS Acquisition Corp., Fusion BVX LLC in favor of Praesidian Capital Opportunity Fund III, LP, Praesidian Capital
Opportunity Fund III-A, LP, Plexus Fund II, L.P., Plexus Fund III, L.P., Plexus Fund QP III, L.P., and United Insurance
Company Of America (10)
Assignment and Assumption Agreement dated as of December 31, 2013 by and among BroadvoxGo!, LLC, Cypress
Communications, LLC, Fusion Telecommunications International, Inc., and Fusion BVX, LLC (10)
Bill of Sale dated as of December 31, 2013 delivered by BroadvoxGo!, LLC and Cypress Communications, LLC (10)
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Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of December 8, 2015, by and between Fusion NBS Acquisition Corp.,
as borrower, Opus Bank, as administrative agent and a lender, and each other lender from time to time a party thereto (16)
Fourth Amended and Restated Securities Purchase Agreement and Security Agreement, dated as of December 8, 2015, by
and among Fusion NBS Acquisition Corp., as borrower, Fusion Telecommunications International, Inc., Network Billing
Systems, L.L.C., Fusion BVX, LLC, PingTone Communications, Inc., Fidelity Access Networks, LLC, Fidelity Connect
LLC, Fidelity Voice Services, LLC, Fidelity Access Networks, Inc., Praesidian Capital Opportunity Fund III, L.P.,
Praesidian Capital Opportunity Fund III-A, LP and United Insurance Company of America (16)
Stock Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated as of December 8, 2015, by and among Fusion NBS Acquisition Corp., Mitch
Marks, Ron Kohn and Robert Marks (16)
Code of Ethics of Registrant (13)
List of Subsidiaries (1)
Consent of EisnerAmper LLP(1)
Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (1)
Certification of President Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (1)
Section 1350 Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (1)
Section 1350 Certification of President Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (1)
XBRL Instance Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

Originally filed with the Company’s Registration Statement no. 33-120412 and incorporated herein by reference.

** Originally filed with the Company’s Registration Statement no. 33-120206 and incorporated herein by reference.
*** Pursuant to Rule 406T of Regulation S-T, these interactive data files are deemed not filed or part of a registration statement or
prospectus for purposes of Sections 11 or 12 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, except as expressly set forth by specific
reference in such filing, are deemed not filed for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and
otherwise are not subject to liability under those sections.
(1) Filed herewith.
(2) Filed as an Exhibit to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed April 13, 2011, and incorporated herein by reference.
(3) Filed as an Exhibit to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on December 15, 2006, and incorporated herein by
reference.
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(5) Filed as an Exhibit to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed March 30, 2012 and incorporated herein by reference.
(6) Filed as an Exhibit to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on November 2, 2012 and incorporated herein by reference.
(7) Filed as an Exhibit to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on September 4, 2013 and incorporated herein by reference.
(8) Filed as an Exhibit to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on November 21, 2013 and incorporated herein by reference.
(9) Filed as an Exhibit to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on December 19, 2013 and incorporated herein by reference.
(10)Filed as an Exhibit to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K/A filed on January 7, 2014 and incorporated herein by reference.
(11)Filed as an Exhibit to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 31, 2006, and incorporated herein by reference.
(12)Filed as an Exhibit to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on August 14, 2013 and incorporated herein by reference.
(13)Filed as an Exhibit to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated November 3, 2014 and incorporated herein by reference.
(14)Filed as an Exhibit to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 30, 2015 and incorporated herein by reference.
(15)Filed as an Exhibit to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 8-K filed on November 10, 2015 and incorporated herein by reference.
(16)Filed as an Exhibit to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 8-K filed on December 14, 2015, and incorporated herein by reference.
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The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Fusion Telecommunications International, Inc.
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Fusion Telecommunications International, Inc. and subsidiaries (the
“Company”) as of December 31, 2015 and 2014, and the related consolidated statements of operations, changes in stockholders’ equity
(deficit), and cash flows for each of the years in the two-year period ended December 31, 2015. The financial statements are the
responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of
material misstatement. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial
reporting. Our audits included consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control
over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a
reasonable basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of Fusion
Telecommunications International, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2015 and 2014, and the consolidated results of their operations
and their cash flows for each of the years in the two-year period ended December 31, 2015, in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America.
/s/ EisnerAmper LLP
New York, New York
March 28, 2016
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FUSION TELECOMMUNICATIONS INTERNATIONAL, INC.
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the Years Ended December 31, 2015 and 2014
PART 1 - FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Item 1. Financial Statements
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
December 31,
2015

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of approximately $309,000 and $245,000,
respectively
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total current assets
Property and equipment, net
Other assets:
Security deposits
Restricted cash
Goodwill
Intangible assets, net
Other assets
Total other assets
TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Notes payable - non-related parties
Due to RootAxcess seller
Equipment financing obligations
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Total current liabilities
Long-term liabilities:
Notes payable - non-related parties, net of discount
Term Loan
Due to RootAxcess seller
Notes payable - related parties
Indebtedness under revolving credit facility
Equipment financing obligations
Derivative liabilities
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders' equity (deficit):
Preferred stock, $0.01 par value, 10,000,000 shares authorized, 23,324 and 26,793 shares issued and
outstanding
Common stock, $0.01 par value, 50,000,000 shares authorized, 12,788,971 and 7,345,028 shares issued
and outstanding
Capital in excess of par value
Accumulated deficit
Total stockholders' equity
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

$

7,540,543

$

6,444,683

7,650,141
1,618,603
16,809,287
14,055,493

7,087,599
927,772
14,460,054
13,478,912

575,038
165,123
27,060,297
45,824,399
1,262,629
74,887,486
$ 105,752,266

648,998
1,164,381
10,397,460
32,432,416
1,165,273
45,808,528
$ 73,747,494

$

$

685,780
300,000
959,380
13,129,225
15,074,385

1,225,000
662,131
10,471,514
12,358,645

31,777,329
25,000,000
333,333
1,074,829
15,000,000
2,085,416
953,005
91,298,297

41,263,934
1,292,878
1,702,704
3,839,569
60,457,730

234

268

127,890
73,449
184,859,082
175,519,459
(170,533,237) (162,303,412)
14,453,969
13,289,764
$ 105,752,266 $ 73,747,494

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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FUSION TELECOMMUNICATIONS INTERNATIONAL, INC.
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the Years Ended December 31, 2015 and 2014
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
Year Ended December 31,
2015
2014
Revenues
Cost of revenues (exclusive of depreciation and amortization, shown separately below)
Gross profit
Depreciation and amortization
Selling, general and administrative expenses (including stock-based compensation of $639,296 for (2015)
and $371,758 for (2014))
Total operating expenses
Operating loss
Other (expenses) income:
Interest expense
Gain on change in fair value of derivative liability
Loss on extinguishment of debt
Other income, net
Total other expenses
Loss before income taxes
Benefit (provision) for income taxes
Net loss
Preferred stock dividends in arrears
Net loss attributable to common stockholders
Basic and diluted loss per common share
Weighted average common shares outstanding:
Basic and diluted

$ 101,694,516
56,724,121
44,970,395
12,975,981
41,009,107
53,985,088
(9,014,693)

33,224,374
44,229,258
(1,775,031)

(6,062,923)
1,843,997
(2,720,355)
63,613
(6,875,668)
(15,890,361)
7,660,536
(8,229,825)
(1,578,220)
$ (9,808,045) $
$
(1.32) $

(5,988,411)
5,161,901
60,450
(766,060)
(2,541,091)
(26,051)
(2,567,142)
(1,746,203)
(4,313,345)
(0.92)

8,873,766

7,132,427

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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$ 92,052,600
49,598,373
42,454,227
11,004,884

FUSION TELECOMMUNICATIONS INTERNATIONAL, INC.
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the Years Ended December 31, 2015 and 2014
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT)
Preferred Stock
Shares

Balance at December
31, 2013
Net loss
Proceeds from the sale
of preferred stock and
warrants, net
Warrants issued in
conjuction with the
issuance of preferred
stock deemed not
indexed to the
Company's common
stock
Discount on related
party note payable, net
of exchanges
Modification of
previously issued
warrants and
reclassification to
stockholders' equity
Conversion of preferred
stock into common
stock
Dividends on preferred
stock
Shares issued as partial
purchase price of
acquired business
Issuance of common
stock for services
rendered
Stock-based
compensation
associated with stock
incentive plans
Balance at December
31, 2014
Net loss
Conversion of preferred
stock into common
stock
Dividends on preferred
stock
Proceeds from the sale
of common stock
Conversion of related
party note to common
stock
Issuance of common
stock in lieu of cash
bonus
Settlement of
outstanding debt with
common stock
Exercise of lenders
warrants
Common stock issued
as part of purchase
price - Fidelity
acquisition
Modification of
previously issued
warrants and
reclassification to
stockholders' equity

23,525

$

$

4,358

(3,469)

Shares

235

6,077,071

$

$

60,770

44

(1,090)

26,793

Common Stock

(11)

$

268

(34)

Capital in
Excess

Accumulated

Stockholders'
Equity

of Par

Deficit

(Deficit)

$ 166,625,595

$ (159,736,270) $
(2,567,142)

6,950,330
(2,567,142)

3,984,382

3,984,426

(1,301,607)

(1,301,607)

372,551

372,551

2,815,609

2,815,609

218,000

2,180

(2,169)

-

299,216

2,992

(2,992)

-

712,250

7,122

2,492,875

2,499,997

38,491

385

163,457

163,842

371,758

371,758

7,345,028

$

73,449

$ 175,519,459

$ (162,303,412) $
(8,229,825)

13,289,764
(8,229,825)

782,550

7,826

(7,792)

-

434,201

4,344

(4,344)

-

2,582,568

25,826

5,604,174

5,630,000

137,615

1,376

298,624

300,000

11,468

115

24,885

25,000

3,700

37

11,840

11,877

728,333

7,282

356,885

364,167

696,508

6,965

1,493,035

1,500,000

678,400

678,400

Issuance of common
stock for services
rendered
Stock-based
compensation
associated with stock
incentive plans
Balance at December
31, 2015

67,000

23,324

$

234

12,788,971

670

$

127,890

244,620

245,290

639,296

639,296

$ 184,859,082

$ (170,533,237) $

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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FUSION TELECOMMUNICATIONS INTERNATIONAL, INC.
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the Years Ended December 31, 2015 and 2014
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
Year Ended December 31,
2014
2015
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Loss on extinguishment on debt
Deferred taxes
Loss on accounts receivable settlement exchanged for equipment
Loss on disposal of property
Bad debt expense
Stock-based compensation
Stock based compensation issued for services rendered by third parties
Amortization of debt discount and deferred financing fees
Gain in the change in fair value of derivative liability
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Other assets
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchase of property and equipment
Proceeds from the sale of property and equipment
Payment for acquisitions, net of cash acquired
Returns of security deposits
Payment of security deposits
Change in restricted cash
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from the sale of preferred stock and warrants, net
Proceeds from sale of common stock
Proceeds from notes payable - non-related parties
Proceeds from term loan
Proceeds from revolving debt
Proceeds from accounts receivable factoring arrangement
Repayments of borrowings to accounts receivable factoring arrangement
Payments on equipment financing obligations
Payment of financing fees
Repayments of notes payable - related parties
Repayments of notes payable - non-related parties
Net cash provided by financing activities
Net change in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period

$ (8,229,825) $ (2,567,142)
12,975,981
1,682,035
(7,710,536)
111,659
37,444
435,376
639,296
245,290
849,307
(1,843,997)

11,004,883
116,638
559,832
371,758
179,717
1,064,346
(5,161,901)

(883,253)
(22,351)
(444,661)
2,005,632
(152,603)

(1,406,348)
(521,002)
54,975
(1,534,841)
2,160,915

(3,440,450)
35,469
(28,457,739)
999,258
(30,863,462)

(3,819,413)
53,846
(7,544,938)
1,983,114
(509)
(9,327,900)

3,984,426
5,630,000
9,000,000
5,000,000
25,000,000
15,000,000
1,789,094
3,787,260
(1,789,094)
(3,787,260)
(887,864)
(453,369)
(623,745)
(160,250)
(310,714)
(21,006,466)
(625,000)
32,111,925
7,435,093
1,095,860
268,108
6,444,683
6,176,575
$ 7,540,543 $ 6,444,683

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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FUSION TELECOMMUNICATIONS INTERNATIONAL, INC.
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Note 1.

Nature of Operations

Fusion Telecommunications International, Inc. is a Delaware corporation incorporated in September 1997 (“Fusion” and together with its
subsidiaries, the “Company”, “we,” “us,” and “our”). The Company is a provider of integrated cloud solutions, including cloud voice, cloud
connectivity, cloud infrastructure, cloud computing, and managed cloud-based applications to businesses of all sizes, and voice over IP
(“VoIP”) - based voice services to other carriers. The Company currently operates in two business segments, Business Services and Carrier
Services.
Note 2.

Significant Accounting Policies

Principles of Consolidation and Basis of Presentation
The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles
(“GAAP”) and include the consolidated accounts of Fusion and its wholly-owned subsidiaries. All intercompany accounts and transactions
have been eliminated in consolidation.
Use of Estimates
The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the
consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the year. On an on-going basis, the Company
evaluates its estimates, including, but not limited to, those related to recognition of revenue, allowance for doubtful accounts; fair value
measurements; asset lives used in computing depreciation and amortization; valuation of intangible assets; accounting for stock options and
other equity awards, particularly related to fair value estimates, accounting for income taxes, contingencies, and litigation. Changes in the
facts or circumstances underlying these estimates could result in material changes, and actual results could differ from those estimates.
These changes in estimates are recognized in the period they are realized.
Reclassifications
Certain reclassifications have been made to the prior year’s financial statements in order to conform to the current year’s presentation. The
reclassifications had no impact on net earnings previously reported.
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on deposit and short-term, highly-liquid investments with maturities of three months or less at the
date of purchase. As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, the carrying value of cash and cash equivalents approximates fair value due to the
short period of time to maturity.
Restricted Cash
Restricted cash consists primarily of cash held in reserve pursuant to the terms of financing arrangements and certificates of deposit that
serve to collateralize outstanding letters of credit. Restricted cash is recorded as current or non-current assets in the consolidated balance
sheets depending on the duration of the restriction and the purpose for which the restriction exists.
At December 31, 2014, the Company had $1.0 million in restricted cash, which it was required to maintain under the terms of its then
existing senior debt facility, and had certificates of deposit collateralizing a letter of credit in the aggregate amount of approximately
$164,000. The letter of credit is required as security for one of the Company’s non-cancelable operating leases for office facilities.
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Under the terms of the Company’s Amended and Restated Secured Credit Agreement, dated as of December 8, 2015 with Opus bank (the
“Amended Credit Facility”) and the Fourth Amended and Restated Securities Purchase Agreement and Security Agreement, dated as of
December 8, 2015, with Praesidian Capital Opportunity Find III, LP (the “Fourth Amended SPA”), the Company is no longer required to
maintain restricted cash of $1.0 million. At December 31, 2015, the Company had certificates of deposit collateralizing a letter of credit
in the aggregate amount of approximately $165,000.
Revenue Recognition
The Company recognizes revenue when persuasive evidence of a sale arrangement exists, delivery has occurred or services have been
rendered, the sales price is fixed and determinable, and collectability is reasonably assured. The Company records provisions against revenue
for billing adjustments, which are based upon estimates derived from factors that include, but are not limited to, historical results, analysis of
credits issued and current economic trends. The provisions for revenue adjustments are recorded as a reduction of revenue when the revenue
is recognized. Below is a summary of the provisions against revenue for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014:
Balance at
Beginning of
Period

Additions to
reserve

Posted Credits
and other
adjustments

Balance at End
of Period

Year ended December 31, 2015

$

312,187

$

1,852,168

$

1,941,310

$

223,045

Year ended December 31, 2014

$

171,425

$

1,986,306

$

1,845,544

$

312,187

The Company’s Business Services revenue includes fixed revenue earned from monthly recurring services provided to customers, for whom
charges are contracted for over a specified period of time, and from variable usage fees charged to customers that purchase the Company’s
Business Services products and services. Revenue recognition commences after the provisioning, testing and acceptance of the service by the
customer. The recurring customer charges continue until the expiration of the contract, or until cancellation of the service by the
customer. To the extent that payments received from a customer are related to a future period, the payment is recorded as deferred revenue
until the service is provided or the usage occurs.
Carrier Services revenue is primarily derived from usage fees charged to other carriers that terminate voice traffic over the Company’s
network, and from the monthly recurring and usage fees charged to customers that purchase the Company’s business products and
services. Variable revenue is earned based on the length of a call, as measured by the number of minutes of duration. It is recognized upon
completion of the call, and is adjusted to reflect the Company’s allowance for billing adjustments. Revenue for each customer is calculated
from information received through the Company’s network switches. The Company’s customized software tracks the information from the
switches and analyzes the call detail records against stored detailed information about revenue rates. This software provides the Company
with the ability to complete a timely and accurate analysis of revenue earned in a period. The Company believes that the nature of this process
is such that recorded revenues are unlikely to be revised in future periods.
Cost of Revenues
Cost of revenues for the Company’s Business Services segment consist of fixed expenses which include monthly recurring charges associated
with certain platform services purchased from other service providers, monthly recurring costs associated with private line services and the
cost of broadband Internet access used to provide service to business customers.
For the Company’s Carrier Services segment, cost of revenues is comprised primarily of costs incurred from other carriers to originate,
transport, and terminate voice calls for the Company’s carrier customers. Thus, the majority of the Company’s cost of revenues for this
segment is variable, based upon the number of minutes actually used by the Company’s customers and the destinations they are calling. Call
activity is tracked and analyzed with customized software that analyzes the traffic flowing through the Company’s network switch. During
each period, the call activity is analyzed and an accrual is recorded for the costs associated with minutes not yet invoiced. This cost accrual is
calculated using minutes from the system and the variable cost of revenue based upon predetermined contractual rates. Fixed expenses reflect
the costs associated with connectivity between the Company’s network infrastructure, including its New Jersey switching facility, and certain
large carrier customers and vendors.
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Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
Accounts receivable are recorded net of an allowance for doubtful accounts. On a periodic basis, the Company evaluates accounts receivable
and records an allowance for doubtful accounts based on the Company’s history of past write-offs, collections experience and current credit
conditions. Specific customer accounts are written off as uncollectible when collection efforts have been exhausted and payments are not
expected to be received. During the periods presented, the Company has not experienced any significant defaults on its accounts receivable.
Below is a summary of the changes in allowance for doubtful accounts for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 (amounts in
thousands):

Balance at
Beginning of
Period

Deductions Write-offs,
Payments and
Other
Adjustments

Additions charged to
expense

Balance at End
of Period

Year ended December 31, 2015

$

245

$

435

$

371

$

309

Year ended December 31, 2014

$

381

$

560

$

696

$

245

Universal service fees charges
In accordance with Federal Communications Commission rules, we are required to contribute to the Federal Universal Service Fund ("USF')
for some of our solutions, which we recover from the customers who purchase the services and remit to the Universal Service Administrative
Company. We present the USF charges that we collect and remit on a net basis, with both collections from our customers and the amounts we
remit, recorded net in Revenues.
Business Combinations
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting. The acquisition method of accounting requires that the
purchase price, including the fair value of contingent consideration, of the acquisition be allocated to the assets acquired and liabilities
assumed using the fair values determined by management as of the acquisition date. The results of all acquisitions are included in our
Consolidated Financial Statements from the date of acquisition.
Goodwill as of the acquisition date, if any, is measured as the excess of consideration transferred over the net of the acquisition date fair
values of assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. While the Company uses its best estimates and assumptions as part of the purchase price
allocation process to accurately value assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the acquisition date, the Company’s estimates are inherently
uncertain and subject to refinement. As a result, during the measurement period, which may be up to one year from the acquisition date, the
Company records adjustments to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed, with the corresponding offset to goodwill to the extent the
Company identifies adjustments to the preliminary purchase price allocation. Upon the conclusion of the measurement period or final
determination of the values of assets acquired or liabilities assumed, whichever comes first, any subsequent adjustments are recorded to the
consolidated statements of operations.
All acquisition related transaction costs, such as banking, legal, accounting incurred in connection with an acquisition are expensed as
incurred in selling, general and administrative expense.
Debt Related Costs
Costs incurred in raising debt are deferred and amortized as interest expense using the effective interest method over the life of the debt.
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Goodwill
Goodwill is the excess of the acquisition cost of a business over the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired. Goodwill at December
31, 2015 and 2014 was approximately $27.1 million and $10.4 million, respectively. All of the Company’s goodwill is attributable to its
Business Services segment.
The following table presents the changes in the carrying amounts of goodwill during the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014:
Balance at December 31, 2013
Increase in goodwill - PingTone acquisition
Adjustment to the preliminary purchase price of Broadvox
Balance at December 31, 2014
Increase in goodwill - RootAxcess acquisition
Increase in goodwill - Fidelity acquisition
Balance at December 31, 2015

$

5,124,130
5,175,372
97,958
10,397,460
159,866
16,502,971
$ 27,060,297

Goodwill is not amortized and is tested for impairment on an annual basis in the fourth quarter of each fiscal year and whenever events or
circumstances change that would more likely than not reduce the fair value of a reporting unit below its carrying amount.
The impairment test for goodwill uses a two-step approach, which is performed at the reporting unit level. The Company has determined that
its reporting units are its operating segments (see Note 23) since that is the lowest level at which discrete, reliable financial and cash flow
information is available. Step one compares the fair value of the reporting unit (calculated using a market approach and/or a discounted cash
flow method) to its carrying value. If the carrying value exceeds the fair value, there is a potential impairment and step two must be
performed. Step two compares the carrying value of the reporting unit’s goodwill to its implied fair value, which is the fair value of the
reporting unit less the fair value of the unit’s assets and liabilities, including identifiable intangible assets. If the implied fair value of
goodwill is less than its carrying amount, an impairment is recognized.
In testing goodwill for impairment, the Company has the option to first assess qualitative factors to determine whether the existence of events
or circumstances leads to a determination that it is more likely than not (more than 50%) that the estimated fair value of a reporting unit is less
than its carrying amount. If the Company elects to perform a qualitative assessment and determines that an impairment is more likely than not,
it is then required to perform a quantitative impairment test, otherwise no further analysis is required. The Company also may elect not to
perform the qualitative assessment and, instead, proceed directly to the quantitative impairment test.
The Company performed qualitative impairment evaluations on its goodwill as of December 31, 2015 and 2014 and determined that there
were no indications that goodwill was impaired.
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets
The Company reviews long-lived assets, including intangible assets, for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount of an asset may not be fully recoverable. If an impairment indicator is present, the Company evaluates recoverability
by a comparison of the carrying amount of the assets to future undiscounted net cash flows expected to be generated by the assets. If the
carrying value of the asset exceeds the projected undiscounted cash flows, the Company is required to estimate the fair value of the asset and
recognize an impairment charge to the extent that the carrying value of the asset exceeds its estimated fair value. The Company did not record
any impairment charges for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, as there were no indicators of impairment.
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Property and Equipment
Property and equipment are stated at cost and are depreciated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets as
follows:
Asset

Network equipment
Furniture and fixtures
Computer equipment and software
Customer premise equipment

Estimated Useful Lives

5
3
3
2

-7
-7
-5
-3

Years
Years
Years
Years

Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful lives of the assets or the term of the associated lease.
Maintenance and repairs are recorded as a period expense, while betterments and improvements are capitalized.
The Company capitalizes a portion of its payroll and related costs for the development of software for internal use and amortizes these costs
over three years. During the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, the Company capitalized costs pertaining to the development of
internally used software in the approximate amount of $911,000 and $783,000, respectively.
Fair Value of Financial Instruments
We apply fair value accounting for all financial assets and liabilities and non-financial assets and liabilities that are recognized or disclosed
at fair value in the financial statements on a recurring basis. We define fair value as the price that would be received from selling an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. When determining the fair value
measurements for assets and liabilities which are required to be recorded at fair value, we consider the principal or most advantageous
market in which we would transact and the market-based risk measurements or assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the
asset or liability, such as risks inherent in valuation techniques, transfer restrictions and credit risk. Fair value is estimated by applying the
following hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputs used to measure fair value into three levels and bases the categorization within the hierarchy
upon the lowest level of input that is available and significant to the fair value measurement:
● Level 1 applies to assets or liabilities for which there are quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the
Company has the ability to access at the measurement date.
● Level 2 applies to assets or liabilities for which there are inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for
the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly, such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets; quoted
prices for identical assets or liabilities in markets with insufficient volume or infrequent transactions (less active markets).
● Level 3 applies to assets or liabilities for which fair value is derived from valuation techniques in which one or more significant
inputs are unobservable, including the Company's own assumptions.
The estimated fair value of financial instruments is determined by the Company using available market information and valuation
methodologies considered to be appropriate. At December 31, 2015 and 2014, the carrying value of the Company’s accounts receivable,
accounts payable and accrued expenses approximate their fair values due to their short maturities.
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Derivative Financial Instruments
For equity and equity indexed instruments with down round provisions, the Company accounts for warrants issued in conjunction with the
issuance of debt or equity securities of the Company in accordance with the guidance contained in Accounting Standards Codification
(“ASC”) Topic 815, Derivatives and Hedging (“ASC 815”). For warrant instruments that are not deemed to be indexed to Fusion’s common
stock, the Company classifies the warrant instrument as a liability at its fair value and adjusts the instrument to fair value at each reporting
period. This liability is subject to re-measurement at each balance sheet date until exercised, and any change in fair value is recognized in the
Company’s statements of operations (see notes 17 and 18). The fair values of the warrants have been estimated using option pricing and
other valuation models, and the quoted market price of Fusion’s common stock (see notes 17 and 18).
Stock-Based Compensation
The Company recognizes expense for its employee stock-based compensation based on the fair value of the awards that are granted. The fair
values of stock options are estimated at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option valuation model. The use of the Black-Scholes
option valuation model requires the input of subjective assumptions. Measured compensation cost, net of estimated forfeitures, is recognized
ratably over the vesting period of the related stock-based compensation award. For transactions in which goods or services are the
consideration received from non-employees in return for the issuance of equity instruments, the expense is recognized in the period when
the goods and services are received at the fair value of the consideration received or the fair value of the equity instrument issued,
whichever is determined to be a more reliable measurement.
Advertising and Marketing
Advertising and marketing expense includes cost for promotional materials and trade show expenses for the marketing of the Company’s
products and services. Advertising and marketing expenses were approximately $511,000 and $211,000 for the years ended December 31,
2015 and 2014, respectively.
Income Taxes
The accounting and reporting requirements with respect to income taxes require an asset and liability approach. Deferred income tax assets
and liabilities are computed for differences between the financial statement and tax bases of assets and liabilities that will result in future
taxable or deductible amounts, based on enacted tax laws and rates applicable to the periods in which the differences are expected to affect
taxable income. Valuation allowances are established, when necessary, to reduce deferred income tax assets to the amount expected to be
realized.
In accordance with U.S. GAAP, the Company is required to determine whether a tax position of the Company is more likely than not to be
sustained upon examination by the applicable taxing authority, including resolution of any related appeals or litigation processes, based on the
technical merits of the position. The tax benefit to be recognized is measured as the largest amount of benefit that is greater than fifty percent
likely of being realized upon ultimate settlement. Derecognition of a tax benefit previously recognized could result in the Company recording
a tax liability that would reduce net assets. Based on its analysis, the Company has determined that it has not incurred any liability for
unrecognized tax benefits as of December 31, 2015 and 2014. The Company is subject to income tax examinations by major taxing
authorities for all tax years since 2011 and for previous periods as it relates to the Company’s net operating loss carryforward.
No interest expense or penalties have been recognized as of December 31, 2015 and 2014. During the years ended December 31, 2015 and
2014, the Company recognized no adjustments for uncertain tax positions.
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Factoring of accounts receivable
The Company has a factoring agreement with Prestige Capital Corporation (“Prestige”). Under the terms of that agreement, Prestige upon
receipt and acceptance of each transfer of accounts receivable, advances the Company up to 75% of the net face value of the accounts
receivable or 65% of the net face value of any unbilled yet earned amounts associated with the accounts receivable. The Company pays a
discount fee which is deducted from the face value of the accounts receivable. The discount fee is based on the number of days the accounts
receivable is outstanding from the date of the advanced. For the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, the Company recognized discount
fees on the transfer of the accounts receivable of approximately $40,000, and $94,000, respectively. These amounts are recorded in Other
(expenses) income in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.
In accordance with ASC 860, ‘Transfers and Servicing’, the Company recognizes the accounts receivable and the associated liability when
the accounts receivable are transferred to Prestige, and derecognizes the accounts receivable and the liability upon receipt of collections of
the transferred receivables by Prestige.
The Company’s obligations to Prestige are collateralized by a first priority lien on the accounts receivable of the Company’s Carrier Services
segment, and by a subordinated security interest on the other assets of the Company’s Carrier Services segment. Based on the Company’s
evaluation of the creditworthiness of the customers whose receivables are transferred under this arrangement, the Company does not believe
that there is any significant credit risk related to those receivables.
Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements
In February 2016, the Financial Accounting Standard Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2016-2, Leases,
which is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those years, beginning after December 15, 2018 with early adoption permitted.
Under ASU 2016-02, lessees will be required to recognize for all leases at the commencement date a lease liability, which is a lessee’s
obligation to make lease payments arising from a lease measured on a discounted basis, and a right –to-use assets, which is an asset that
represents the lessee’s right to use or control the use of a specified asset for the lease term. The Company is currently evaluating the effect
that the new guidance will have on its financial statements and related disclosures.
In November 2015, FASB issued ASU No. 2015-17, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Balance Sheet Classification of Deferred Taxes (ASU 201517), which simplifies the presentation of deferred income taxes by requiring deferred tax assets and liabilities be classified as noncurrent on
the balance sheet. The updated standard is effective beginning on January 1, 2017 with early application permitted as of the beginning of any
interim or annual reporting period. The Company does not expect this guidance to have a material impact on its consolidated financial
statements.
In September 2015, FASB issued guidance that eliminates the requirement for an acquirer in a business combination to account for
measurement-period adjustments retrospectively. Instead, acquirers must recognize measurement-period adjustments during the period in
which they determine the amounts, including the effect on earnings of any amounts they would have recorded in previous periods if the
accounting had been completed at the acquisition date. This guidance is effective for interim and annual reporting periods beginning after
December 15, 2015. The Company does not expect this guidance to have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements.
In April 2015, FASB issued guidance requiring an entity to present debt issuance costs related to a recognized debt liability as a direct
deduction from the carrying amount of that debt liability, consistent with debt discounts. This guidance is effective for interim and annual
reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2015. The Company does not expect this guidance to have a material impact on its
consolidated financial statements.
In May 2014, FASB issued guidance that outlines a single comprehensive model for entities to use in accounting for revenue arising from
contracts with customers and supersedes most recent current revenue recognition guidance, including industry-specific guidance. The core
principle of the revenue model is that an entity recognizes revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an
amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. The guidance also
specifies the accounting for certain incremental costs of obtaining a contract and costs to fulfill a contract with a customer. Entities have the
option of applying either a full retrospective approach to all periods presented or a modified approach that reflects differences prior to the
date of adoption as an adjustment to equity. In April 2015, FASB deferred the effective date of this guidance until January 1, 2018 and the
Company is currently assessing the impact of this guidance on its consolidated financial statements.
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Note 3. Loss per Share
Basic and diluted loss per share is computed by dividing (i) loss available to common stockholders, adjusted by approximately $1.9 million
and $2.3 million gain on the fair value of the Company’s derivative liability for the year ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively,
that was attributable to 728,333 outstanding warrants with a nominal exercise price and dividends paid on Fusion’s preferred stock, by (ii) the
weighted-average number of shares of common stock outstanding during the period, increased by the number of shares underlying such
warrants with a nominal exercise price as if such exercise had occurred at the beginning of the year.
The following table sets forth the computation of the Company’s basic and diluted net loss per share during the years ended December 31,
2015, and 2014:
Year Ended
Year Ended December 31,
2015

Numerator
Net loss
Dividends on Series A-1, A-2 and A-4 Convertible Preferred Stock
Dividends declared on Series B-2 Convertible Preferred Stock
Gain on nominal warrants
Adjusted loss attributable to common stockholders

2014

$ (8,229,825) $ (2,567,142)
(403,600)
(403,600)
(1,174,620)
(1,342,603)
(1,930,083)
(2,254,172)
$ (11,738,128) $ (6,567,517)

Denominator
Basic and diluted weighted average common shares outstanding
Loss per share
Basic and diluted

8,873,766
$

(1.32) $

7,132,427
(0.92)

For the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, the following were excluded from the calculation of diluted earnings per common share
because of their anti-dilutive effects:
Year Ended December 31,
2015

Warrants
Convertible preferred stock
Stock options

3,011,760
3,825,942
1,158,251
7,995,953

2014

3,436,775
4,512,316
607,877
8,556,968

The net loss per common share calculation includes a provision for preferred stock dividends on the Company’s outstanding Series A-1
Preferred Stock, Series A-2 Preferred Stock and Series A-4 Preferred Stock (collectively, the “Series A Preferred Stock”) in the approximate
amount of $404,000 for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively. As of December 31, 2015, Fusion’s Board of Directors
had not declared any dividends on the Series A Preferred Stock, and the Company had accumulated approximately $4.3 million of preferred
stock dividends. These dividends could be paid, at our option, either in cash or, in approximately 170,142 shares of our common stock.
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Fusion’s Board of Directors has declared a dividend of approximately $1,174,620 and $1,342,603 for the years ended December 31, 2015 and
2014, respectively, related to the Company’s Series B-2 Preferred Stock (the Series B Preferred Stock”), which, in accordance with the terms
of the Series B-2 Preferred Stock, was paid in the form of 434,201 and 299,216, shares of Fusion’s common stock.
Note 4. Stock-Based Compensation
The Company's stock-based compensation plan provides for the issuance of stock options to the Company’s employees, officers, and directors.
The Compensation Committee of Fusion’s Board of Directors (the "Compensation Committee") approves all awards that are granted under the
Company's stock-based compensation plan.
In accordance with the Company's 2009 Stock Option Plan, as amended, the Company has reserved 1,260,000 shares of Fusion common stock
for issuance to employees. Options under the plan typically vest in annual increments over a three or four year period, expire ten years from
the date of grant and are issued at exercise prices no less than 100% of the fair market value at the time of grant. The Company has also
reserved 42,620 shares for issuance in the event of exercise of outstanding options granted under the now expired 1998 Stock Option Plan.
The following table summarizes the stock option activity under our stock plans for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014:
Number of
Options

Outstanding at December 31, 2013
Granted
Exercised
Forfeited
Expired
Outstanding at December 31, 2014
Granted
Exercised
Forfeited
Expired
Outstanding at December 31, 2015
Exercisable at December 31, 2015

351,439
283,440
(14,439)
(12,563)
607,877
614,730
(53,280)
(11,076)
1,158,251
351,988

Weighted
Average
Exercise Price

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

16.29
3.92
0.00
4.40
150.73
8.00
2.44
3.81
32.71
4.96
9.84

Weighted Average
Remaining
Contract Term

7.81 years

8.08 years

8.43 years
6.40 years

The Company recognized compensation expense of approximately $639,296 and $371,758 for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014,
respectively. These amounts are included in selling, general, and administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of operations.
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The following weighted average assumptions were used to determine the fair value of the stock options granted under the Company’s stockbased compensation plan using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model:
Year Ended December 31,
2015

Dividend yield (%)*
Expected volatility (%)
Average Risk-free interest rate (%)
Expected life of stock option term (years)
*The dividend yield is zero as the Company has never paid and does not expect to pay dividends.

2014

0.0
132.99
1.78 - 2.25
8.43

0.0
106.2
1.97
8.0

The following table summarizes additional information regarding outstanding and exercisable options under the stock option plans
at December 31, 2015:

Range of Exercise
Prices

$1.99 to $3.00
$3.06 to $4.60
$4.70 to $7.50
$9.00 to $15.50
$19.50 to $34.50
$37.50 to $114.00
$122.97
to $139.99

Stock Options Outstanding
Weighted
Average
Remaining
Options
Contractual
Outstanding
Life (Years)

491,730
517,343
110,106
15,540
12,730
3,500

9.79
8.28
5.61
2.25
1.25
0.46

7,302
1,158,251

0.18
8.43

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

$

$

Aggregate
intrinsic
Value

2.17
3.82
5.88
15.43
34.38
113.78
133.41
4.96

$

564,609

Options
Exercisable

Stock Options Exercisable
Weighted
Average
Remaining
Weighted
Contractual
Average
Life (Years)
Price

30
220,611
92,275
15,540
12,730
3,500

5.78
7.78
5.22
2.25
1.25
0.46

7,302
351,988

0.18
6.40

$

$

Aggregate
intrinsic Value

3.00
3.99
5.78
15.43
34.38
113.78
133.41
9.84

$

9.60

The weighted-average estimated fair value of stock options granted was $2.44 and $3.92 during the years ended December 31, 2015 and
2014, respectively. No stock options were exercised during the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014. As of December 31, 2015, there
was approximately $1.7 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to stock options granted under the Company’s stock
incentive plans, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.05 years.
Note 5. Acquisition
Fidelity
In December 2015, Fusion, through its wholly owned subsidiary, Fusion NBS Acquisition Corp. (“FNBS”), completed the acquisition of all of
the outstanding equity securities of Fidelity Access Networks, LLC, Fidelity Connect LLC, Fidelity Voice Services, LLC and Fidelity Access
Networks, Inc., all Ohio entities (together with Fidelity Telecom, LLC hereinafter collectively referred to as “Fidelity”). Fidelity provides
customers with a suite of cloud based services, including cloud voice, cloud connectivity, cloud computing and cloud storage.
The purchase price paid to Fidelity shareholders was $29.9 million, consisting of $28.4 million in cash and 696,508 shares of Fusion’s
common stock valued at $1.5 million (based upon the volume weighted average price of the common stock over a ten trading day period
ending four trading days prior to the closing date). We funded the acquisition through borrowings under the Amended Credit Facility of
approximately $27.5 million and cash on hand of approximately $0.9 million.
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Upon acquisition, each Fidelity company became our wholly-owned subsidiary. The acquisition was accounted for as a business combination.
This method requires, among other things, that assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination be recognized at their fair
values as of the acquisition date.
The preliminary allocation of the purchase price as of the acquisition date is as follows:
Cash
Accounts receivable, net
Prepaids
Property and equipment
Covenant not to compete
Customer contracts
Accrued liabilities
Deferred tax liability
Goodwill
Total purchase price

$

503,059
273,809
44,735
1,111,699
618,000
19,243,000
(692,606)
(7,710,536)
16,502,971
$ 29,894,133

The amount of goodwill recognized is primarily attributable to the expected contributions of Fidelity to the overall corporate strategy in
addition to synergies and acquired workforce of the acquired business. None of the goodwill recognized is expected to be deductible for
income tax purposes. The intangible assets subject to amortization consist of customer relationships and non-compete agreements, with an
estimated useful life of 14 and 5 years, respectively.
The results of operations of Fidelity are reflected in the Company’s consolidated statement of operations effective December 8, 2015. The
following table provides certain pro forma financial information for the Company for the year ended December 31, 2015 as if the acquisition
of Fidelity had been consummated effective as of January 1, 2015 (in millions):
2015

Revenues
Net loss

$
$

119.2
(6.9)

RootAxcess
In September 2015, the Company acquired the customer base, technology platform, infrastructure and certain other assets of RootAxcess, for
an aggregate purchase price of $1.2 million, payable in either cash or in a mix of cash and, at our election, in up to $300,000 in shares of
Fusion’s common stock. The purchase price was funded, in part, through borrowings of $0.5 million under the Amended Credit Facility. Of
the $1.2 million purchase price, $0.7 million is being held by the Company against potential claims arising from breaches of representation
and warranties and is currently included in due to Root Axcess seller on the consolidated balance sheet. RootAxcess is included as part of the
‘Business Services’ segment (See Note 12).
The aggregate purchase price has initially been allocated to the fair value of the assets acquired as follows:
Covenant not to compete
Customer contracts/relationships
Fixed assets acquired
Goodwill
Purchase price

$

$
F-16

232,943
747,381
59,810
159,866
1,200,000

FUSION TELECOMMUNICATIONS INTERNATIONAL, INC.
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the Years Ended December 31, 2015 and 2014
PingTone
In October 2014, the Company, through its wholly owned subsidiary Fusion PTC Acquisition, Inc., (“PTC”), completed the acquisition of all
of the outstanding equity securities of PingTone Communications, Inc., a provider of integrated cloud-based communications services
(“PingTone”). The acquisition of PingTone was accomplished through a merger of PTC with and into PingTone, with PingTone surviving the
merger. As a result of this transaction, PingTone became a wholly owned subsidiary of Fusion’s wholly owned subsidiary, FNBS, and an
indirect subsidiary of Fusion.
The purchase price paid to PingTone shareholders was $10.6 million, consisting of $8.1 million in cash and 712,250 shares of Fusion’s
common stock valued at $2.5 million. A portion of the purchase price ($1,150,000, comprised of $862,500 in cash and 81,908 shares of
Fusion common stock) has been placed into escrow to secure the representations, warranties and covenants made by the PingTone
shareholders under the merger agreement.
The allocation of the purchase price of PingTone is as follows:
Cash
Accounts receivable, net
Other current assets
Property and equipment
Other assets
Deferred tax asset
Intangible assets subject to amortization
Goodwill
Current liabilities
Deferred tax liability
Other liabilities
Total purchase price

$

826,035
273,948
141,256
481,111
60,941
1,688,011
4,211,300
5,175,372
(496,417)
(1,688,011)
(28,724)
$ 10,644,822

The results of operations of PingTone are reflected in the Company’s consolidated Statement of Operations effective November 1, 2014. The
following table provides certain pro forma financial information for the Company for the year ended December 31, 2014 as if the acquisition
of PingTone had been consummated effective as of January 1, 2014 (in millions):
2014

Revenues
Net loss

$
$
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Note 6. Intangible Assets
All of the Company’s identifiable intangible assets are associated with its ‘Business Services’ segment and as of December 31, 2015 and 2014
are comprised of:
Gross Carrying
Amount

Trademarks and tradename
Proprietary technology
Non-compete agreement
Customer relationships
Favorable lease intangible
Total acquired intangibles

$

1,093,400
5,781,000
10,703,043
44,888,181
218,000
$ 62,683,624

December 31, 2015
Accumulated
Amortization

Total

$

(331,651) $
761,749
(2,756,433)
3,024,567
(9,220,255)
1,482,788
(4,412,819)
40,475,362
(138,067)
79,933
$ (16,859,225) $ 45,824,399

Gross Carrying
Amount

$

1,093,400
5,781,000
9,852,100
24,897,800
218,000
$ 41,842,300

December 31, 2014
Accumulated
Amortization

Total

$

(161,319) $
932,081
(1,600,233)
4,180,767
(5,150,228)
4,701,872
(2,403,637)
22,494,163
(94,467)
123,533
$ (9,409,884) $ 32,432,416

Aggregate amortization expense for each of the five years subsequent to December 31, 2015 is expected to be as follows:
Estimated
Annual
Amortization
Expense

Year
2016
2017
2018
2019
2020 and thereafter

$
$
$
$
$

5,982,084
5,848,934
5,105,126
4,212,644
4,176,952

Note 7. Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets
Prepaid expenses and other current assets at December 31, 2015 and 2014 are as follows:
December 31,
2015

Insurance
Rent
Marketing
Sofware subscriptions
Due from seller of Fidelity
Due from factoring party
Commissions
Other

$

$
F-18
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December 31,
2014

$

$

61,004
54,209
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502,696
23,015
252,366
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Note 8. Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses
Accounts payable and accrued expenses consist of the following at December 31, 2015 and 2014:
December 31,
2015

Trade accounts payable
Accrued bonus
Professional and consulting fees
Property and other taxes
Accrued network costs
Rent
Accrued universal service fund fees
Customer deposits
Credit card payable
Accrued payroll and vacation
Accrued sales and federal excise taxes
Accrued sales commissions
Interest payable
Deferred revenue
Other

$

1,101,393
700,000
274,205
534,388
3,423,483
82,894
494,852
358,227
384,257
555,493
2,204,098
981,121
32,221
1,157,036
845,557
$ 13,129,225

December 31,
2014

$

3,028,902
575,000
132,521
235,600
1,384,159
131,627
538,302
398,111
266,595
1,722,554
864,928
33,341
729,618
430,256
$ 10,471,514

Note 9. Property and Equipment
At December 31, 2015 and 2014, property and equipment is comprised of the following:
December 31,
2015

7,875,478
292,451
7,290,577
9,121,788
55,884
1,073,631
190,749
25,900,558

2014

Network equipment
Furniture and fixtures
Computer equipment and software
Customer premise equipment
Vehicles
Leasehold improvements
Assets in progress
Total

$

$

8,374,479
299,571
5,962,838
7,191,008
55,884
1,140,605
118,831
23,143,216

Less: accumulated depreciation
Total

(11,845,065)
(9,664,304)
$ 14,055,493 $ 13,478,912

Depreciation expense was approximately $5.5 million and $4.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively. For the
years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, $3.0 million and $2.4 million, respectively, of the Company’s property and equipment were
financed under capital leases.
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Note 10. Equipment Financing Obligations
During the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, the Company entered into several equipment financing or capital lease arrangements to
finance the purchase of network hardware and software utilized in the Company’s operations. These arrangements require monthly payments
over a period of 24 to 48 months with interest rates ranging between 5.3% and 6.6%.
The Company’s equipment financing obligations at December 31, 2015 and 2014 are as follows:
December 31,
2015

Equipment financing obligations
Less: current portion
Long-term portion

$
$

December 31,
2014

3,044,796 $
(959,380)
2,085,416 $

2,364,835
(662,131)
1,702,704

The estimated principal payments under capital lease agreements for the years ending subsequent to December 31, 2015 are as follows:
Year ending December
31:
2016
2017
2018
2019

Note 11.

Principal

$

$

959,380
956,752
911,038
217,626
3,044,796

Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information

Supplemental cash flow information for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 is as follows:
Supplemental Cash Flow Information
Cash paid for interest
Cash paid for income taxes

$
$

5,064,880
-

$
$

5,312,356
71,495

Supplemental Non-Cash Investing and Financing Activities
Property and equipment acquired under capital leases
Dividend on Series B-2 preferred stock paid with the issuance of Fusion common stock
Due to Seller of RootAxcess
Equipment received in exchange for settlement of accounts receivable
Common stock issued in the Fidelity acquisition
Common stock issued in settlement of debt - related party
Common stock issued in lieu of cash bonus
Common stock issued to settle oustanding accounts payable

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

1,440,816
1,174,620
633,333
105,570
1,500,000
300,000
25,000
11,877

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

2,187,754
1,342,603
-

2015
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Note 12. Due to RootAxcess Seller
In connection with the purchase of assets of RootAxcess, the Company held back $0.7 million against potential claims arising from breaches
of representation and warranties. Of such amount, $0.4 million is to be paid to the seller in six equal monthly installments of $66,667 on the
three, six, nine, twelve, fifteen and eighteen month anniversary of the closing date. In addition, the Company held back $0.3 million to be
paid in three equal installments of $100,000 on each of the twelve, fifteen, and eighteen month anniversary of the closing date. To the extent
there is a unresolved claim notice pending (as defined in the asset purchase agreement), the monthly installment payable to seller
immediately following the delivery of such claim notice may at the Company’s reasonable discretion be reduced by the amount in dispute
under the claim notice and such amount will continue to be held by us until resolved, at which point, the Company will disburse the withheld
amount in accordance with such resolution.
On December 31, 2015, the Company made a payment of $66,667 to the sellers in connection with the terms of the holdback agreement.
Note 13.

Secured Credit Facility

On August 28, 2015, FNBS entered into a $40.0 million Credit Facility with Opus Bank, which facility was amended and restated by the
Amended Credit Facility. The Amended Credit Facility consists of a $15.0 million, four-year credit facility, and a $25.0 million, five-year
term loan. The maturity date of amounts borrowed under the revolving facility is August 28, 2019, and the maturity date of any amounts
borrowed under the term loan is August 28, 2020.
As of December 31, 2015, the Company had borrowed $15.0 million under the revolver and $25.0 million under the term loan. The Company
pays interest monthly at an initial rate of 4.5%, and recognized interest expense of approximately $282,000 during 2015. The interest rate is
the higher of (a) the rate of interest in effect for such day as publicly announced from time to time by the Wall Street Journal as its “prime
rate” (or the average prime rate if a high and a low prime rate are therein reported) plus the Applicable Margin (as defined in the Amended
Credit Facility) in effect at such time, or (b) 3.25% plus the Applicable Margin.
We used the proceeds from the credit facility to retire approximately $11.0 million of notes held by Plexus Fund II, L.P., Plexus Funds III,
L.P. and Plexus Fund QP III, L.P. (“Plexus”) and $28.0 million to fund our purchase of the assets of RootAxcess and the stock of Fidelity
(See Note 5).
Note 14.

Notes Payable – Non-Related Parties

At December 31, 2015 and 2014, notes payable – non-related parties are comprised of the following:
December 31,
2015

Subordinated Notes
Discount on Subordinated Notes
Total notes payable - non-related parties
Less: current portion
Long-term portion

December 31,
2014

$ 34,160,200 $ 46,166,667
(1,697,091)
(3,677,733)
32,463,109
42,488,934
(685,780)
(1,225,000)
$ 31,777,329 $ 41,263,934

On August 28, 2015, simultaneously with the execution of the Credit Facility with Opus Bank (see Note 13), the Company executed the Third
Amended and Restated Securities Purchase Agreement and Security Agreement (the “Third Amendment”) with Praesidian. Under the Third
Amendment, approximately $11.0 million of the notes held by Plexus were paid in full with borrowings under the Credit Facility with Opus
Bank (see Note 13), and $9.0 million of the notes
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held by Plexus were paid using the proceeds from the sale of Series F senior notes in the aggregate principal amount of $9.0 million, bearing
interest at 10.8% annually and having a maturity date of February 28, 2021. Additionally, the maturity date of the all remaining notes was
extended to February 28, 2021, and the continuing lenders agreed to subordinate their notes to borrowings extended under the Credit Facility
with Opus Bank.
As a result of the retirement of the notes held by Plexus, the Company recorded a loss on extinguishment of debt of approximately $2.7
million, substantially consisting of unamortized discount. The Company pays interest monthly at a rate of 10.8%, and recognized interest
expense of approximately $4.6 million during 2015.
On December 8, 2015, the Company executed the Fourth Amended SPA which amended the Third Amendment to (i) provide the consent of
the continuing lenders to the acquisition of Fidelity (ii) joined Fidelity as a guarantor and credit party under the Fourth Amended SPA, and
(iii) modifying or eliminating certain of the financial covenants contained in the Third Amendment, specifically , the requirement to maintain
a minimum unencumbered cash bank balance of $1.0 million at all times effective as of December 31, 2015.
The following notes have been issued under the Fourth Amended SPA:
● Series A and B Notes. The Company sold $6.5 million aggregate principal amount of Series A notes, bearing interest at the
original rate of 10.0% annually, and $10.0 million aggregate principal amount of Series B notes bearing interest at the rate of
11.5% annually in October 2012, the proceeds of which were used to finance the acquisition of NBS.
● Series C and D Notes. The Company sold $0.5 million aggregate principal amount of Series C notes and $25.0 million aggregate
principal amount of Series D notes in December 2013, to finance the acquisition of certain assets of Broadvox.
● Series E Notes. The Company sold $5.0 million aggregate principal amount of Series E notes in October 2014 to fund its
acquisition of PingTone.
● Series F Notes. The Company sold $9.0 million aggregate principal amount of Series F notes in August 2015 to retire a portion of
the approximately $20.0 million of notes held by Plexus.
Under the Amended Credit Facility and the Fourth Amended SPA the Company has to maintain the following financial covenants:
Financial Covenants*

Borrower leverage ratio
Borrower fixed charge coverage ratio
Borrower capital expenditures
Borrower minimum adjusted EBITDA
Borrower maximum senior leverage ratio

Amended Credit Facility

Fourth Amended SPA

4.75 : 1.00
1.20 : 1.00
not greater than $4.5 million
$11 million
3.00 : 1.00

4.75 : 1.00
1.20 : 1.00
not greater than $4.5 million
$13 million
N/A

* as defined in the agreements
For the year ended December 31, 2015, the Company was in compliance with the above financial covenants.
Note 15. Notes Payable-Related Parties
At December 31, 2015 and 2014, components of notes payable – related parties are comprised of the following:
December 31,
2015

Notes payable to Marvin Rosen
Discount on note
Total notes payable - related parties

$
$

December 31,
2014

1,178,081 $
(103,252)
1,074,829 $

1,478,081
(185,203)
1,292,878

The note payable to Marvin Rosen, the Company’s Chairman of the Board, is subordinated to borrowings under the Amended Credit Facility
and the Fourth Amended SPA. This note is unsecured, pays interest monthly at an annual rate of 7%, and matures 120 days after the
Company’s obligations under the Amended Credit Facility and the Fourth Amended SPA are paid in full.
For the year ended December 31, 2015, the Company recognized interest expense on the Rosen note of approximately $105,000 (paid
$97,000), and amortization on the discount of approximately $82,000.
During the year ended December 31, 2015, Mr. Rosen converted $0.3 million of the Rosen Note into 137,615 shares of Fusion’s common
stock at conversion price of $2.18 per share of common stock, the closing bid price of our common stock on December 4, 2015.
Note 16. Equity Transactions

Common Stock
Fusion is authorized to issue 50,000,000 shares of its common stock. As of December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014, 12,788,971 and
7,345,028 shares of Fusion’s common stock, respectively, were issued and outstanding.
On December 8, 2015, the Company sold approximately 2.6 million shares of Fusion’s common stock for aggregate proceeds of
approximately $5.6 million. In addition, during 2015, 137,615 shares of Fusion’s common stock was issued to Marvin Rosen as payment of
$0.3 million of outstanding notes payable (see note 15) and 11,468 share of common stock was issued to Matthew Rosen our CEO,
representing $25,000 as partial payment of his cash bonus.
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On August 28, 2015, in connection with the Third Amendment, Fusion issued 728,333 shares of its common stock to the original lenders
(Praesidian Capital, United Insurance and Plexus Fund) under the original credit agreement upon their cashless exercise of lenders’ warrants.
During the three months ended December 31, 2015, Fusion issued 8,833 shares of its common stock to third party consultants at a price of
$3.36 per share of common stock, and through the fiscal year ended December 31, 2015, Fusion has issued an aggregate of 67,000 shares of
common stock to third party consultants for services rendered valued at $245,290. During the year ended December 31, 2014, the Company
issued an aggregate of 38,491 shares of Fusion common stock to third parties for services valued at $163,842.
For the year ended December 31, 2015, Fusion’s Board of Directors declared aggregate dividends of $1.2 million related to Fusion’s Series
B-2 Preferred Stock, which, as permitted by the terms of the Series B-2 Preferred Stock, was paid in the form of 434,201 shares of Fusion’s
common stock. During 2015, certain holders of Series B-2 Preferred Stock elected to convert 3,469 shares of their Series B-2 Preferred Stock
into an aggregate of 782,550 shares of Fusion’s common stock at an average conversion price of $4.43 per share.
During the year ended December 31, 2014, Fusion’s Board of Directors declared aggregate dividends of $1.3 million related to Fusion’s
Series B-2 Preferred Stock, which, as permitted by the terms of the Series B-2 Preferred Stock, was paid in the form of 299,216 shares of
Fusion’s common stock. During 2014, certain holders of Series B-2 preferred stock elected to convert 1,090 shares of their Series B-2
preferred stock into an aggregate of 218,000 shares of Fusion’s common stock at an average conversion price of $5.00 per share.
Preferred Stock
Fusion is authorized to issue up to 10,000,000 shares of preferred stock. At December 31, 2015 and 2014, there were 5,045 shares of Series
A cumulative Preferred Stock issued and outstanding. In addition, as of December 31 2015 and 2014, there were 18,279 and 21,748 shares of
Series B-2 Preferred Stock issued and outstanding, respectively.
The holders of the Series A Preferred Stock are entitled to receive cumulative dividends of 8% per annum payable in arrears, when and if
declared by Fusion’s Board of Directors. As of December 31, 2015, no dividend had been declared by the Fusion Board of Directors with
respect to the Series A Preferred Stock, and the Company had accumulated approximately $4.3 million of preferred stock dividends. The
holders of the shares of Series B-2 Preferred Stock are entitled to receive a cumulative 6% annual dividend payable quarterly in arrears
when and if declared by the Fusion Board of Directors, in cash or shares of Fusion common stock, at the option of the Company.
Commencing January 1, 2016, Fusion has the right to force the conversion of the Series B-2 Preferred Stock into Fusion common stock at a
conversion price of $5.00 per share; provided that the volume weighted average price for its common stock is at least $12.50 for ten
consecutive trading days.
The following table summarizes the activity in the Company’s various classes of preferred stock for the years ended December 31, 2015 and
2014:

Balance at December 31,
2013
Issuance of shares for cash
Conversion of preferred
stock into common stock
Balance at December 31,
2014
Conversion of preferred
stock into common stock
Balance at December 31,
2015

Series A-1 Preferred
Stock

Series A-2 Preferred
Stock

Series A-4 Preferred
Stock

Series B-2 Preferred
Stock

Shares

Shares

Shares

Shares

2,375

$

2,375

2,375

24

24

$

24

2,625

$

2,625

2,625

26

26

$

26

45

$

45

45

-

-

$

-

18,480
4,358

Total
Shares

185
44

23,525
4,358

(1,090)

(11)

(1,090)

(11)

21,748

218

26,793

268

(3,469)

(34)

(3,469)

(34)

184

23,324

18,279

$

$

$

$

235
43.6

234

Each share of Series B-2 Preferred Stock has a stated value of $1,000, and is convertible into shares of Fusion’s common stock at the option of
the holder at a conversion price of $5.00 per share, subject to adjustment.
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At December 31, 2015, the Series B-2 Preferred Stock is convertible into an aggregate of 3,655,800 shares of Fusion’s common stock.
The holders of Series B-2 Preferred Stock have liquidation rights that are senior to those afforded to holders of the Company’s other equity
securities, and are entitled to vote as one group with holders of common stock on all matters brought to a vote of holders of common stock
(with each share of Series B-2 Preferred Stock being entitled to that number of votes into which the registered holder could have converted the
Series B-2 Preferred Stock on the
record date for the meeting at which the vote will be cast). Holders of common stock are also entitled to vote as a separate class on all matters
adversely affecting (within the meaning of Delaware law) such class.
Warrants
In connection with various debt and equity financing transactions and other agreements, the Company has issued warrants to purchase shares
of Fusion’s common stock. All of the outstanding warrants are fully exercisable as of December 31, 2014. For the year ended December 31,
2015, the Company did not issue any warrants.
The following table summarizes the information relating to warrants issued and the activity during the years ended December 31, 2015 and
2014:
Number of
Warrants

Outstanding at December 31, 2013
Granted in 2014

4,016,075
402,997

Expired in 2014
Exercised in 2014

(253,964)
-

Outstanding at December 31, 2014
Granted in 2015

4,165,108
-

Expired in 2015
Exercised in 2015

(425,015)
(728,333)

Outstanding at December 31, 2015
Note 17.

3,011,760

Per Share
Exercise
Price

$0.50 to
$83.50
$6.25
$5.50 to
$83.50
$0.50 to
$10.50
$7.0 to
$10.50
$0.50
$3.95 to
$10.15

Weighted
Average
Exercise Price

$
$

6.25
6.25

$

21.18
-

$
$

5.48
-

$
$

9.30
0.50

$

6.14

Derivative Liability

The Company has issued warrants to purchase shares of Fusion’s common stock in connection with certain debt and equity financing
transactions. These warrants are accounted for in accordance with the guidance contained in ASC Topic 815, ‘Derivatives and
Hedging’ (“ASC 815”). For warrant instruments that do not meet an exclusion from derivative accounting, the Company classifies the
warrant instrument as a liability at its fair value and adjusts the instrument to fair value at each reporting period. This liability is subject to remeasurement at each balance sheet date until the warrant is exercised or expires, and any change in fair value is recognized in the
Company’s statement of operations. In this regard, the Company has 402,112 outstanding warrants which provide for a downward
adjustment of the exercise price if the Company were to issue common stock at an issuance price or issue convertible debt or equity
securities with an exercise price that is less than the exercise price for these warrants. In addition, in connection with the sale of the original
notes to the Senior Lenders, the Company issued nominal warrants to the Senior Lenders to purchase an aggregate of 728,333 shares of its
common stock. The fair values of these warrants have been estimated using option pricing and other valuation models, and the quoted
market price of Fusion’s common stock.
The following assumptions were used to determine the fair value of the warrants for the year ended December 31, 2015 and 2014:
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Year ended December 31,
2015

Stock price ($)
Exercise price ($)
Risk-free interest rate (%)
Expected volatility (%)
Time to maturity (years)

2014

3.26
6.25
1.78 - 2.25
132.99
3.0 - 4.0

3.15
0 - 6.25
1.97 - 2.52
106.2
7.83 - 9.0

On August 28, 2015 as part of the debt refinancing, the lenders under the Third Amendment exercised warrants to purchase 728,333 shares of
Fusion common stock. As a result of the exercise of these nominal warrants, the Company recognized a reduction in the derivative liability of
approximately $364,167 with a reclassification to equity.
During the year ended December 31, 2015, warrants to purchase 320,000 shares of Fusion common stock that contained a downward
adjustment of the exercise price were modified to remove this provision and thus qualified for equity treatment. As a result. The Company
reclassified $0.7 million (the fair value of the derivative liability relative to the modified warrant at the date of the amendment) from the
derivative liability into equity.
At December 31, 2015 and 2014, the fair value of the derivative was approximately $1.0 million and $3.8 million, respectively. For the year
ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, the Company recognized a gain on the change in the fair value of this derivative of approximately $1.8
million and $5.2 million, respectively.
Note 18. Fair Value Disclosures
The following table represents the fair value of the liability measured at fair value on a recurring basis:
Level 1

As of December 31, 2015
Non-current liabilities:
Derivative liability (see note 17)
As of December 31, 2014
Non-current liabilities:
Derivative liability (see note 17)

Level 2

Level 3

Total

$

-

$

-

$

953,005

$

953,005

$

-

$

-

$

3,839,569

$

3,839,569

The following table reconciles the changes in the derivative liability categorized within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy for the years ended
December 31, 2015 and 2014:
Balance at December 31, 2013
Gain for the period:
Included in net loss
Modification of warrant contracts
Issuance of additional warrants
Warrants adjustment - Level 2 transfer
Balance at December 31, 2014
Gain for the period:
Included in net loss
Modification of warrant contracts
Reduction in derivative liability due to exercise of Senior Lenders' warrants
Balance at December 31, 2015
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$

(5,161,901)
(2,815,609)
1,301,607
10,515,472
3,839,569

(1,843,997)
(678,400)
(364,167)
$
953,005
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Note 19. Income Taxes
The provision for income taxes for the years ending December 31, 2015 and 2014 consists of the following:
2015

Current
Federal
State

2014

$ (7,710,000) $
$ (7,710,000)

Deferred
Federal
State

50,000
50,000

Tax provision

$ (7,660,000) $

26,051
26,051
26,051

For the year ended December 31, 2015, the Company recorded a deferred tax liability of approximately $7.7 million as a result of
intangible assets subject to amortization acquired in our acquisition of Fidelity. These intangible assets are not amortizable for income tax
purposes. As a result of the business combination, the recording of the deferred tax liability related to these intangible assets resulted in a
release of $7.7 million of the Company’s deferred tax asset valuation allowance, which has been recorded as an income tax benefit during
the year ended December 31, 2015.
The following reconciles the Federal statutory tax rate to the effective income tax rate for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014:
2015

2014

%
Federal statutory rate
State net of federal tax
Permanent and other items
Change in valuation allowance

%
(34.0)
(3.6)
1.1
(11.8)
(48.3)

(34.0)
(2.5)
4.5
33.0
1.0

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes. In assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets, Management
evaluates whether it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The ultimate realization of
deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income during the periods in which those temporary differences
become deductible. Management considers the scheduled reversal of deferred tax liabilities, projected future taxable income and tax
planning strategies in making this assessment. Based on Management’s evaluation, it is more likely than not that the deferred tax asset will
not be realized and as such a valuation allowance has been recorded as of December 31, 2015 and 2014.
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The components of the Company's deferred tax assets and liabilities consist of the following at December 31, 2015 and 2014:
Deferred income tax assets:
Net operating losses
Allowance for doubtful accounts
Derivative liability
Accrued liabilities and other
Intangible assets

2015

2014

$ 32,569,000
77,000
620,000
1,037,000
34,303,000

$ 45,250,000
67,000
1,460,000
693,000
1,997,000
49,467,000

3,305,000
1,103,000
388,000
4,796,000
29,507,000

933,000
759,000
1,692,000
47,775,000

(29,507,000)

(47,775,000)

Deferred income tax liabilities:
Intangible assets
Property and equipment
Debt discount
Deferred tax asset, net
Less: Valuation Allowance
Net Deferred Tax Assets

$

-

$

-

At December 31, 2015 and 2014, the Company had federal net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $93.0 million and $132.0
million, respectively, which expire in varying amounts through December 31, 2035. Pursuant to Code Sec. 382 of the Internal Revenue
Code (“the Code”), the utilization of net operating loss carryforwards may be limited as a result of a cumulative change in stock
ownership of more than 50% over a three year period. During the year ended December 31, 2015, the Company evaluated the future
utilization of its net operating losses (“NOLs”) under Sec. 382 and concluded that it has a limitation in the future utilization of its NOLs of
approximately $48 million. Accordingly, during the year ended December 31, 2015, the Company recorded a reduction in its deferred tax
assets and the related valuation allowance by approximately $16 million related to this limitation.
Note 20. Commitments and Contingencies
Operating Leases
The Company has various non-cancelable operating lease agreements for office facilities. A summary of the approximate lease commitments
under non-cancelable leases for years ending subsequent to December 31, 2015 are as follows:
Year ending December 31:
2016
2017
2018
2019
2020 and thereafter

$

$

1,600,261
1,400,898
954,364
911,285
1,206,441
6,073,249

Rent expense for all operating leases was $1.8 million and $1.7 million for each of the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014,
respectively. Certain of the Company’s leases include fixed rent escalation schedules or rent escalations based upon a fixed percentage. The
Company recognizes rent expense (including escalations) on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
The Company is from time to time involved in claims and legal actions arising in the ordinary course of business. Management does not
expect that the outcome of any such claims or actions will have a material effect on the Company’s liquidity, results of operations or financial
condition.
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In addition, due to the regulatory nature of the communications industry, the Company periodically receives and responds to various inquiries
from state and federal regulatory agencies. Management does not expect the outcome of any such claims, legal actions or regulatory inquiries
to have a material impact on the Company’s liquidity, results of operations or financial condition.
Note 21. Profit Sharing Plan
On June 1, 1997, the Company adopted a defined contribution profit sharing plan, which covers all employees who meet certain eligibility
requirements. Contributions to the plan are made at the discretion of the Board of Directors. No contributions to the profit sharing plan were
made for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014.
Note 22. Concentrations
Major Customers
For the year ended December 31, 2015, no single customer accounted for more than 10% of the Company’s consolidated revenues or
consolidated accounts receivable. For the year ended December 31, 2014, no single customer accounted for more than 10% of the
Company’s consolidated revenues, however one customer accounted for approximately 16% of the Company’s consolidated accounts
receivable at December 31, 2014.
Geographic Concentrations
The Company’s operations are significantly influenced by economic factors and risks inherent in conducting business in foreign countries,
including government regulations, currency restrictions and other factors that may significantly affect management’s estimates and the
Company’s performance.
For the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, the Company generated approximate revenues from customers in the following countries:
United States
International Customers

2015

2014

$ 88,526,867
13,167,649
$ 101,694,516

$ 81,326,000
10,726,600
$ 92,052,600

Revenues by geographic area are based upon the location of the customers.
Credit Risk
The Company maintains its cash balances in high credit quality financial institutions. The Company’s cash balances may, at times, exceed the
deposit insurance limits provided by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corp.
Note 23.

Segment Information

Operating segments are defined under U.S. GAAP as components of an enterprise for which separate financial information is available and
evaluated regularly by a company's chief operating decision maker in deciding how to allocate resources and assess performance.
The Company has two reportable segments – “Carrier Services” and “Business Services”. These segments are organized by the products and
services that are sold and the customers that are served. The Company measures and evaluates its reportable segments based on revenues and
gross profit margins. The Company’s measurement of segment gross profit exclude the Company’s executive, administrative and support
costs. The Company’s segments and their principal activities consist of the following:
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Carrier Services
Carrier Services includes the termination of domestic and international carrier traffic utilizing primarily VoIP technology. VoIP permits a less
costly and more rapid interconnection between the Company and international telecommunications carriers, and generally provides better
profit margins for the Company than other technologies. The Company currently interconnects with 369 carrier customers and vendors, and is
working to expand its interconnection relationships, particularly with carriers in emerging markets.
Business Services
Through this operating segment, the Company provides cloud communications, cloud connectivity, cloud storage and security solutions to
small, medium and large businesses. These services are sold through both the Company’s direct sales force and its partner sales channel, which
utilizes the efforts of independent third-party distributors to sell the Company’s products and services. The Business Services segment
includes the Company’s acquisition of RootAxcess effective as of September 30, 2015, and Fidelity effective as of December 8, 2015.
Operating segment information for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 is summarized as follows:
Carrier
Services

Year ended December 31, 2015
Business
Corporate and
Services
Unallocated*

Revenues
Cost of revenues (exclusive of depreciation and amortization)
Gross profit
Depreciation and amortization
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Interest expense
Gain on change in fair value of derivative liability
Loss on extinguishment of debt
Other income (expenses)
Benefit for income taxes
Net loss

$ 35,521,679
32,596,384
2,925,295
185,397
4,412,087
(99,010)
(182,083)
875,067
$ (1,078,215) $

Total assets
Capital expenditures

$
$

4,703,799
73,115

Carrier
Services

Revenues
Cost of revenues (exclusive of depreciation and amortization)
Gross profit
Depreciation and amortization
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Interest expense
Gain on change in fair value of derivative liability
Other (expenses) income
Benefit (provision) for income taxes

$ 29,156,799
25,970,357
3,186,442
445,273
2,922,989
-

Net loss

$

Total assets
Capital expenditures

$
$

(97,560)
-
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$ 98,547,943
$ 3,367,335

$
$

2,500,524
-

Year ended December 31, 2014
Business
Corporate and
Services
Unallocated*

$ 62,895,801 $
23,628,016
39,267,785
10,467,018
25,153,607
(5,659,702)
23,719
24,741

(279,380) $ (1,964,082) $
4,553,339
101,872

Consolidated

66,172,837 $
- $101,694,516
24,127,737
56,724,121
42,045,100
44,970,395
12,359,821
430,763
12,975,981
32,810,336
3,786,685
41,009,107
(5,757,609)
(206,304)
(6,062,923)
1,843,997
1,843,997
(2,538,272)
(2,720,355)
(818,544)
7,090
63,613
7,660,536
7,660,536
(4,578,945) $ (2,572,665) $ (8,229,825)

$ 66,394,132
$ 3,717,541

$
$

$105,752,266
$ 3,440,450

Consolidated

- $ 92,052,600
49,598,373
42,454,227
92,593
11,004,884
5,147,778
33,224,374
(328,709)
(5,988,411)
5,161,901
5,161,901
134,291
60,450
(50,792)
(26,051)
(323,680) $ (2,567,142)
2,800,023
-

$ 73,747,494
$ 3,819,413
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*The Company employs executive, administrative, human resources, and finance resources that service both the Carrier Services and Business
Services segments. The amounts reflected as Corporate & Unallocated represent those operating expenses, assets and capital expenditures that
were not allocated to a business segment or product line.
Note 24.

Related Party Transactions

Since March 6, 2014, the Company has engaged a third party to prepare its tax returns and to provide related tax advisory services. Larry
Blum, a member of Fusion’s Board of Directors, is a Senior Advisor and a former partner of the third party that the Company is using to
provide tax advisory services.
Note 25. Subsequent Events
On February 24, 2016, we completed our acquisition of Fidelity Telecom, LLC, a Fidelity company, for a purchase price of $50,000.
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LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES*

●

Fusion NBS Acquisition Corp., a Delaware corporation

●

Network Billing Systems, LLC, a New Jersey limited liability company

●

Fusion BVX, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company

●

PingTone Communications, Inc., a Delaware corporation

●

Fidelity Access Networks, LLC, an Ohio limited liability company

●

Fidelity Connect, LLC, an Ohio limited liability company

●

Fidelity Voice Services, LLC, an Ohio limited liability company

●

Fidelity Access Networks, Inc., a Ohio corporation

●

Fidelity Telecom, LLC, an Ohio limited liability company

* All Subsidiaries are direct or indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries of Fusion Telecommunications International, Inc.

Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statement of Fusion Telecommunications International, Inc. (the
“Company”) on Form S-3 (333-203359) and Form S-1 (333-195659) of our report dated March 28, 2016 on our audits of the consolidated
financial statements as of December 31, 2015 and 2014 and for the years then ended, which report is included in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K of the Company.

/s/ EisnerAmper LLP
New York, New York
March 28, 2016

EXHIBIT 31.1
Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification
I, Matthew D. Rosen, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2015 of Fusion Telecommunications International,
Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the
period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the consolidated financial statements and other financial information included in this report fairly present, in
all material respects, the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of and for the periods presented in
this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures [as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)] and internal control over financial reporting [as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15-d-15(f)] for the registrant and have:
a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under the
Company’s supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is
made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed
under the Company’s supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report the Company’s
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report
based on such evaluation; and
d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5.

The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on the Company’s most recent evaluation of internal control
over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons
performing the equivalent functions):
a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information;
and
b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

March 28, 2016

By: /s/ MATTHEW D. ROSEN
Matthew D. Rosen
Chief Executive Officer

EXHIBIT 31.2
Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification
I, Gordon Hutchins, Jr., certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2015 of Fusion Telecommunications International,
Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary
to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the
period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the consolidated financial statements and other financial information included in this report fairly present, in
all material respects, the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of and for the periods presented
in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures
[as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)] and internal control over financial reporting [as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15-d-15(f)] for the registrant and have:

5.

a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under the
Company’s supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is
made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b)

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed
under the Company’s supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report the Company’s
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this
report based on such evaluation; and

d)

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on the Company’s most recent evaluation of internal control
over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons
performing the equivalent functions):
a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial
information; and

b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

March 28, 2016

By: /s/ GORDON HUTCHINS, JR.
Gordon Hutchins, Jr.
President, Chief Operating Officer, and Acting
Chief Financial Officer

EXHIBIT 32.1
Section 1350 Certification
In connection with the annual report of Fusion Telecommunications International, Inc. (the "Company") on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2015 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "Report"), I, Matthew D. Rosen, Chief Executive Officer of
the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. SS. 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and result of operations of the
Company.
March 28, 2016

By: /s/ MATTHEW D. ROSEN
Matthew D. Rosen
Chief Executive Officer

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906, or other document authenticating, acknowledging, or otherwise adopting
the signature that appears in typed form within the electronic version of this written statement has been provided to the Company and will be
retained by the Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.

EXHIBIT 32.2
Section 1350 Certification
In connection with the annual report of Fusion Telecommunications International, Inc. (the "Company") on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2015 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "Report"), I, Gordon Hutchins, Jr., President, Chief
Operating Officer, and Acting Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. SS. 1350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and result of operations of the
Company.
March 28, 2016

By: /s/ GORDON HUTCHINS, JR.
Gordon Hutchins, Jr.
President, Chief Operating Officer, and Acting
Chief Financial Officer

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906, or other document authenticating, acknowledging, or otherwise adopting
the signature that appears in typed form within the electronic version of this written statement has been provided to the Company and will be
retained by the Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.

EXHIBIT 10.1.1
FUSION TELECOMMUNICATIONS INTERNATIONAL, INC.
2009 STOCK OPTION PLAN
1.

Purpose.

The purpose of this plan (the “Plan”) is to secure for Fusion Telecommunications International, Inc. (the “Company”) and its
stockholders the benefits arising from capital stock ownership by employees, officers and directors of, and consultants or advisors to, the
Company who are expected to contribute to the Company’s future growth and success. Except where the context otherwise requires, the term
“Company” shall include all present and future subsidiaries of the Company as defined in Sections 424(e) and 424(f) of the Internal Revenue
Code of 1986, as amended or replaced from time to time (the “Code”). Those provisions of the Plan, which make express reference to Section
422, shall apply only to Incentive Stock Options (as that term is defined in the Plan).
2.

Type of Options and Administration.

( a )
Types of Options. Options granted pursuant to the Plan shall be authorized by action of the Board of Directors of the
Company (or a Committee designated by the Board of Directors) and may be either incentive stock options (“Incentive Stock Options”)
meeting the requirements of Section 422 of the Code or non-statutory options which are not intended to meet the requirements of Section 422
of the Code.
(b)
Administration. The Board of Directors will administer the Plan or a committee appointed by the Board of Directors of the
Company, whose construction and interpretation of the terms and provisions of the Plan shall be final and conclusive. Unless the context
otherwise requires, references in this Plan to the term “Committee” refer to either the Company’s Board of Directors or such committee. The
delegation of powers to the Committee shall be consistent with applicable laws or regulations (including, without limitation, applicable state
law and Rule 16b-3 promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”), or any successor rule (“Rule I 6b-3”)). The
Committee may in its sole discretion grant options to purchase shares of the Company’s Common Stock, $0.01 par value per share (“Common
Stock”) and issue shares upon exercise of such options as provided in the Plan. The Committee shall have authority, subject to the express
provisions of the Plan, to construe the respective option agreements and the Plan, to prescribe, amend and rescind rules and regulations
relating to the Plan, to determine the terms and provisions of the respective option agreements, which need not be identical, and to make all
other determinations in the judgment of the Committee necessary or desirable for the administration of the Plan. The Committee may correct
any defect or supply any omission or reconcile any inconsistency in the Plan or in any option agreement in the manner and to the extent it shall
deem expedient to carry the Plan into effect and it shall be the sole and final judge of such expediency. No director or person acting pursuant
to authority delegated by the Board of Directors shall be liable for any action or determination under the Plan made in good faith. Subject to
adjustment as provided in Section 15 below, the aggregate number of shares of Common Stock that may be subject to Options granted to any
person in a calendar year shall not exceed 35% of the maximum number of shares which may be issued and sold under the Plan, as set forth in
Section 4 hereof, as such section may be amended from time to time.
(c)
Applicability of Rule 16b-3. Those provisions of the Plan which make express reference to Rule I 6b-3 shall apply to the
Company only at such time as the Company’s Common Stock is registered under the Exchange Act, subject to Section 3(b), and then only to
such persons as are required to file reports under Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act (a “Reporting Person”).
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3.

Eligibility.

( a )
General. Options may be granted to persons who are, at the time of grant, employees, officers or directors of, or
consultants or advisors to, the Company or any subsidiaries of the Company as defined in Sections 424(e) and 424(1) of the Code
(“Participants”) provided, that Incentive Stock Options may only be granted to individuals who are employees of the Company (within the
meaning of Section 3401(c) of the Code). A person who has been granted an option may, if he or she is otherwise eligible, be granted
additional options if the Committee shall so determine.
(b)
Grant of Options to Reporting Persons. The selection of a director or an officer who is a Reporting Person (as the terms
“director” and “officer” are defined for purposes of Rule 16b-3) as a recipient of an option, the timing of the option grant, the exercise price of
the option and the number of shares subject to the option shall be determined either (i) by the Board of Directors or (ii) by a committee
consisting of two or more directors having full authority to act in the matter, each of whom shall be an “Independent Director” as defined by
Rule 1.62-27 of the Code.
4.

Stock Subject to Plan.

The stock subject to options granted under the Plan shall be shares of authorized but unissued or reacquired Common Stock. Subject
to adjustment as provided in Section 15 below, the maximum number of shares of Common Stock of the Company which may be issued and
sold under the Plan is 7,000,000 shares. If an option granted under the Plan shall expire, terminate or is cancelled for any reason without
having been exercised in full, the unpurchased shares subject to such option shall again be available for subsequent option grants under the
Plan.
5.

Forms of Option Agreements.

As a condition to the grant of an option under the Plan, each recipient of an option shall execute an option agreement in such form not
inconsistent with the Plan as may be approved by the Board of Directors. Such option agreements may differ among recipients.
6.

Purchase Price.

(a)
General. The purchase price per share of stock deliverable upon the exercise of an option shall be determined by the Board
of Directors at the time of grant of such option; provided, however, that in the case of an Incentive Stock Option, the exercise price shall not
be less than 100% of the Fair Market Value (as hereinafter defined) of such stock, at the time of grant of such option, or less than 110% of
such Fair Market Value in the case of options described in Section 11(b). “Fair Market Value” of a share of Common Stock of the Company
as of a specified date for the purposes of the Plan shall mean the closing price of a share of the Common Stock on the principal securities
exchange (including the Nasdaq National Market) on which such shares are traded on the day immediately preceding the date as of which Fair
Market Value is being determined, or on the next preceding date on which such shares are traded if no shares were traded on such
immediately preceding day, or if the shares are not traded on a securities exchange, Fair Market Value shall be deemed to be the average of the
high bid and low asked prices of the shares in the over-the-counter market on the day immediately preceding the date as of which Fair Market
Value is being determined or on the next preceding date on which such high bid and low asked prices were recorded. If the shares are not
publicly traded, Fair Market Value of a share of Common Stock (including, in the case of any repurchase of shares, any distributions with
respect thereto which would be repurchased with the shares) shall be determined in good faith by the Board of Directors. In no case shall Fair
Market Value be determined with regard to restrictions other than restrictions which, by their terms, will never lapse.
(b)
Payment of Purchase Price. Options granted under the Plan may provide for the payment of the exercise price by delivery
of cash or a check to the order of the Company in an amount equal to the exercise price of such options, or by any other means which the
Board of Directors determines are consistent with the purpose of the Plan and with applicable laws and regulations (including, without
limitation, the provisions of Rule 1 6b-3 and Regulation T promulgated by the Federal Reserve Board).
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7.

Option Period.

Subject to earlier termination as provided in the Plan, each option and all rights thereunder shall expire on such date as determined by
the Board of Directors and set forth in the applicable option agreement, provided, that such date shall not be later than (10) ten years after the
date on which the option is granted.
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8.

Exercise of Options.

Each option granted under the Plan shall be exercisable either in full or in installments at such time or times and during such period as
shall be set forth in the option agreement evidencing such option, subject to the provisions of the Plan. Subject to the requirements in the
immediately preceding sentence, if an option is not at the time of grant immediately exercisable, the Board of Directors may (i) in the
agreement evidencing such option, provide for the acceleration of the exercise date or dates of the subject option upon the occurrence of
specified events, and/or (ii) at any time prior to the complete termination of an option, accelerate the exercise date or dates of such option.
9.

Nontransferability of Options.

No option granted under this Plan shall be assignable or otherwise transferable by the optionee except by will or by the laws of
descent and distribution or pursuant to a qualified domestic relations order as defined in the Code or Title I of the Employee Retirement
Income Security Act, or the rules thereunder. An option may be exercised during the lifetime of the optionee only by the optionee. In the event
an optionee dies during his employment by the Company or any of its subsidiaries, or during the three-month period following the date of
termination of such employment, his option shall thereafter be exercisable, during the period specified in the option agreement, by his
executors or administrators to the full extent to which such option was exercisable by the optionee at the time of his death during the periods
set forth in Section 10 or Section 11(d).
10.

Effect of Termination of Employment or Other Relationship.

Except as provided in Section 11(d) with respect to Incentive Stock Options and except as otherwise determined by the Committee at
the date of grant of an Option, and subject to the provisions of the Plan, an optionee may exercise an option at any time within three months
following the termination of the optionee’s employment or other relationship with the Company or within one (1) year if such termination was
due to the death or disability of the optionee but, except in the case of the optionee’s death, in no event later than the expiration date of the
Option. If the termination of the optionee’s employment is for cause or is otherwise attributable to a breach by the optionee of an employment
or confidentiality or non-disclosure agreement, the option shall expire immediately upon such termination. The Board of Directors shall have
the power to determine what constitutes a termination for cause or a breach of an employment or confidentiality or non-disclosure agreement,
whether an optionee has been terminated for cause or has breached such an agreement, and the date upon which such termination for cause or
breach occurs. Any such determinations shall be final and conclusive and binding upon the optionee.
11.

Incentive Stock Options.

Options granted under the Plan, which are intended to be Incentive Stock Options, shall be subject to the following additional terms
and conditions:
( a )
Express Designation. All Incentive Stock Options granted under the Plan shall, at the time of grant, be specifically
designated as such in the option agreement covering such Incentive Stock Options.
(b)
10% Stockholder. If any employee to whom an Incentive Stock Option is to be granted under the Plan is, at the time of the
grant of such option, the owner of stock possessing more than 10% of the total combined voting power of all classes of stock of the Company
(after taking into account the attribution of stock ownership rules of Section 424(d) of the Code), then the following special provisions shall be
applicable to the Incentive Stock Option granted to such individual:
(i)
The purchase price per share of the Common Stock subject to such Incentive Stock Option shall not be less than
110% of the Fair Market Value of one share of
Common Stock at the time of grant; and
(ii)

The option exercise period shall not exceed five years from the date of grant.
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(c)
Dollar Limitation. For so long as the Code shall so provide, options granted to any employee under the Plan (and any other
incentive stock option plans of the Company) which are intended to constitute Incentive Stock Options shall not constitute Incentive Stock
Options to the extent that such options, in the aggregate, become exercisable for the first time in any one calendar year for shares of Common
Stock with an aggregate Fair Market Value, as of the respective date or dates of grant, of more than $100,000.
(d)
Termination of Employment, Death or Disability. No Incentive Stock Option may be exercised unless, at the time of such
exercise, the optionee is, and has been continuously since the date of grant of his or her option, employed by the Company, except that:
(i)
an Incentive Stock Option may be exercised within the period of three months after the date the optionee ceases to
be an employee of the Company (or within such lesser period as may be specified in the applicable option agreement), provided that
the agreement with respect to such option may designate a longer exercise period and that the exercise after such three-month period
shall be treated as the exercise of a non-statutory option under the Plan;
(ii)
if the optionee dies while in the employ of the Company, or within three months after the optionee ceases to be such
an employee, the Incentive Stock Option may be exercised by the Code or any successor provisions thereto) while in the employ of the
Company, the Incentive Stock Option may be exercised within the period of one year after the date the optionee ceases to be such an
employee because of such disability (or within such lesser period as may be specified in the applicable option agreement).
(iii)
if the optionee becomes disabled (within the meaning of Section 22(e)(30 of the Code or any successor provisions
thereto) while in the employ of the Company, the Incentive Stock Option may exercised within the period of one year after the date
the optionee ceases to b e such an employee because of such disability (or within such lesser period as may be specified in the
applicable option agreement).
For all purposes of the Plan and any option granted hereunder, “employment” shall be defined in accordance with the
provisions of Section 1.421-7(h) of the Income Tax Regulations (or any successor regulations). Notwithstanding the foregoing
provisions, no Incentive Stock Option may be exercised after its expiration date.
12.

Additional Provisions.

(a)
Additional Option Provisions. The Board of Directors may, in its sole discretion, include additional provisions in option
agreements covering options granted under the Plan, including without limitation restrictions on transfer, repurchase rights, rights of first
refusal, commitments to pay cash bonuses, to make, arrange for or guaranty loans or to transfer other property to optionees upon exercise of
options, or such other provisions as shall be determined by the Board of Directors; provided, that such additional provisions shall not be
inconsistent with any other term or condition of the Plan and such additional provisions shall not cause any Incentive Stock Option granted
under the Plan to fail to qualify as an Incentive Stock Option within the meaning of Section 422 of the Code.
(b)
Acceleration, Extension, Etc. The Board of Directors may, in its sole discretion, (i) accelerate the date or dates on which all
or any particular option or options granted under the Plan may be exercised or (ii) extend the dates during which all, or any particular, option
or options granted under the Plan may be exercised; provided, however that no such extension shall be permitted if it would cause the Plan to
fail to comply with Section 422 of the Code or with Rule 16b-3 (if applicable).
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13.

General Restrictions.

(a)
Investment Representations. The Company may require any person to whom an option is granted, as a condition of exercising such
option, to give written assurances in substance and form satisfactory to the Company to the effect that such person is acquiring the Common
Stock subject to the option or award, for his or her own account for investment and not with any present intention of selling or otherwise
distributing the same, and to such other effects as the Company deems necessary or appropriate in order to comply with federal and applicable
state securities laws, or with covenants or representations made by the Company in connection with any public offering of its Common Stock,
including any “lock-up” or other restriction on transferability.
( b )
Compliance with Securities Law. Each option shall be subject to the requirement that if, at any time, counsel to the
Company shall determine that the listing, registration or qualification of the shares subject to such option upon any securities exchange or
automated quotation system or under any state or federal law, or the consent or approval of any governmental or regulatory body, or that the
disclosure of non-public information or the satisfaction of any other condition is necessary as a condition of, or in connection with the
issuance or purchase of shares thereunder, such option may not be exercised, in whole or in part, unless such listing, registration, qualification,
consent or approval, or satisfaction of such condition shall have been effected or obtained on conditions acceptable to the Board of Directors.
Nothing herein shall be deemed to require the Company to apply for or to obtain such listing, registration or qualification, or to satisfy such
condition.
14.

Rights as a Stockholder.

The holder of an option shall have no rights as a stockholder with respect to any shares covered by the option (including, without
limitation, any rights to receive dividends or non-cash distributions with respect to such shares) until the date of issue of a stock certificate to
him or her for such shares. No adjustment shall be made for dividends or other rights for which the record date is prior to the date such stock
certificate is issued.
15. Adjustment Provisions for Recapitalizations, Reorganization, and Related Transactions.
(a)
Recapitalizations and Related Transactions. If, through or as a result of any recapitalization, reclassification, stock dividend,
stock split, reverse stock split or other similar transaction, (i) the outstanding shares of Common Stock are increased, decreased or exchanged
for a different number or kind of shares or other securities of the Company, or (ii) additional shares or new or different shares or other noncash assets are distributed with respect to such shares of Common Stock or other securities, an appropriate and proportionate adjustment shall
be made in (x) the maximum number and kind of shares reserved for issuance under or otherwise referred to in the Plan, (y) the number and
kind of shares or other securities subject to any then outstanding options under the Plan, and (z) the price for each share subject to any then
outstanding options under the Plan, without changing the aggregate purchase price as to which such options remain exercisable.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, no adjustment shall be made pursuant to this Section 15 if such adjustment (i) would cause the Plan to fail to
comply with Section 422 of the Code or with Rule I 6b-3 or (ii) would be considered as the adoption of a new plan requiring stockholder
approval.
(b)
Reorganization Merger and Related Transactions. All outstanding options under the Plan shall become fully exercisable for
a period of sixty (60) days following the occurrence of any Trigger Event, whether or not such Options are then exercisable under the
provisions of the applicable agreements relating thereto. For purposes of the Plan, a “Trigger Event” is any one of the following events:
(i)
the date on which shares of Common Stock are first purchased pursuant to a tender offer or exchange offer (other
than such an offer by the Company, any subsidiary, any employee benefit plan of the Company or of any subsidiary or any entity
holding shares or other securities of the Company for or pursuant to the terms of such plan), whether or not such offer is approved or
opposed by the Company and regardless of the number of shares purchased pursuant to such offer;
(ii)
the date the Company acquires knowledge that any person or group deemed a person under Section 13d-3 of the
Exchange Act (other than the Company, any subsidiary, any employee benefit plan of the Company or of any subsidiary or any entity
holding shares of Common Stock or other securities of the Company for or pursuant to the terms of any such plan or any individual or
entity or group or affiliate thereof which acquired its beneficial ownership interest prior to the date the Plan was adopted by the Board),
in a transaction or series of transactions, has become the beneficial owner, directly or indirectly (with beneficial ownership determined
as provided in Rule I 3d-3, or any successor rule, under the Exchange Act), of securities of the Company entitling the person or group
to 50% or more of all votes (without consideration of the rights of any class or stock to elect directors by a separate class vote) to which
all stockholders of the Company would be entitled in the election of the Board of Directors were an election held on such date;
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(iii)
providing for:

the date of approval by the stockholders of the Company of an agreement (a “reorganization agreement”)

(A)
The merger or consolidation of the Company with another corporation where the stockholders of the Company,
immediately prior to the merger or consolidation, do not beneficially own, immediately after the merger or consolidation, shares of the
corporation issuing cash or securities in the merger or consolidation entitling such stockholders to 80% or more of all votes (without
consideration of the rights of any class of stock to elect directors by a separate class vote) to which all stockholders of such corporation
would be entitled in the election of directors or where the members of the Board of Directors of the Company, immediately prior to the
merger or consolidation, do not, immediately after the merger or consolidation, constitute a majority of the Board of Directors of the
corporation issuing cash or securities in the merger or consolidation; or
(B)

The sale or other disposition of all or substantially all the assets of the Company.

(c)
Board Authority to Make Adjustments . Any adjustments under this Section 15 will be made by the Board of Directors,
whose determination as to what adjustments, if any, will be made and the extent thereof will be final, binding and conclusive. No fractional
shares will be issued under the Plan on account of any such adjustments.
16.

Merger. Consolidation, Asset Sale. Liquidation. etc.

( a ) General. In the event of any sale, merger, transfer or acquisition of the Company or substantially all of the assets of the Company
in which the Company is not the surviving corporation, and provided that after the Company shall have requested the acquiring or succeeding
corporation (or an affiliate thereof), that equivalent options shall be substituted and such successor corporation shall have refused or failed to
assume all options outstanding under the Plan or issue substantially equivalent options, then any or all outstanding options under the Plan shall
accelerate and become exercisable in full immediately prior to such event. The Committee will notify holders of options under the Plan that
any such options shall be fully exercisable for a period of fifteen (15) days from the date of such notice, and the options will terminate upon
expiration of such notice.
(b)
Substitute Options. The Company may grant options under the Plan in substitution for options held by employees of another
corporation who become employees of the Company, or a subsidiary of the Company, as the result of a merger or consolidation of the
employing corporation with the Company or a subsidiary of the Company, or as a result of the acquisition by the Company, or one of its
subsidiaries, of property or stock of the employing corporation. The Company may direct that substitute options be granted on such terms and
conditions as the Board of Directors considers appropriate in the circumstances.
17.

No Special Employment Rights.

Nothing contained in the Plan or in any option shall confer upon any optionee any right with respect to the continuation of his or her
employment by the Company or interfere in any way with the right of the Company at any time to terminate such employment or to increase
or decrease the compensation of the optionee.
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18.

Other Employee Benefits.

Except as to plans which by their terms include such amounts as compensation, the amount of any compensation deemed to be
received by an employee as a result of the exercise of an option or the sale of shares received upon such exercise will not constitute
compensation with respect to which any other employee benefits of such employee are determined, including, without limitation, benefits
under any bonus, pension, profit-sharing, life insurance or salary continuation plan, except as otherwise specifically determined by the Board
of Directors.
19.

Amendment of the Plan.
(a)
The Board of Directors may at any time, and from time to time, modify or amend the Plan in any respect; provided, however,
that if at any time the approval of the stockholders of the Company is required under Section 422 of the Code or any successor provision
with respect to Incentive Stock Options, the Board of Directors may not effect such modification or amendment without such approval.
(b)
The modification or amendment of the Plan shall not, without the consent of an optionee, affect his or her rights under an
option previously granted to him or her. With the consent of the optionee affected, the Board of Directors may amend outstanding option
agreements in a manner not inconsistent with the Plan. The Board of Directors shall have the right to amend or modify (i) the terms and
provisions of the Plan and of any outstanding Incentive Stock Options granted under the Plan to the extent necessary to qualify any or all
such options for such favorable federal income tax treatment (including deferral of taxation upon exercise) as may be afforded incentive
stock options under Section 422 of the Code and (ii) the terms and provisions of the Plan and of any outstanding option to the extent
necessary to ensure the qualification of the Plan under Rule 1 6b-3.

20.

Withholding.

(a)
The Company shall have the right to deduct from payments of any kind otherwise due to the optionee any federal, state or
local taxes of any kind required by law to be withheld with respect to any shares issued upon exercise of options under the Plan. Subject to the
prior approval of the Company, which may be withheld by the Company in its sole discretion, the optionee may elect to satisfy such
obligations, in whole or in part, (i) by causing the Company to withhold shares of Common Stock otherwise issuable pursuant to the exercise
of an option or (ii) by delivering to the Company shares of Common Stock already owned by the optionee. The shares so delivered or
withheld shall have a Fair Market Value equal to such withholding obligation as of the date that the amount of tax to be withheld is to be
determined. An optionee who has made an election pursuant to this Section 20(a) may only satisfy his or her withholding obligation with
shares of Common Stock which are not subject to any repurchase, forfeiture, unfulfilled vesting or other similar requirements.
(b)
The acceptance of shares of Common Stock upon exercise of an Incentive Stock Option shall constitute an agreement by
the optionee (i) to notify the Company if any or all of such shares are disposed of by the optionee within two years from the date the option
was granted or within one year from the date the shares were issued to the optionee pursuant to the exercise of the option, and (ii) if required
by law, to remit to the Company, at the time of and in the case of any such disposition, an amount sufficient to satisfy the Company’s federal,
state and local withholding tax obligations with respect to such disposition, whether or not, as to both (i) and (ii), the optionee is in the employ
of the Company at the time of such disposition.
(c)
Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the case of a Reporting Person whose options have been granted in accordance with the
provisions of Section 3(b) herein, no election to use shares for the payment of withholding taxes shall be effective unless made in compliance
with any applicable requirements of Rule I 6b-3.
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21.

Cancellation and New Grant of Options, Etc.

The Board of Directors shall have the authority to effect, at any time and from time to time, with the consent of the affected
optionees, (i) the cancellation of any or all outstanding options under the Plan and the grant in substitution therefore of new options under the
Plan covering the same or different numbers of shares of Common Stock and having an option exercise price per share which may be lower or
higher than the exercise price per share of the cancelled options or (ii) the amendment of the terms of any and all outstanding options under
the Plan to provide an option exercise price per share which is higher or lower than the then-current exercise price per share of such
outstanding options.
22.

Effective Date and Duration of the Plan.

(a)
Effective Date. The Plan shall become effective when adopted by the Board of Directors, but no Incentive Stock Option
granted under the Plan shall become exercisable unless and until the Plan shall have been approved by the Company’s stockholders. If such
stockholder approval is not obtained within twelve months after the date of the Board’s adoption of the Plan, no options previously granted
under the Plan shall be deemed to be Incentive Stock Options. Amendments to the Plan not requiring stockholder approval shall become
effective when adopted by the Board of Directors; amendments requiring stockholder approval (as provided in Section 19(a)) shall become
effective when adopted by the Board of Directors, but no Incentive Stock Option granted after the date of such amendment shall become
exercisable (to the extent that such amendment to the Plan was required to enable the Company to grant such Incentive Stock Option to a
particular optionee) unless and until such amendment shall have been approved by the Company’s stockholders. If such stockholder approval
is not obtained within twelve months of the Board’s adoption of such amendment, any Incentive Stock Options granted on or after the date of
such amendment shall terminate to the extent that such amendment to the Plan was required to enable the Company to grant such option to a
particular optionee. Subject to this limitation, options may be granted under the Plan at any time after the effective date and before the date
fixed for termination of the Plan.
(b)
Termination. Unless sooner terminated in accordance with Section 16, the Plan shall terminate upon the earlier of (i) the
close of business on the day next preceding the tenth anniversary of the date of its adoption by the Board of Directors, or (ii) the date on
which all shares available for issuance under the Plan shall have been issued pursuant to the exercise or cancellation of options granted under
the Plan. If the date of termination is determined under (i) above, then options outstanding on such date shall continue to have force and effect
in accordance with the provisions of the instruments evidencing such options.
23.

Provision for Foreign Participants.

The Board of Directors may, without amending the Plan, modify awards or options granted to participants who are foreign nationals
or employed outside the United States to recognize differences in laws, rules, regulations or customs of such foreign jurisdictions with respect
to tax, securities, currency, employee benefit or other matters.
24. Governing Law.
The provisions of this Plan shall be governed and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Delaware without regard to the
principles of conflicts of laws.
Adopted by the Board of Directors on, March 26, 2009.

EXHIBIT 10.30
INTERCREDITOR AND SUBORDINATION AGREEMENT
INTERCREDITOR AND SUBORDINATION AGREEMENT dated as of August 28, 2015, by and among MARVIN ROSEN, an
individual (“Subordinated Lender”), FUSION TELECOMMUNICATIONS INTERNATIONAL, INC., a Delaware corporation (“ Issuer”),
each other Credit Party party hereto and OPUS BANK, a California commercial bank, as Administrative Agent (in its capacity as
Administrative Agent under the Credit Agreement defined below, the “Agent”).
WHEREAS, Fusion NBS Acquisition Corp., a Delaware corporation (“Borrower”), Agent and the Lenders party thereto (together
with the lenders from time to time party thereto, the “Lenders”) have entered into the Credit Agreement (as hereinafter defined) pursuant to
which, among other things, Lenders have agreed, subject to the terms and conditions set forth in the Credit Agreement, to extend credit to the
Borrower;
WHEREAS, in accordance with the terms of the Credit Agreement and the other Senior Loan Documents (as hereinafter defined),
Issuer has granted Lenders and Agent a first priority lien on, security interest in and right of set-off against any and all right, title and interest
of Issuer in and to certain Collateral; and
WHEREAS, as an inducement to and as one of the conditions precedent to the agreement of Lenders and Agent to consummate the
transactions contemplated by the Credit Agreement and the other Senior Loan Documents, Lenders and Agent require the execution and
delivery of this Agreement by Subordinated Lender and Credit Parties.
For good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto hereby agree as
follows:
1. Definitions.
(a) Capitalized terms used but not defined herein (including, without limitation, in the preamble and recitals above) shall have the
meanings given such terms in the Credit Agreement.
(b) The following terms shall have the following meanings:
“Agent” has the meaning specified in the recitals of this Agreement.
“Agreement” means this Intercreditor and Subordination Agreement, as the same may be amended, restated, supplemented or
otherwise modified from time to time in accordance with the terms hereof.
“Bankruptcy Code” means the Bankruptcy Reform Act of 1978, as codified under Title 11 of the United States Code, or any
successor statutes, and the bankruptcy rules promulgated thereunder, as the same may be in effect from time to time.

“Collateral” means the collective reference to the “Collateral” (as defined in the Credit Agreement) and any and all other property
from time to time subject to Liens or security interests to secure payment or performance of the Senior Obligations.
“Credit Agreement” means the Credit Agreement, dated as of August 28, 2015, by and among Borrower, Agent, Lenders and the
other parties from time to time party thereto, as such Credit Agreement may be amended, restated, modified or supplemented from time to
time, including, without limitation, amendments, modifications, supplements and restatements thereof giving effect to increases, renewals,
extensions, refundings, deferrals, restructurings, replacements or refinancings of, or additions to, the arrangements provided in such Credit
Agreement (whether provided by one or more of the original Lenders under the Agreement or one or more successor Lenders).
“Credit Parties” means Issuer, Borrower, NBS, each other Subsidiary of Issuer and any other Person that at any time is or becomes
directly or indirectly liable on or in respect of, or that provides security for, any Senior Obligations, and their successors and permitted assigns.
“Enforcement Action ” means, with respect to the Subordinated Obligations, any action to collect all or any portion of the
Subordinated Obligations, to accelerate or demand payment of all or any portion of the Subordinated Obligations or to enforce any of the
rights and remedies of any holder of any of the Subordinated Obligations, either pursuant to the Subordinated Loan Documents, at law, or in
equity, including, but not limited to: (i) commencing or pursuing legal proceedings to collect any amounts owed with respect to the
Subordinated Obligations; (ii) execution upon, or otherwise enforcing any judgment obtained with respect to, amounts owed on the
Subordinated Obligations; or (iii) commencing or pursuing any judicial or non-judicial proceedings with respect to the Subordinated
Obligations to foreclose upon, or to acquire title in lieu of foreclosure as to, all or any portion of the assets of Issuer or any other Credit Party.
“Insolvency Event” means (i) Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries commencing any case, proceeding or other action (A) under any
existing or future law of any jurisdiction, domestic or foreign, relating to bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, conservatorship or relief of
debtors, seeking to have an order for relief entered with respect to it, or seeking to adjudicate it a bankrupt or insolvent, or seeking
reorganization, arrangement, adjustment, winding-up, liquidation, dissolution, composition or other relief with respect to it or its debts, or (B)
seeking appointment of a receiver, trustee, custodian, conservator or other similar official for it or for all or any substantial part of its assets, or
Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries making a general assignment for the benefit of its creditors; (ii) there being commenced against Issuer or any
of its Subsidiaries any case, proceeding or other action of a nature referred to in clause (i) above; (iii) there being commenced against Issuer or
any of its Subsidiaries any case, proceeding or other action seeking issuance of a warrant of attachment, execution, distraint or similar process
against all or any substantial part of its assets; (iv) Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries taking any action in furtherance of, or indicating its consent
to, approval of, or acquiescence in, any of the acts set forth in clause (i), (ii) or (iii) above; or (v) Issuer or any of its Subsidiaries generally not
paying, or being unable to pay, or admitting in writing its inability to pay, its debts as they become due.
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“Insolvency Proceeding” means the occurrence or commencement of any proceeding specified in clause (i) or clause (ii) of the
definition of “Insolvency Event” in this Agreement.
“Issuer” has the meaning specified in the recitals of this Agreement.
“Lenders” has the meaning specified in the recitals of this Agreement.
“Permitted Subordinated Debt Payments” means regularly scheduled cash payments of interest, at the non-default rate of interest not
to exceed a rate of 7% per annum, pursuant to and in accordance with the Subordinated Notes.
“Person” shall mean any individual, firm, corporation, limited liability company, partnership, trust, incorporated or unincorporated
association, joint venture, joint stock company, governmental authority or other entity of any kind, and shall include any successor (by merger
or otherwise) of such entity.
“Senior Default” means any “Default” or “Event of Default” under the Credit Agreement or any other Senior Loan Document.
“Senior Lenders” means Lenders, Agent and each other holder of a Senior Obligation and each of their respective successors and
assigns.
“Senior Loan Documents” means the collective reference to the Credit Agreement, the other “Loan Documents” (as defined in the
Credit Agreement) and all other documents, instruments and agreements that from time to time evidence the Senior Obligations or secure or
support payment or performance thereof, as the same may be amended, restated, modified or supplemented from time to time, including,
without limitation, amendments, modifications, supplements and restatements thereof giving effect to increases, renewals, extensions,
refundings, deferrals, restructurings, replacements or refinancings of, or additions to, the arrangements provided therein (whether provided by
one or more Lenders under the Credit Agreement or one or more successor Purchasers).
“Senior Obligations” means the “Obligations”, as such term is defined in the Credit Agreement and the “Obligations”, as such term is
defined in any Guaranty (as defined in the Credit Agreement), including, without limitation, all principal, interest, fees, expenses, indemnities
and reimbursement obligations at any time owed by the Credit Parties to Senior Lender pursuant to the terms of the Senior Loan Documents,
in each instance, whether before or after the commencement of an Insolvency Proceeding and without regard to whether or not an allowed
claim, and all obligations and liabilities incurred with respect to any refinancing of such obligations, together with any amendments,
restatements, modifications, renewals or extensions thereof.
“Subordinated Event of Default” means any default or event of default under the Subordinated Notes or other Subordinated Loan
Documents.
“Subordinated Lender” has the meaning specified in the recitals of this Agreement.
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“Subordinated Loan Documents” means the collective reference to the Subordinated Notes and any other documents, agreements or
instruments that from time to time evidence or otherwise relate to the Subordinated Obligations.
“Subordinated Notes” means the letter agreement between Subordinated Lender and Issuer, dated August 28, 2015, providing for,
among other things, payment of the promissory note in the original principal amount of $3,922,364.37 issued by Issuer to Subordinated
Lender, copies of which are attached as Exhibit A hereto, as in effect as of the date hereof and as amended, supplemented, restated or
otherwise modified from time to time as permitted by this Agreement and the Senior Loan Documents, including, without limitation, any notes
issued in exchange or substitution therefor.
“Subordinated Obligations” means the collective reference to the unpaid principal of and interest on the Subordinated Notes and all
other Indebtedness of Issuer or any other Credit Party owing to the Subordinated Lender (including, without limitation, interest accruing at the
then applicable rate provided therein after the maturity of the Subordinated Notes and interest accruing at the then applicable rate provided in
the Subordinated Notes after the filing of any petition in bankruptcy, or the commencement of any insolvency, reorganization or like
proceeding, relating to Issuer or any other Credit Party, whether or not a claim for post-filing or post-petition interest is allowed in such
proceeding), whether direct or indirect, absolute or contingent, due or to become due, or now existing or hereafter incurred, which may arise
under, out of, or in connection with, the Subordinated Notes, this Agreement, or any other Subordinated Loan Document, in each case whether
on account of principal, interest, reimbursement obligations, fees, indemnities, costs, expenses or otherwise (including, without limitation, all
fees and disbursements of counsel to the Subordinated Lender that are required to be paid by Issuer or any other Credit Party pursuant to the
terms of any other Subordinated Loan Document); provided, however, that Subordinated Obligations shall not include obligations for
compensation, employee benefits and reimbursement of related costs incurred in the Ordinary Course of Business, to the extent any of the
foregoing constitutes Indebtedness, and to the extent such Indebtedness is permitted by the Credit Agreement.
(c) The words “hereof,” “herein” and “hereunder” and words of similar import when used in this Agreement shall refer to this
Agreement as a whole and not to any particular provision of this Agreement, and section and paragraph references are to this Agreement unless
otherwise specified.
(d) The meanings given to terms defined herein shall be equally applicable to both the singular and plural forms of such terms.
(e) No inference in favor of, or against, any party to this Agreement shall be drawn from the fact that such party has drafted any
portion of this Agreement.
2. Subordination; Enforcement Action. Each Credit Party and Subordinated Lender each hereby agrees, for itself and each future holder of the
Subordinated Obligations, that:
(a) No part of the Subordinated Obligations shall have any claim to any assets of any Credit Party on a parity with or prior to the
claim of any of the Senior Obligations.
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(b) Unless and until the Senior Obligations have been paid in full, without the express prior written consent of Agent, (1)
Subordinated Lender shall not, directly or indirectly, take, demand, accept or receive from any Credit Party or any other Person, in cash or
other property or by setoff or in any other manner, payment of all or any of the Subordinated Obligations, and (2) no Credit Party shall make,
give or permit, directly or indirectly, by setoff, redemption, purchase or in any other manner, any payment of or with respect to, or any
collateral or other security for, the whole or any part of the Subordinated Obligations, including, without limitation, any guarantee, letter of
credit or similar credit support to support payment of any of the Subordinated Obligations; provided, however, that, subject in all respects to
the other terms and provisions hereof, (x) Subordinated Lender may accept and retain, and Issuer may make, Permitted Subordinated Debt
Payments so long as no Blockage Period is then in effect, provided that, after giving effect to such payment, the Credit Parties are in
compliance on a pro forma basis with the covenants set forth in Section 7.11 of the Credit Agreement, recomputed for the most recent fiscal
quarter for which financial statements have been delivered; and (y) Issuer may resume making any Permitted Subordinated Debt Payments,
and may make any Permitted Subordinated Debt Payment missed during any Blockage Period, upon the cessation of a Blockage Period. A
“Blockage Period” shall exist from and after the date that any Senior Default shall have occurred, until the earlier to occur of (a) the cure or
waiver of such Senior Default, as determined by Agent in its sole discretion and (b) the payment in full of the Senior Obligations.
(c) Unless and until the Senior Obligations have been paid in full, without the express written consent of Agent, Subordinated Lender
shall not commence any Enforcement Action.
(d) The expressions “prior payment in full,” “payment in full,” “paid in full” and any other similar terms or phrases when used herein
with respect to the Senior Obligations shall mean (i) the indefeasible payment in full, in immediately available funds, of all of the Senior
Obligations and the performance in full of all of the Senior Obligations, (ii) the termination or expiration of all Senior Loan Documents, and
(iii) termination of any and all commitments to lend under the Senior Loan Documents. Senior Obligations shall be considered to be
outstanding whenever any loan commitment under any Senior Loan Document is outstanding.
(e) Each holder of Senior Obligations, whether now outstanding or hereafter created, incurred, assumed or guaranteed, shall be
deemed to have acquired Senior Obligations in reliance upon the provisions contained in this Agreement.
3. Additional Provisions Concerning Subordination. Without limiting any other term or provision in this Agreement:
(a) The Subordinated Lender and each Credit Party hereby agree that upon the occurrence of any Insolvency Event:
(i) all Senior Obligations shall be paid in full before any payment or distribution is made with respect to any of the
Subordinated Obligations; and
(ii) any payment or distribution of assets of any Credit Party of any kind or character, whether in cash, property or securities,
to which Subordinated Lender would be entitled except for the provisions hereof, shall be paid or delivered by such Credit Party, or any
receiver, trustee in bankruptcy, liquidating trustee, disbursing agent or other Person making such payment or distribution, directly to Agent for
application against the Senior Obligations (in accordance with the terms of the applicable Senior Loan Documents), to the extent necessary to
pay in full all Senior Obligations, before any payment or distribution shall be made to Subordinated Lender, and (x) Subordinated Lender
hereby unconditionally authorizes, empowers and directs all trustees, receivers, custodians, conservators, or any other Persons having
authority over the property of any Credit Party to effect delivery of all such payments and distributions to Agent and (y) Subordinated Lender
agrees to execute and deliver to Agent such further instruments as may be requested by Agent to confirm the authorization referred to in the
foregoing clause (x).
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(b) Upon the occurrence of any Insolvency Proceeding commenced by or against any Credit Party, Subordinated Lender irrevocably
authorizes and empowers Agent to demand, sue for, collect and receive every payment or distribution on account of any of the Subordinated
Obligations payable or deliverable in connection with such event or proceeding, until the Senior Obligations are paid in full, and give
acquittance therefor;
(c) Subordinated Lender irrevocably authorizes and empowers Agent to file claims and proofs of claim in any such Insolvency
Proceeding and take such other actions, in its own name, or in the name of the Subordinated Lender or otherwise, as Agent may deem
necessary or advisable for the enforcement of the provisions of this Agreement; and, in furtherance thereof, Subordinated Lender shall execute
and deliver such powers of attorney, assignments or proofs of claim or other instruments as Agent may request; provided, however, that the
foregoing authorization and empowerment imposes no obligation on Agent or any other Senior Lender to take any such action.
(d) Except as otherwise expressly permitted by the terms hereof, if any payment or distribution, whether consisting of money,
property or securities, shall be collected or received by or come into the custody, control or possession of Subordinated Lender in respect of
the Subordinated Obligations, Subordinated Lender shall forthwith deliver the same to Agent for application against the Senior Obligations, in
the exact form received, duly endorsed to Agent, if required, in each case to be applied to the payment or prepayment of the applicable Senior
Obligations in accordance with the terms of the applicable Senior Loan Documents until such Senior Obligations are paid in full. Until so
delivered, such payment or distribution shall be held in trust by Subordinated Lender as the property of the Senior Lenders, segregated from
other funds and property held by Subordinated Lender.
4. Subrogation. Until the Senior Obligations are paid in full, the Subordinated Lender shall not make or assert any claim of subrogation under
applicable law or otherwise with respect to the Senior Lenders or the Senior Obligations. Upon the payment in full of the Senior Obligations,
the Subordinated Lender shall be subrogated to the rights of the Senior Lenders to receive payments or distributions of assets of Issuer and
each other Credit Party in respect of the Senior Obligations until the Senior Obligations shall be paid in full. For the purposes of such
subrogation, payments or distributions to any Senior Lender of any money, property or securities to which Subordinated Lender would be
entitled except for the provisions of this Agreement shall be deemed, as between Issuer and its creditors (other than the Senior Lenders and
Subordinated Lender), to be a payment by Issuer to or on account of Subordinated Obligations (it being understood that the provisions of this
Agreement are, and are intended solely, for the purpose of defining the relative rights of the Subordinated Lender, on the one hand, and Senior
Lenders, on the other hand).
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5. Consents, Waivers and Covenants of Subordinated Lender.
(a) Subordinated Lender consents and agrees that, without the necessity of any reservation of rights against Subordinated Lender, and
without notice to or further assent by Subordinated Lender:
(i) any demand for payment of any Senior Obligations made by any Senior Lender may be rescinded in whole or in part by
such Senior Lender, and any Senior Obligation may be continued, and the Senior Obligations, or the liability of any Credit Party or any
guarantor or any other party upon or for any part thereof, or any collateral security or guarantee therefor or right of offset with respect thereto,
or any obligation or liability of any Credit Party or any other party under any Senior Loan Document, or any other agreement, may, from time
to time, in whole or in part, be amended, restated, renewed, extended, increased, modified, accelerated, compromised, restructured, waived,
surrendered, or released by Agent or the other Senior Lenders;
(ii) the Credit Agreement, the other Senior Loan Documents and the Senior Obligations may be amended, restated,
modified, extended, increased, renewed, restructured, supplemented or terminated, in whole or in part, as Agent or the other Senior Lenders
may deem advisable from time to time, and any collateral security at any time held by any Senior Lender for the payment of any of the Senior
Obligations may be sold, exchanged, restructured, waived, surrendered or released, in each case all without notice to or further assent by
Subordinated Lender, which will remain bound under this Agreement, and Agent and the other Senior Lenders shall have the right to grant
waivers or consents to any Credit Party with respect to any of the Senior Obligations or any Senior Loan Document in any manner whatsoever,
all without impairing, abridging, releasing or affecting the subordination provided for herein; and
(iii) any refinancing of the Obligations may be consummated by any Credit Party.
(b) Subordinated Lender waives any and all notice of the creation, renewal, extension, increase, or accrual of any of the Senior
Obligations and notice of or proof of reliance by any Senior Lender upon this Agreement. The Senior Obligations shall be deemed
conclusively to have been created, contracted or incurred in reliance upon this Agreement, and all dealings between the Credit Parties and
Senior Lenders shall be deemed to have been consummated in reliance upon this Agreement. Subordinated Lender acknowledges and agrees
that each Senior Lender has relied upon the subordination provided for herein in entering into the Senior Loan Documents and in making
funds available to Issuer thereunder. Subordinated Lender waives notice of or proof of reliance on this Agreement and protest, demand for
payment and notice of default.
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(c) The Subordinated Lender hereby consents to the Liens on the Collateral created in favor of Senior Lenders under the Senior Loan
Documents, and agrees that the grant, perfection, priority and existence of such Liens does not and shall not constitute a Subordinated Event
of Default or any other default under any Subordinated Loan Document.
(d) Concurrently with the issuance thereof, the Subordinated Lender shall provide Senior Lenders with a copy of any written notice of
any Subordinated Event of Default or similar communication given by Subordinated Lender to Issuer pursuant to or in connection with any of
the Subordinated Loan Documents. Upon demand by Agent, the Subordinated Lender will furnish to Senior Lenders a statement of the
indebtedness owing from Issuer to the Subordinated Lender. Agent may rely without further investigations upon such statements.
(e)
Notwithstanding anything in the Subordinated Notes or any other agreement or instrument to the contrary, the Subordinated
Lender and Issuer hereby acknowledge and agree that the maturity date of each of the Subordinated Notes shall be no earlier than the date
upon which the Senior Obligations are paid in full.
6. Negative Covenants of the Subordinated Lender. Until the payment in full of the Senior Obligations, Subordinated Lender shall not,
without the prior written consent of Agent:
(a) sell, assign, or otherwise transfer, in whole or in part, the Subordinated Obligations or any interest therein to any other Person (a
“Transferee”) or create, incur or suffer to exist any security interest, Lien, charge or other encumbrance whatsoever upon any of the
Subordinated Obligations or under any Subordinated Loan Document in favor of any Transferee unless:
(i) such action is made expressly subject to this Agreement; and
(ii) the Transferee expressly acknowledges to Senior Lenders, by a written agreement in form and substance satisfactory to
Agent or by delivery of an executed counterpart of this Agreement or an intercreditor and subordination agreement substantially identical to
this Agreement, the subordination provided for herein and agrees to be bound by all of the terms and provisions hereof;
(b) permit any of the Subordinated Loan Documents or the Subordinated Obligations to be amended, restated, renewed, restructured,
increased, extended, supplemented or otherwise modified in any respect, except Changes that do not adversely affect Senior Lenders’ rights
under this Agreement or the Senior Loan Documents or Senior Lenders’ right to payment of the Senior Obligations; and nothing herein shall
prohibit the Subordinated Lender from converting into equity of Parent, or prohibit the Company from permitting conversion into equity of
Parent, of any Subordinated Obligations;
(c) permit or require any Credit Party (other than Issuer) to guarantee, or otherwise become liable in respect of, any of the
Subordinated Obligations;
(d) permit or require any Credit Party to create any Lien on any of its assets or properties to secure the payment or performance of any
of the Subordinated Obligations;
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(e) commence, or join with any creditors (other than Senior Lenders) in commencing, or otherwise cause, any Insolvency Proceeding;
(f) challenge the validity, enforceability, priority of, or any other term or provision of, any Senior Loan Document;
(g) challenge the extent, validity, creation, perfection or priority of, any Lien created or purported to be created pursuant to any
Senior Loan Document or seek to avoid or subordinate any such Lien; or
(h) interfere in any respect with the exercise by any Senior Lender of any right or remedy under any Senior Loan Document or
applicable law;
provided, however, that a transfer by operation of law to the estate of a deceased Subordinated Lender shall not be a default hereunder;
provided, further, that it is the express intent of all parties hereto that such transfer shall be expressly subject to this Agreement, and that the
Transferee of the estate expressly acknowledges to Senior Lenders, by a written agreement in form and substance satisfactory to Agent or by
delivery of an executed counterpart of this Agreement or an intercreditor and subordination agreement substantially identical to this
Agreement, the subordination provided for herein and agrees to be bound by all of the terms and provisions hereof.
7. Senior Obligations Unconditional. All obligations and agreements of the Subordinated Lender hereunder shall be irrevocable,
unconditional, continuing and absolute. All rights and interests of Senior Lenders hereunder, and all agreements and obligations of the
Subordinated Lender and any Credit Party, shall remain in full force and effect irrespective of:
(a) any lack of validity or enforceability of any Senior Loan Document or if all or any portion of the Senior Obligations and/or the
Liens securing same are subordinated, set aside, avoided or disallowed, in each case pursuant to an Insolvency Proceeding or otherwise (as a
result of the fraudulent transfer provisions under the Bankruptcy Code, under any State fraudulent conveyance or fraudulent transfer statute, or
otherwise);
(b) any change in the time, manner or place of payment of, or in any other term of, all or any of the Senior Obligations, or any
amendment or waiver or other modification, whether by course of conduct or otherwise, of the terms of any Senior Loan Document,
including, without limitation, any increase in any of the Senior Obligations resulting from the extension of additional credit to any Credit Party
or otherwise;
(c) any exchange, release or nonperfection of any Lien upon any Collateral, or any release, amendment, waiver or other modification,
whether in writing or by course of conduct or otherwise, of all or any of the Senior Obligations or any guarantee thereof;
(d) the existence of any claim, set-off, defense, counterclaim or other right that Subordinated Lender, any Credit Party or any other
Person may have against any Person, including, without limitation, any Senior Lender;
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(e) any manner of application of Collateral or any other collateral, or proceeds thereof, to all or any of the Senior Obligations, or any
manner of sale or other disposition of any Collateral or any other collateral for all or any of the Senior Obligations or any obligations of the
Credit Parties under the Senior Loan Documents or any other assets of the Credit Parties;
(f) any change, restructuring or termination of the corporate or other organizational structure or existence of any Credit Party;
(g) any failure of any Senior Lender to disclose to Subordinated Lender any information relating to the business, condition (financial
or otherwise), operations, performance, properties or prospects of Issuer or any of its Affiliates now or hereafter known to any Senior Lender
(Subordinated Lender hereby waiving any duty on the part of Senior Lenders to disclose such information); or
(h) any other event or circumstance which otherwise might constitute a defense or counterclaim available to, or a discharge of, any
Credit Party in respect of any of the Senior Obligations, or of Subordinated Lender or any Credit Party in respect of this Agreement.
8. Representations and Warranties. Subordinated Lender represents and warrants to each Senior Lender that:
(a) the Subordinated Notes: (i) have been issued to it for good and valuable consideration; (ii) are owned by Subordinated Lender
free and clear of any security interests, Liens, charges or encumbrances whatsoever, other than the interest of Senior Lenders under this
Agreement; (iii) are payable solely and exclusively to Subordinated Lender and to no other Person and is payable without deduction for any
defense, recoupment, offset or counterclaim, and (iv) constitute the only evidence of the obligations evidenced thereby;
(b) Subordinated Lender has the power and authority and the legal right to execute and deliver and to perform its obligations under
this Agreement and has taken all necessary action to authorize its execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement;
(c) this Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by Subordinated Lender and constitutes a legal, valid and binding obligation
of Subordinated Lender, enforceable against Subordinated Lender in accordance with its terms;
(d) the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement will not violate any provision of any requirement of law applicable to
Subordinated Lender or contractual obligation of Subordinated Lender and will not result in the creation or imposition of any Lien on any of
the properties or revenues of Subordinated Lender pursuant to any requirement of law affecting, or any contractual obligation of, Subordinated
Lender, except the interest of Senior Lenders under this Agreement;
(e) no consent or authorization of, filing with, or other act by or in respect of, any arbitrator or governmental authority or any other
Person (including, without limitation, any creditor of Subordinated Lender), is required in connection with the execution, delivery,
performance, validity or enforceability of this Agreement; and
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(f) no pending or, to the best of its knowledge, threatened litigation, arbitration or other proceedings if adversely determined would in
any way prevent the performance of the terms of this Agreement; and
(g) as of the date hereof, Issuer is indebted to the Subordinated Lender under the Subordinated Loan Documents in the aggregate
amount of $1,478,081.
9. No Representation by Senior Lenders. No Senior Lender has made, and no Senior Lender does hereby nor otherwise make to the
Subordinated Lender, any representations or warranties, express, or implied, nor does any Senior Lender assume any liability or obligation to
or of Subordinated Lender with respect to:
(a) the financial or other condition of any Credit Party or any other obligors under any instruments of guarantee with respect to the
Senior Obligations;
(b) the enforceability, validity, value or collectibility of any of the Senior Obligations or the Subordinated Obligations, any collateral
therefor, or any guarantee or security which may have been granted in connection with any of the Senior Obligations or the Subordinated
Obligations; or
(c) the title or right of any Credit Party or any other Person to transfer any collateral or security.
10. Waiver of Claims. To the maximum extent permitted by law, Subordinated Lender waives any claim it might have against any Senior
Lender with respect to, or arising out of, any action or failure to act or any error of judgment, negligence, or mistake or oversight whatsoever
on the part of any Senior Lender or its affiliates, directors, officers, employees, advisors, attorneys or agents with respect to any exercise of
any rights or remedies under any of the Senior Loan Documents or any transaction relating to any of the Collateral or any guarantee. No
Senior Lender or any of its affiliates, directors, officers, employees, advisors, attorneys or agents shall be liable for failure to demand, collect
or realize upon any of the Collateral or any guarantee or for any delay in doing so or shall be under any obligation to sell or otherwise dispose
of any Collateral or realize upon any guarantee upon the request of any Credit Party or Subordinated Lender or any other Person or to take any
other action whatsoever with regard to the Collateral or any part thereof or any guarantee.
11. Additional Provisions Applicable After Insolvency Event or Proceeding. Without limiting any other term or provision in this Agreement
or any Senior Loan Document:
(a) The provisions of this Agreement shall continue in full force and effect notwithstanding the occurrence of any Insolvency Event
or Insolvency Proceeding.
(b) Subordinated Lender agrees that it will not, directly or indirectly (including, without limitation, as a member of any unsecured
creditors’ committee), take any action in or relating to any proceeding arising from, as a result of, in connection with or relating to any
Insolvency Proceeding to challenge, contest or object in any manner to (i) the extent, validity, creation, enforceability, perfection or priority of
any of the Senior Obligations or any Senior Loan Document or any Liens or security interests created under any Senior Loan Document, or
any term or provision of this Agreement or Subordinated Lender's obligations, undertakings, acknowledgments and agreements set forth in this
Agreement; (ii) any pleading, motion, notice, objection or argument of or made by or on behalf of any holder of any of the Senior Obligations
based on, under or in respect of Section 361, 362, 363 or 364 of the Bankruptcy Code, including, without limitation, in respect of permitting
the use of any cash or other collateral by, or providing any financing to, any Credit Party under either Section 363 or 364 of the Bankruptcy
Code (including, without limitation, any request for adequate protection, or in respect of the sale or other disposition of any property by any
Credit Party under Section 363 of the Bankruptcy Code or pursuant to a plan of reorganization or any other arrangement (and Subordinated
Lender shall be deemed to have consented to any such sale or disposition and all of the terms applicable thereto); or (iii) the payment of
interest, fees, expenses or other amounts to Senior Lenders under Sections 506(b) or 506(c) of the Bankruptcy Code or
otherwise. Subordinated Lender agrees that it will not seek relief from the automatic stay or from any other stay in any Insolvency Proceeding
or take any action in derogation thereof, without the prior written consent of Agent. Subordinated Lender shall not support or vote in favor of
any plan of reorganization (and they shall be deemed to have voted to reject any plan of reorganization) unless such plan (i) pays off, in cash in
full, all Senior Obligations or (ii) is accepted by the Senior Lenders. This Agreement, which the parties hereto expressly acknowledge is a
“subordination agreement” under Section 510(a) of the Bankruptcy Code, shall be effective, during and after the commencement of an
Insolvency Proceeding.
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12. Further Assurances. The Subordinated Lender and each Credit Party, at their own sole cost and expense and at any time from time to time,
upon the written request of Agent will promptly and duly execute and deliver such further instruments and documents and take such further
actions as Agent reasonably may request for the purposes of obtaining or preserving the full benefits of this Agreement and of the rights and
powers herein granted. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, in the event of an assignment pursuant to any Senior Loan Document
or in the event of a refinancing of the Senior Obligations, the Subordinated Lender and each Credit Party shall, upon the request of Agent,
execute a new intercreditor and subordination agreement upon the same terms as this Agreement to further evidence and confirm that the
Subordinated Obligations are and shall remain junior and subordinate in right of payment to the Senior Obligations.
13. Reinstatement. The terms and provisions of this Agreement shall continue to be effective or be reinstated, and the Senior Obligations shall
not be deemed to be paid in full, as the case may be, if at any time any payment of any of the Senior Obligations is rescinded or avoided, or
must otherwise be returned by any Senior Lender pursuant to any Insolvency Proceeding or otherwise, all as though such payment had not
been made.
14. Expenses. Subordinated Lender shall pay or reimburse Senior Lenders, upon demand, for all of its reasonable and documented costs and
expenses incurred in connection with the enforcement of any rights and remedies with respect to the Subordinated Lender under this
Agreement, including, without limitation, reasonable fees and disbursements of counsel to Senior Lenders.
15. Provisions Define Relative Rights. This Agreement is intended solely for the purpose of defining the relative rights of Senior Lenders, on
the one hand, and the Subordinated Lender, on the other, and the obligations of Credit Parties in connection with the foregoing and no other
Person shall have any right, benefit or other interest under this Agreement. Each Credit Party hereby agrees that it will not make any payment
on or in respect of any of the Subordinated Obligations, or take any other actions, in contravention of the provisions of this Agreement.
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16. Legend. Subordinated Lender will cause each Subordinated Note (and each other Subordinated Loan Document as Agent shall request) to
bear upon its face the following legend:
“ALL INDEBTEDNESS EVIDENCED BY THIS NOTE IS SUBORDINATED TO OTHER INDEBTEDNESS PURSUANT TO,
AND TO THE EXTENT PROVIDED IN, AND IS OTHERWISE SUBJECT TO THE TERMS OF, THE INTERCREDITOR AND
SUBORDINATION AGREEMENT, DATED AS OF AUGUST 28, 2015 (THE “SUBORDINATION AGREEMENT”), AS THE
SAME MAY BE AMENDED, RESTATED, SUPPLEMENTED OR OTHERWISE MODIFIED FROM TIME TO TIME, BY AND
AMONG FUSION TELECOMMUNICATIONS INTERNATIONAL, INC., A DELAWARE CORPORATION AND ITS
SUBSIDIARIES, OPUS BANK, AS ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT, AND THE HOLDERS FROM TIME TO TIME OF THE
OBLIGATIONS ARISING UNDER THE SUBORDINATED LOAN DOCUMENTS REFERRED TO IN THE SUBORDINATION
AGREEMENT, INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, THIS NOTE, AND EACH HOLDER HEREOF, BY ITS ACCEPTANCE
HEREOF, ACKNOWLEDGES AND AGREES TO BE BOUND BY THE PROVISIONS OF THE SUBORDINATION
AGREEMENT.”
17. Powers Coupled With An Interest. All powers, authorizations and agencies contained in this Agreement are coupled with an interest and
are irrevocable until the Senior Obligations are paid in full.
18. Authority of Senior Lenders. Each Credit Party and Subordinated Lender acknowledge and agree that the rights and responsibilities of
each Senior Lender under this Agreement with respect to any action taken by any Senior Lender or the exercise or non-exercise by any Senior
Lender of any option, request, judgment or other right or remedy provided for herein or resulting or arising out of this Agreement shall be
governed by the Senior Loan Documents and by such other agreements with respect thereto as may exist from time to time among, but, as
between Senior Lenders, on the one hand, and the Credit Parties and the Subordinated Lender, on the other hand, each Senior Lender shall be
conclusively presumed to be acting with full and valid authority so to act or refrain from acting, and neither any Credit Party nor Subordinated
Lender shall be under any obligation, or entitlement, to make any inquiry respecting such authority.
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19. Notices.
(a) All notices, requests and demands to or upon any Senior Lender, any Credit Party or Subordinated Lender under this Agreement to
be effective shall be in writing (or by fax or similar electronic transfer confirmed in writing) and shall be deemed to have been duly given or
made (i) when delivered by hand or (ii) if given by mail, when deposited in the mails by certified mail, return receipt requested, or (iii) if by
fax or similar electronic transfer, when sent and receipt has been confirmed, addressed as follows:
If to Agent:

Opus Bank
19900 MacArthur Blvd., 12th Floor
Irvine, CA 92612
Attn: Kevin McBride, Senior Managing Director
Telephone: 949.251.8182
E-mail: kmcbride@opusBank.com

with a copy to :
Schiff Hardin LLP
233 South Wacker Drive, Suite 6600
Chicago, Illinois 60606
Attention: Sean T. Maloney
Telecopy: (312) 258-5600
Email: smaloney@schiffhardin.com
If to any Credit Party:

Fusion Telecommunications International, Inc.
420 Lexington Avenue, Suite 1718
New York, New York 10170
Facsimile: (212) 972-7884
Attention: Gordon Hutchins, Jr., President

with a copy to:

Kelley Drye & Warren LLP
101 Park Avenue
New York, New York 10178
Attention: Jack Miles and Merrill Stone
Facsimile: (212) 808-7897
Email: mstone@kelleydrye.com

(b) If to Subordinated Lender, at its address or transmission number for notices set forth under its signature below.
(c) Any Senior Lender, Credit Party or Subordinated Lender may change its addresses and transmission numbers for notices by notice
in the manner provided in this Section 19.
20. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed by one or more of the parties on any number of separate counterparts, and all of said
counterparts taken together shall be deemed to constitute one and the same instrument. Delivery of an executed counterpart of a signature
page of this Agreement by facsimile or other electronic means shall be effective as delivery of an original executed counterpart of this
Agreement.
21. Severability. Any provision of this Agreement which is prohibited or unenforceable in any jurisdiction shall, as to such jurisdiction, be
ineffective to the extent of such prohibition or unenforceability without invalidating the remaining provisions hereof, and any such prohibition
or unenforceability in any jurisdiction shall not invalidate or render unenforceable such provision in any other jurisdiction.
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22. Integration. THIS AGREEMENT REPRESENTS THE FINAL AGREEMENT OF SENIOR LENDERS, CREDIT PARTIES AND THE
SUBORDINATED LENDER WITH RESPECT TO THE SUBJECT MATTER HEREOF AND THERE ARE NO PROMISES OR
REPRESENTATIONS BY ANY SENIOR LENDER, CREDIT PARTIES OR SUBORDINATED LENDER RELATIVE TO THE SUBJECT
MATTER HEREOF NOT REFLECTED HEREIN. THERE ARE NO UNWRITTEN ORAL AGREEMENTS AMONG THE PARTIES.
23. Amendments in Writing; No Waiver; Cumulative Remedies.
(a) Any modification or waiver of any provision of this Agreement, or any consent to any departure by any party from the terms
hereof, shall not be effective in any event unless the same is in writing and signed by Agent and the Subordinated Lender, and then such
modification, waiver or consent shall be effective only in the specific instance and for the specific purpose given; provided that any such
modification or waiver that directly and adversely affects the obligations of the Credit Parties hereunder and is sought to be enforced against
the Credit Parties shall require the consent of the Credit Parties.
(b) No failure to exercise, nor any delay in exercising, on the part of any Senior Lender, any right, remedy power or privilege
hereunder shall operate as a waiver thereof. No single or partial exercise of any right, power or privilege hereunder shall preclude any other
or further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right, power or privilege.
(c) The rights and remedies herein provided are cumulative, may be exercised singly or concurrently and are not exclusive of any
other rights or remedies provided by law.
(d) If Subordinated Lender or any Credit Party violates any of the terms or provisions of this Agreement, in addition to any remedies
in law, at equity or otherwise, any Senior Lender may restrain or enjoin such violation in any court of competent jurisdiction and may
interpose this Agreement as a defense or counterclaim in any action or proceeding by Subordinated Lender or any Credit Party.
24. Section Headings. The section headings used in this Agreement are for convenience of reference only and are not to affect the
construction hereof or be taken into consideration in the interpretation hereof.
25. Successors and Assigns. This Agreement shall be binding upon the successors and assigns of each Credit Party and Subordinated Lender
and shall inure to the benefit of Senior Lenders and their respective successors and assigns.
26. Governing Law; etc. THIS AGREEMENT SHALL BE GOVERNED BY AND CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE
INTERNAL LAW OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK WITHOUT GIVING EFFECT TO ANY CHOICE OR CONFLICT OF LAW
PROVISION OR RULE (WHETHER OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK OR ANY OTHER JURISDICTION) THAT WOULD CAUSE THE
APPLICATION OF THE LAW OF ANY JURISDICTION OTHER THAN THE STATE OF NEW YORK.
27. Waiver of Jury Trial. EACH PARTY HERETO HEREBY IRREVOCABLY AND UNCONDITIONALLY WAIVES ANY RIGHT TO
TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY LEGAL ACTION OR PROCEEDING RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT AND FOR ANY
COUNTERCLAIM THEREIN.
[the remainder of this page intentionally left blank]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be duly executed and delivered as of the day and year
first above written.
AGENT:
OPUS BANK, as Administrative Agent
By: /s/ Kevin McBride
Name: Kevin McBride
Title: Senior Managing Director
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CREDIT PARTIES:
FUSION NBS ACQUISITION CORP.
By: /s/ Gordon Hutchins, Jr.
Name: Gordon Hutchins, Jr.
Its: President and COO
FUSION TELECOMMUNICATIONS INTERNATIONAL, INC.
By: /s/ Gordon Hutchins, Jr.
Name: Gordon Hutchins, Jr.
Its: President and COO
NETWORK BILLING SYSTEMS, L.L.C.
By: /s/ Gordon Hutchins, Jr.
Name: Gordon Hutchins, Jr.
Its: Executive Vice President
PINGTONE COMMUNICATIONS, INC.
By: /s/ Gordon Hutchins, Jr.
Name: Gordon Hutchins, Jr.
Its: President and COO
FUSION BVX LLC
By: /s/ Gordon Hutchins, Jr.
Name: Gordon Hutchins, Jr.
Its: President and COO
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SUBORDINATED LENDER:
/s/ Marvin Rosen
Marvin Rosen
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Exhibit A
Subordinated Note
See Attached
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UNSECURED PROMISSORY NOTE
$3,922,364.37

October 25, 2012

For value received, the undersigned maker (“Maker”), whose address is 420 Lexington Avenue, Suite 1718, New York, NY 10170, promises
to pay to the order of MARVIN S. ROSEN (“Lender”), whose address is 912 Fifth Avenue, #5A, New York, NY 10035, the principal sum of
$3,922,364.37 together with all accrued and unpaid interest from the date of execution of the Note at the rate of 7.0% per annum,
compounding annually, upon the unpaid principal balance until the principal balance is paid in full, payable in U.S. Dollars at the Lender’s
address set forth above, or at such other address as Lender may designate. The unpaid principal balance of this Note and all accrued but
unpaid interest will be due and payable in full on the date that is 60 days following termination of that certain Intercreditor and Subordination
Agreement dated October 25, 2012 by and between Fusion Telecommunications International, Inc., Praesidian Capital Opportunity Fund III,
LP, Praesidian Capital Opportunity Fund III-A, LP, and Plexus Fund II, LP, and Praesidian Capital Opportunity Fund III, LP, as agent.
If the Maker defaults in its obligations hereunder, neither the failure of the Lender to promptly exercise its right to declare the outstanding
principal and accrued but unpaid interest hereunder to be immediately due and payable, nor the failure to exercise any other right or remedy
the Lender may have for default, nor the acceptance by the Lender of late or partial payments shall constitute a waiver of such rights in
connections with any future default on the part of the undersigned or any other person who may be liable hereunder.
The Maker agrees to pay all of the Lender’s expenses of collecting and enforcing this Note, including, without limitation, expenses and
reasonable fees of legal counsel, court costs and the cost of appellate proceedings.
This Note is to be construed and enforced according to the laws of the state of New York without regard to the conflicts of laws or provisions
thereof.
Maker waives any right of exemption and waives presentment, protest and demand, notice of protest, demand, and/or dishonor and
nonpayment of this Note.
Maker:
Fusion Telecommunications International, Inc., a Delaware corporation
By:
Printed Name: Gordon Hutchins, Jr., as President
Date: October 25, 2012
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